Targeting Aging and Alzheimer's disease: from GM1 ganglioside to Amyloid-β peptide

Victòria Valls Comamala

DOCTORAL THESIS UPF / 2018

Thesis director:

Dr. Francisco José Muñoz López

DEPARTAMENT DE CIÈNCIES EXPERIMENTALS I DE LA SALUT



Ever tried. Ever failed. No matter. Try Again. Fail again. Fail better.

Samuel Beckett

Ningú ens ha dit que el temps no deixa cap ferida però pels camins tranquils hi ha poca poesia.

Txarango

Acknowledgements

Primero de todo agradecer a Paco la oportunidad de hacer la tesis en su grupo y la libertad a la hora de tirar adelante los proyectos y empujar las fronteras del conocimiento.

A Miguel, muchas gracias por todos los consejos y conocimientos durante esta tesis y también desde que empecé la uni. A Chema muchísimas gracias por tu ayuda, consejos y humor. El laboratorio sin tus chistes no sería lo mismo. A Rubén, muchísimas gracias también por todos los consejos, conversaciones y ayuda durante estos años. Y sobre todo, por la motivación y el optimismo.

Marta, tu necessitaries uns agraïments apart, o una tesis directament. Gràcies per haver-me ensenyat casi tot el que sé de cultius i bioquímica, però sobretot gràcies, per rescatar-me en múltiples ocasions i tenir sempre temps per ajudarme i buscar solucions. I sobretot, sobretot per ser encara millor persona. Aquesta tesis és tan teva com meva.

A la resta del grupet, Mònica mil gràcies pel teu optimisme, ajuda a totes hores, explicacions i discussions científiques (i també alguna que altre crep i facetimes d'hores :P). Bius (o #putilla pels amics) mil gràcies per les baralles fent el primaris, les classes d'Illustrator, d'agregació d'A β , els #alesplaques i les discussions científiques. NO sabeu com us he trobat a faltar aquests últims dos anys!

A les millors students del món mundial, la Carol i la Marta, gràcies per tot el que hem rigut a totes hores, per fer tan fàcil de treballar amb vosaltres i fer-me una mica de cas però no massa (per això de millorar l'espècie :P). Les birres i les pillades seran sempre nostres. I en Xevi per passar un estiu immers al calci.

I dels canalópates (antics i actuals), muchísimas gracias Cris por salvarme tantísimas veces, tú también necesitarías unos agradecimientos aparte. Gracias por escucharme siempre, siempre, re-explicarme las cosas cuando no me entero de nada, ahorrarme el trauma semanal de decapitación xD y los #enlasplacas. Ah y sobre todo por adoptarme :P y no matarme a pesar de haber tenido ganas (segurísimo xD) muchísimas veces!

A Isabelita que desde el primer día estuviste conmigo siempre que lo necesité. Muchísimas gracias por todos los consejos y por todo lo que me enseñaste. Se te echa de menos!

Mercè ets insubstituïble. Totes les gràcies que es poden donar pels nostres meetings, per ensenyar-me a punxar (o intentar-ho), ensenyar-me optogenètica i per transmetre motivació i optimisme a totes hores. M'encanten les nostres converses freakis que em quedat que no canviaran no? Per molts motius no m'imagino aquesta tesis sense tu :D

A tu Carole, ets un gran exemple, dins i fora del lab. Gràcies per tota l'ajuda, especialment amb el calci però també per estar sempre allà, sempre amb un somriure i amb ganes d'ajudar. Se't troba molt a faltar!!!

A l'Anna moltes gràcies per la teva ajuda, la teva super motivació i per totes les converses i tot el que m'has ajudat especialment en aquests últims temps.

I a totes vosaltres gràcies per haver-me ensenyat el més important d'aquesta tesis, que només ens necessitem a nosaltres mateixes per fer el que volguem :D

A ti Fanny, muchas gracias por toda la ayuda en múltiples momentos, enseñarme a hacer primers, interesarte y salvarme siempre y recordarme de vez en cuando mis objetivos de la tesis :D. A la Selma moltes gràcies pels consells i l'ajuda durant aquests anys.

Als millors companys de despatx, Carlos merci per ser el PI de predocs i aguantar-nos sempre amb molta paciència xD. I sempre, sempre escoltar-nos i donar consells científics o no científics. Pablo y Kerstin, por recuperar las putivueltas y ser unos grandes vecinos de despacho. A Rob (drama queen para los amigos), ha sido un placer pelearme contigo y he de decir que en el fondo lo hecho un poco de menos...A y gracias por las clases de murciano, aunque creo que sigo estando a nivel demasiado bajo. Y mil gracias por los últimos consejos tesiles :D

Marini, Julia y Sonia (#gu____) soys la alegría y la locura del despacho, gracias por todas las tonterías y momentos compartidos en estos últimos tiempos, me hubiera gustado coincidir más tiempo con vosotras, pero bueno como outsider

también vale no? :D Nat, mil gràcies per més d'un i de dos rescats al lab i pel teu somriure a totes hores. Ha estat un plaer compartir aquest temps amb tu i també estás un poco loca ;) No és del lab però casi, Marc, crec que et vas quedar amb quasi tota la meva sociabilitat, pero m'encanta tenir-te aprop i les notetes inesperades :P

També voldria agrair l'ajuda i consells imprescindibles de l'Amado durant els primers anys i les trucades infinites amb l'Ernest per discutir i ficar-me al dia de l'envelliment neuronal.

Lali, Consuelo, Melissa. Por venir del cono sur (con Ñ si preferís) y traeros vuestra alegria y amistat. El retreat por ahí abajo aún está pendiente pero lo transformaremos en viaje :P. La verdad es que los meses se hicieron cortos y se os echa de menos. A tu Mar, mil gràcies perquè vas venir en uns moments complicats per mi però sempre vas estar allà disposada a ajudar i parlar. Se't troba a faltar! Molta força!!!!

Als amiguis veïns de Neurophar, gràcies Africon per ensenvar-m'ho tot i més, fer-me sentir més normal i sobretot, per ensenvar-me a fer el que creus que s'ha de fer. No hagués triat ningú millor per passar els primers anys en un laboratori :D. A la Meri, per tot el que hem rigut durant la tesis i molt abans, els cafès de desconnexió i la teràpia per aconseguir que pugés a l'Adams Peak i durant l'escriptura i l'sprint final xD. A la Cuti, pel seu optimisme i la bogeria que fa que sigui impossible avorrir-se al teu costat. A més de tots els consells i converses en les hores d'incubació. A l'Alba per compartir misèries FPUeres i pringdocs durant tota la tesis. I també per l'excursió a San Antonio :D. A les 5 de Sri Lanka, Meri, Alba, Cuti, Mireia i Elk, merci per dues setmanes inoblidables i increiblement sorprenents! I per estar sempre aprop durant aquests anys. Al Xavi gràcies per ficar-te des del primer dia amb mi i per tractar-me sempre bé quan era una estudianteta (i després també) :D A la Carmen les mil y una conversas y cafes. A la Sara, per portar sempre un somriure. Y también a Andrés por estar siempre dispuesto a ayudar, a tener discusiones científicas y haberme introducido en el mundo del aprendizaje y la memoria.

To the lab in Houston, gracias Mauro por darme la oportunidad de venir al laboratorio, la confianza, la motivación y todo lo que he podido aprender durante estos meses. Sanjeev, thanks for your help and for our always interesting conversations. JEN (do you think that's big enough? :D) thanks for your help, for being always there, our afternoon routines and being an amazing friend. Yuwei you are crazy, more than anyone can imagine but always fun! Jacqunae you are crazy and amazing too!!! There is no better couple out there. Thanks for all! Adrián, gracias por todas las risas, chistes y memes compartidas, hay que decir que no tener que pensar mucho mientras uno habla a ciertas horas se agredece xD. Thanks Marina for being always there to help. Phoebe, thanks for your optimism and being an incredible person. Finally, thanks to Hongyi, ChenYu, Martina, Sean, Micheal, Shelly and Daniella for all the help. I miss you all!

A los españolitos científicos (con amor), a todos gracias por las comidas en el exterior a pesar de achicharrarnos que nos acercaban más a casita. Angie mil gracias por todos los consejos, por ser una gran amiga, y por intentar volverme socialmente normal. Te echo de menos, aunque vivo con miedo de verte, por eso de tu cercanía con los desastres naturales :P (me vas a matar si nunca ves esto...lo sé) Carlos, eres un extremeño molón (a pesar de ser extremeño-otro que me va a matar :P) aunque un poco friki pero bueno te queremos igual xD. Dani, coincidimos poquito, pero suficiente para disfrutar de lo mejorcito de Houston xD

Finalment acabant amb Houston, Clara, gràcies per ser una amiga genial, que m'ha salvat la vida múltiples vegades. Gràcies per compartir converses infinites per arreglar el país i el món, en uns mesos complicats d'estar lluny, celebrar St. Joan a la americana, la Diada, no dormir l'1 d'octubre, prohibir-me empaperar res més que l'habitació i fer-me regals inconstitucionals (actualment ja podríem dir sediciosos). I per salvar-me de morir de gana en diverses ocasions. Aquests mesos sense tu no haurien estat el mateix. Et trobo a faltar!!!!

Al Fantastic 6+1 (de mom), no hi ha res com saber que passi el que passi estareu allà. Pachuns, gràcies per les mil birres, converses, consells, suport, ànims a totes hores (excepte quan dorms que clar, està complicat), facetimes, estic segura que arribarem allà on volem arribar encara que costi. Nunu, gràcies per preguntar sempre, "obligar-me" a escriure, acollir-me a casa teva, els facetimes amb la Noa de fons, les converses i pels infinits detalls i positivisme. Annuska gràcies per alimentar-me, ajudar-me a fer vídeos i sobretot per estar allà sempre inclús en dies que no tens ni ànims per tu! Ets una de les persones més lluitadores i fortes que conec :D. Vari, eres alegria y locura, todo junto o separado depende del día. Gracias por siempre estar ahí con energia para repartir :D. I a la Drew pels bons moments que hem passat durant aquests anys, les creps i les compres londinenques.

Al Juanchito i l'Hector, sou ja imprescindibles, especialment perquè sinó jo no em puc ficar amb ningú, i llavors em torno molt pesada...xD I gràcies per mai fer-me fora de les vostres cases que últimament les estic ocupant una mica xD.

A la gent del Tam, Sonia, gracias por tu sinceridad, optimismo y consejos. Barbarula, vas aparèixer un dia per fer els entrenaments i partits encara més divertits, encara recordo dies a la Mar Bella sense poder parar de riure tot i sortir ralladisima del microscopi. I d'aquí vam passar a converses una mica més series (o no) però sempre interesants :D. Ju, merci per interessar-te sempre quan he estat aprop o lluny i pels ànims (i per les fotos de la Vinyet quan estava lluny :D). Sugusita, no hi ha persona al món que sigui més amor que tu. Anna, ja et vaig dir que eres el millor descobriment post-tambori i ara ja no ho podem dir això però ets genial igual! De veritat que m'agradaria ser capaç de fer tot el que fas amb tanta il·lusió. Aida, tu em diràs que no, però gràcies a tu vaig decidir que marxava a Houston, i ja saps tot el que això vol dir. Però a part de per això mil gràcies per transmetre sempre pau, tranquil·litat i serenor.. Gemma, ets un solete i m'encantes. I a la peque, gràcies per estar disposada a tocar-me els nassos sempre, i no cal dir per estar sempre present :D

Tancant amb el tamborí, gràcies els de Garraf per adoptar-me ja fa dos anys. Per les tardes de tambeach durant el meravellós estiu de 2016 que van ser una desconnexió imprescindible i necessària. I gràcies per fer-me tornar a disfrutar jugant a l'indoor en temps d'escriptura i desconnectar de tot. Roser, Herena, Clàudia i Eli sou genials!

Dice Mami Cris que unos agradecimientos nunca se pueden considerar largos así que voy a seguir...

A la Marions, gràcies pel suport incondicional des de fa mil anys. Pels millors consells, els facetimes i hangouts més llarg i a hores més inversemblants, per estar sempre disposada a tenir discussions científiques (m'encanta) i per totes les creps que han estat possibles tot i la dispersió territorial.

A les biopompis, CrisLOOOOO gràcies per compartir experiències, frikisme i bogeries des de fa 10 anys. Sarita, gracias por las penas compartidas y enseñarme Badalona. Pero sobretodo, gracias por estar ahí cuando más necesario era! Pot, Miriam i Xaxa, gràcies per les estones compartides durant la tesis i els anys abans.

Hector, aquesta tesis sense tu de veí no hauria sigut el mateix, t'he trobat molt a faltar aquest últim any.

Sergi i Meri again, pels nostres cafès al principi rutinaris i cada vegada més difícils de repetir, tot i això bons moments sempre.

A les londinenques... Gracias Meri por adoptarme eternamente en tu casa, por hacer que la distancia sea menor y por las mejores fiestas (con diferencia) de la tesis. A tu Anneta, per estar sempre aprop tot i la distancia, per adoptar-me i ajudar-me sempre. Qui ens anava a dir fa 20 anyets que seguiríem juntes :D.

I als companys d'aquests últims mesos de d'health. A tots gràcies per fer l'imbècil tan i tan bé com el fem, que d'aquesta manera una desconnecta de tot... I en especial, Mire gràcies per animar-me sempre, pel positivisme i per totes les excursions que farem un cop dipositi això xD. A Irati per ayudarme a sobrevivir al Illustrator, o directamente sobrevivir ella a Illustrator (pon una diseñadora en tu vida pero que sea basca de verdad!). I als del grup, Nick, Albert y Carmelita, por lo que hemos pasado y nos queda por sobrevivir, que al fin y al cabo ha sido la mejor desconnexión de este maravilloso libro xD. Al Kiku, tot i no haver estat tant a prop com altres èpoques, has de ser en aquests agraïments. Gràcies per haver-me maxecat en tots els entrenaments, però sobretot gràcies per tot el que em vas ensenyar enlloc d'imposar, totes les explicacions i per haver mantingut viva la curiositat mentre li donàvem a una piloteta. Fer físic mai serà divertit, però les explicacions de perquè ho havia de fer i que li passava al múscul almenys li donava sentit ;)

I finalment, els més importants, els que han estat sempre, els que m'han permès créixer, equivocar-me i sempre estant al meu costat. Gracias papas por habermelo enseñado todo, haberme hecho quien soy y haberme dejado decidir el camino y apoyado siempre. Manel i Xavi, soys los mejores hermanos del mundo a pesar de pasaros el día tocándome las narices xD. A Miriam por siempre preguntarme por la tesis, por mi y por llevarme de paseo por Madrid. Volver ya!!!! Clari, eres la mejor hermana mayor y amiga que una puede tener. Y Jan y Noah los mejores enanos y la mayor fuente de felicidad. Kiko, gracias por nuestras tardes y noches de Camp Nou, vitales para cargar las pilas y compartir vivencias durante toda la tesis y también estos últimos meses. Eres una hermanita pequeña genial aunque hagas imposible que vea los goles xD. A Marcos, gracias por atreverte a acompañarnos muy de vez en cuando y a mimarme siempre. Y a Javier, por cuidarme siempre y haberme adoptado en múltiples ocasiones tanto en St. Pere como en BCN. A la resta, tant els Valls com els Comamala, gràcies per donar-li sentit a la paraula FAMILIA, i fer que tot i no haver-la escollit no la canviaria per res del món. Finalment, als meus avis, per haver-me ensenvat que en aquesta vida tot s'aconsegueix treballant cada dia, i que l'amor a donar és infinit, inclús quan un deixa de ser qui era.

A tots el que d'alguna manera o d'una altra heu format part d'aquest camí GRÀCIES! El camí ha estat més complicat del que havia de ser, per diversos motius, però si ha valgut la pena, ha estat gràcies a haver caminat al vostre costat.

I finalment, a tots els lectors espero que la lectura sigui entretinguda i l'agregació d'Aβ i GM1 us enganxin una miqueta. :D

Abstract

Aging is the main challenge that humanity will face on the near future. Brain aging is associated with cognitive deficiencies and is the main risk factor for Alzheimer's Disease (AD). AD is the most common neurodegenerative disease leading to dementia caused by the aggregation of amyloid- β peptide (A β). In this thesis, we have shown that neuronal aging leads to alteration in the ganglioside membrane content. Specifically, increased levels of GM1 ganglioside in membrane leads to a decrease in the calcium entry through NMDA receptors and a reduction of dendritic spines. Overall, pointing a role in the alterations in learning and memory associated to aging. On the other hand, we have showed the inhibitory effect of the human gamma immunoglobulins (IgG) in A β aggregation through the antigen-binding fragment (Fab), which binds to A β blocking fibrillation progression.

L'envelliment de la població és i serà un gran repte per la nostra societat en els pròxims anys. L'envelliment cerebral està associat amb deficiències cognitives i és el principal factor de risc pel desenvolupament de la malaltia d'Alzheimer. L'Alzheimer és la malaltia neurodegenerativa que més freqüentment provoca demència i és causada per l'agregació del pèptid β amiloide (A β). En aquesta tesis hem demostrat que l'envelliment neuronal condueix a alteracions en el contingut de gangliòsids de les membranes. Particularment, l'increment del gangliòsid GM1 en la membrana condueix a una disminució en l'entrada de calci a través dels receptors de NMDA i a una reducció de les espines dendrítiques. En conjunt, indicant el rol de GM1 en les alteracions en l'aprenentatge i la memòria que es produeixen en l'envelliment. Per una altra banda, hem demostrat l'efecte inhibitori de gamma immunoglobulina humana (IgG) en la inhibició de l'agregació de l'A β a través del contacte del fragment d'unió a l'antigen (Fab). Fab s'uneix a A β inhibint la progressió de la fibril·lació.

Prologue

Humanity is facing an aging process of the population. Aging is caused by the accumulation of cellular damage. Brain function depends on a complex network of connections. Precise control of connections is necessary for maintaining correct brain function. Brain aging courses with loss of integrative function leading to stereotypical and neurophysiological changes and a variable cognitive decline even in absence of disease. The greatest risk factor for Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is aging itself. Physiological aging is a central process of pathological aging. Accordingly, slowing down or reversing brain aging could help fight against AD.

AD is the most common neurodegenerative disorder leading to dementia caused by the pathological aggregation of amyloid- β peptide (A β). A β is a 4 kDa peptide generated in every cell of the organism. It becomes neurotoxic due to a conformation change leading to β -sheet rich structure. A β can initiate a signaling cascade leading to neuronal apoptosis. Currently, there is no approved treatment able to fight A β aggregation in the brain. Therefore, it is urgent to identify a target to reduce A β aggregation and their pathological consequences. Moreover, aging has been associated with modifications in the ganglioside content of neuronal membrane. GM1 ganglioside is one of the more abundant one. Until now research has been mainly focus on GM1 ganglioside role in A β aggregation. Thus, further studies are needed to reveal the function of the different membrane components.

This thesis shows the role of GM1 ganglioside in neuronal aging. GM1 increase in neuronal membranes reduce calcium entry through NMDA receptor by interacting with its ligand binding domain leading to a decrease of synaptic spines. Furthermore, we have identified the human gamma immunoglobulins (IgG) inhibitory effect on A β aggregation process through a highly conserved structure in the antigen-binding fragment (Fab).

Abbreviations

α7nAChr	Alpha-7 nicotinic receptor
Aβ	Amyloid-β peptide
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase enzyme
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase family
AICD	Amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain
AMPAR	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
	receptor
AP	Amyloid plaques
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
ARIA	Amyloid-related imaging abnormalities
BBB	Brain-blood barrier
BACE1	Beta-site APP cleaving enzyme 1
CA	Cornu Ammonis
CAA	Cerebral amyloid angiopathy
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin- dependent kinase II
CGlcT	Ceramide glucosyltransferase
CNS	Central nervous system
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CTX	Cholera toxin
DRM	Detergent resistant membrane
EOAD	Early-onset Alzheimer's Disease
EPSP	Excitatory postsynaptic potentials
ER	Endoplasmatic reticulum
Fab	Antigen-binding fragment
Fc	Constant fragment
FDA	U.S Food and Drug Administration

GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GalNAc	N-Acetyl-D-galactosamine
GalT I	Galactosyl transferase I
GalTII	Galactosyl transferase II
GM1	Monosialotetrahexosyl ganglioside
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HDAC2	Histone deacetylase 2
IGF-1	Insulin-growth factor 1
IIS	Insulin/IGF-1 signaling
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
iGluR	Glutamate ionotropic receptors
ISF	Interstitial fluid
IPSP	Inhibitory postsynaptic potentials
IVIG	Intravenous immunoglobulin
KAR	Kainate receptor
LOAD	Late-onset Alzheimer's Disease
LTD	Long-term depression
LTP	Long-term potentiation
LRP	LDLR-related protein
MAMs	Mitochondrial associated membranes
MCI	Mild-cognitive impairment
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptors
mtDNA	mitochondrial DNA
NAM	Negative allosteric modulator
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangles
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartate or N -Methyl-D-aspartic acid
NMDAR	N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NVC	Neuraminidase from Vibrio Cholerae
PD	Parkinson's disease

XVIII

PET	Positron emission tomography
PKA	cAMP-dependent protein kinase A
PSD	Postsynaptic density
PSEN1	Presenilin 1
PSEN2	Presenilin 2
RAGE	Advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAP	Serum amyloid P component
SERCA	Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺⁻ ATPase
SialTI	Sialyltransferase I
SialTII	Sialyltransferase II or GD3 synthase
SialTIII	Sialyltransferase III or GT3 synthase
sLRP	Soluble LDLR-related protein
SNARE	Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment
	protein receptor
sRAGE	Soluble receptor for advanced glycosylation end product
TRPC5	Transient receptor potential C5
UPR	Unfolded protein response
VGCC	Voltage gated calcium channels

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowle	dgements	V
Abstract		XIII
Prologue		XV
Abbreviat	ions	XVII
PART I IN	TRODUCTION	1
1 Brai	n function and neurotransmission	3
1.1	Chemical synapsis	3
1.1.1	Presynaptic terminal	4
1.1.2	Postsynaptic terminal	5
1.1.3	Main postsynaptic channels in learning and memory	6
1.1	.3.1 Voltage gated calcium channels	7
1.1	.3.2 Neurotransmitter receptors: glutamate ionotropic	receptors 7
1.2	Learning and memory	9
1.2.1	Hippocampus	9
1.2.2	Synaptic plasticity: LTP and LTD	10
1.2.3	Structural plasticity	12
2 Agin	g	15
2.1	Cellular and molecular hallmarks	15
2.1.1	Genomic instability	16
2.1.2	Telomere attriation	17
2.1.3	Epigenetic alteration	18
2.1.4	Loss of proteostasis	18
2.1.5	Deregulated nutrient-sensing	19
2.1.6	Mitochondrial Dysfunction	20
2.1.7	Cellular Senescence	21
2.1.8	Stem cell exhaustion	21
2.1.9	Altered intercellular communication	22
2.2	Brain and neuronal aging	23

3	Alzł	neimer's disease	25
	3.1	General characteristics: protein aggregation	25
	3.2	Causes and risks factors	27
	3.3	Amyloid-β peptide	30
	3.3.1	The amyloid cascade hypothesis	30
	3.3.2	$A\beta$ production	33
	3.3.3	Aβ clearance	35
	3.3.4	$A\beta$ aggregation	38
	3.3.5	Aβ toxicity	41
	3.4	Therapeutics	42
	3.4.1	Aβ therapeutics	43
	3.	4.1.1 BACE1 and γ-secretase inhibitors	43
	3.	4.1.2 Immunotherapy	44
	3.4.2	Difficulties for new therapies	46
4.	Plas	ma membrane and gangliosides	47
	4.1	Plasma membrane composition; lipid rafts	47
	4.2	Gangliosides	50
	4.2.1	Synthesis and degradation pathway	52
	4.2.2	GM1 ganglioside	55
	4.	2.2.1 GM1, A β and Alzheimer Disease	56
	4.	2.2.2 GM1 and neurotransmission receptors	57

PART II OBJECTIVES

PART III RESULTS63Chapter 1: The increase in GM1 ganglioside during aging reduceshippocampal NMDA receptor function and spine density65Chapter 2: The antigen-binding fragment of human gammaimmunoglobulin prevents amyloid β-peptide folding into β-sheet to formoligomers97

59

PART IV DISCUSSION

1	Aging modifies the glycosphingolipid content of the	
	membranes in the brain	114
2	Glycosphingolipids in AD and aging human samples	117
3	GM1 and aging reduce neuronal dendritic spine content	119
4	GM1, and not GM2, modifies calcium entry through	
	NMDAR and VGCC	120
5	Aging modifies calcium entry through NMDAR and VGC	CC
		123
6	IgG decreases A β neurotoxicity and A β oligomerization	
	through Fab	124

111

129

133

PART V CONCLUSIONS

ENCES

Part I

INTRODUCTION

1 Brain function and neurotransmission

Brain is a complex organ composed of more than 10¹¹ neurons which transmit information through chemical and electrical synapses. Synapses are the basic and specialized junctions in the central nervous system (CNS). Electrical synapses are composed just by "connexons" in the junction of the presynaptic and postsynaptic membranes (Fig 1b). Chemical synapses are specialized communication structures that permit to control the electric messages between neurons (Fig 1a).

Each neuron receives an average of 10.000 synapses, processes signals received from other neurons and transmits information to additional neurons within the circuit. Human brain contains more than 10¹⁵ synapses. Precise control of synaptic connections is necessary for maintaining normal brain function ^{1,2}.

The storage of information in the brain leads to alterations in the structure and the chemistry of synapses. Synapse are plastic and this process could induce the formation or the elimination of synapses. Synaptic plasticity of the brain is the molecular basis of learning and memory. In neurological conditions such as Alzheimer's Disease (AD) or autism spectrum disorders synaptic plasticity is greatly affected ^{1,3}.

1.1 Chemical synapsis

Chemical synapses (Fig 1a) have an axonal ending (presynaptic terminal) that releases the synaptic vesicles containing neurotransmitters. The neurotransmitter released by the presynaptic neuron binds to the neurotransmitter receptor present in the postsynaptic terminal, which usually is a dendrite of the postsynaptic neuron. The synaptic cleft is a 20-25nm gap between the presynaptic terminal and the postsynaptic terminal, a distance maintained by transmembrane proteins. Chemical synapses are usually surrounded by glia that helps to provide a fixed structure to the synapses and, also, recaptures neurotransmitters (i.e. glutamate) ^{4,5}.



Figure 1: Main modalities of synaptic transmission. a) Chemical synapse requires presynaptic molecular machinery that regulates neurotransmitter release upon depolarization of the presynaptic terminal which leads to the activation of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCCs). The postsynaptic terminal includes the presence of ionotropic and metabotropic receptors that are capable of detecting and translating the presynaptic message (neurotransmitters) into various postsynaptic events. b) Electrical transmission are composed by clusters of intercellular channels called gap junctions that connect the two adjacent cells, and enable the bidirectional passage of electrical currents carried by ions (arrows). From Pereda AE, 2014²

1.1.1 Presynaptic terminal

Action potential produces a membrane depolarization that travels along the neuronal processes to finally reach the presynaptic terminal, where voltagegated calcium channels (VGCC) open initiating an inward Ca²⁺ current that dissemble the specialized membrane of the active zone. It triggers the fusion of neurotransmitter-containing synaptic vesicles to the membrane forming a pore. Neurotransmitters are liberated in the active zone, a thicker region of the presynaptic membrane. It is a highly controlled and rapid mechanism termed docking that permit the progressive fusion of vesicles performing a "kiss and run" process. The docking and fusion of the vesicles is stimulated by Ca²⁺ and controlled by the N-ethylmaleimide–sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) complex ^{6,7}.

1.1.2 Postsynaptic terminal

Neurotransmitters bind to the neurotransmitter receptor evoking an electrical response in the postsynaptic neuron. The neurotransmitter and the corresponding receptor determine if the synapse is excitatory (i.e. glutamate and kainate receptors) or inhibitory (γ -aminobutyric acid, GABAergic or glycinergic) (Fig 2). Therefore, they will produce excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSP) or inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSP). In fact, neuronal signaling processing is mediated by the integration of several excitatory and inhibitory inputs. The final output of the postsynaptic neuron is the result of the integration of all inputs. There is a fine and precise regulation to maintain the balance between both excitatory and inhibitory inputs ⁷.

The postsynaptic membrane has also a highly specialized structure characterized by the presence of the postsynaptic density (PSD) located adjacent to the membrane. The PSD is an electron-dense structure with a precise three-dimensional organization containing a matrix of scaffolding proteins, receptors, ion channels, signal transduction proteins and cytoskeleton components. The PSD is localized in opposition to the active zone in the presynaptic terminal. Excitatory and inhibitory synapses can be distinguished by the composition of their PSD: excitatory synapses contain a more complex and prominent PSD than inhibitory synapses ^{4,5}. In excitatory PSD the key proteins are N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoazolepropionate receptor (AMPAR), PSD-95, Ca²⁺/calmodulin- dependent kinase II (CaMKII) and Shank family proteins ^{8,9}. The main proteins in the inhibitory PSD are the GABA_A receptors and glycine receptors. These receptors interact directly with gephyrin, a postsynaptic scaffold protein of inhibitory synapse¹⁰.



Figure 2: Molecular structure of inhibitory and excitatory synapses. Molecular structure of an inhibitory and excitatory synapse. In inhibitory synapses the presynaptic neuron (purple) contacts the postsynaptic neuron at the dendritic shaft whereas the presynaptic excitatory neuron (green) contacts the postsynaptic neuron at the dendritic spine. Both presynaptic terminals contain neurotransmitter vesicles that are released after the action potential arrives at the terminal and activates VGCCs, allowing the entry of calcium and the subsequent exocytosis of the vesicles. The postsynaptic terminal in the excitatory synapse is more complex. It contains a matrix of scaffolding proteins to concentrate and connect ion channels (NMDAR and AMPAR), receptors and signaling proteins with actin cytoskeleton. CaMKII: Ca^{2+/}calmodulin-dependent kinase II; AMPAR: amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoazolepropionate receptor; GABA: γ-aminobutyric acid; GABAR: GABA receptor; NMDAR: N- methyl-D-aspartate receptor; mGluR—metabotropic glutamate receptor; SAPAP—synapse-associated protein 90/PSD-95-associated protein. From Van Spronsen et al., 2010⁻¹

1.1.3 Main postsynaptic channels in learning and memory

Learning is the ability to acquire new information and memory is the ability to retain this new information over time ¹¹. Synaptic plasticity, which is the capacity of synapse to adapt to overall neuronal activity, allows the learning process. Long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) are the two main molecular processes behind synaptic plasticity. In the hippocampus, there are several channels that have an important role such as NMDAR, AMPAR and VGCC ^{12,13}.

1.1.3.1 Voltage gated calcium channels

VGCCs are heteromultimeric complexes composed by four or five different subunits. The $\alpha 1$ is the largest subunit of the channel and contains the pore, the voltage sensor, the gating apparatus and most of the regulation sites that are recognized by second messengers. The genetic diversity of this subunit permits the formation of channels with different properties that can fulfil highly specialized roles ¹⁴.

VGCCs control the depolarization-induced Ca²⁺ entry into the neurons. Ca²⁺ does not significantly modify the membrane potential but controls several physiological and pathological signaling pathways. Thereby, VGCCs have a critical function in the brain and dysfunction of these channels causes several neurological disorders such as pain, epilepsy, migraine and ataxia ¹⁴.

1.1.3.2 Neurotransmitter receptors: glutamate ionotropic receptors

There are two main types of glutamate postsynaptic receptors: ligand-gated ion channels (ionotropic receptors) and G protein-coupled (metabotropic) receptors ¹.

Glutamate ionotropic receptors (iGluR) are NMDAR, AMPAR and kainate receptors (KAR)¹⁵. NMDAR and AMPAR play an important role for learning and memory ^{16,17}.

NMDARs are heterotetrameric cationic channels containing two GluN1 subunits and either two GluN2 (A-D) or GluN3 (A-B) subunits (Fig 3a). GluN1 subunits binds to glycine whereas GluN2 subunits bind to glutamate (Fig 3b). The different types of subunits present in a channel confers it different biophysical and pharmacological properties. To this end, studies have focused on the inhibition or activation of NMDARs with different subunit compositions. In the adult brain, GluN2A and GluN2B subunits are mainly expressed in the neocortex and the hippocampus ^{16,18–21}.

The activation of NMDAR requires the binding of two agonists, glycine and glutamate, together with the release of Mg²⁺, which blocks the channel when the membrane is at resting potential (-60 to -80 mV). To remove the Mg²⁺ block the membrane must be depolarized. NMDAR activation leads to cationic influx, mainly Ca²⁺ but also Na⁺ and K⁺. Calcium influx initiates the signalling cascade that regulates synaptic plasticity ^{16,18}.



Figure 3: NMDAR structure. a) Structure of the NMDA receptor composed by two GluN1 and two GluN2 subunits (PDB ID code 4PE5) b) Cartoon illustrating the GluN1/2A heterodimer with glycine bound in GluN1 and glutamate. From Lindt et al., 2017¹⁹

AMPAR is a heterotetrameric, cationic channel that is mostly permeably to Na⁺. AMPARs mediates a faster excitatory transmission than NMDARs. Most AMPARs are expressed in the adult hippocampus and cortex and are composed of a GluA2 dimer and a dimer of GluA1, GluA3 or GluA4 subunits; GluA2-GluA1 tetramers being the most frequent. GluA2 subunits allow for the influx of Ca²⁺ ^{22,23}.

Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) are G-protein coupled receptors that modulate synaptic transmission and plasticity. mGluR are composed by seven transmembrane domains and three extracellular and intracellular loops. mGluR can be classified in three subfamilies: group I (mGlu1 and mGlu5), group II (mGlu2 and mGlu3) and group III (mGlu4, mGlu6, mGlu7 and mGlu8). Group I receptors are coupled to Gq-like proteins and are mainly

post-synaptic. Group II and III receptors are coupled to Gi/Go proteins and are mainly pre-synaptic. mGluRs activation initiates complexes signaling cascades²⁴.

1.2 Learning and memory

1.2.1 Hippocampus

The hippocampus is part of a multimodal sensory integration system localized in the medial temporal lobe. Sensory information from cortical sensory areas travels to the hippocampus *via* the perirhinal and entorhinal cortices. The outputs from the perirhinal and entorhinal cortices project to the dentate gyrus, containing neural stem cells, and to the *Cornu Ammonis* (CA) region. The dentate gyrus and CA region are together called the hippocampal formation. The CA region consists of the CA1, CA2 and CA3, which have been widely studied (Fig 4a). CA1 is vital for long-term memory formation and has been used as a model system for understanding LTP. The CA3 is believed to be important for the rate of learning and pattern completion ^{11,25–27}.



Fig 4: The hippocampus. a) Nissl staining of the human hippocampus (EC: entorhinal cortex; Sub: subiculum; DG: dentate gyrus and CA: *Cornu Ammonis)* b) Schematic draw of the connectivity within the hippocampus. From Tamminga et al., 2010²⁷

The primary projections from the entorhinal cortex to the hippocampus are through the perforant pathway which connects to all fields of the hippocampal formation in a unidirectional way. Furthermore, Schaffer collaterals transfers information from CA3 to CA1. The output neurons of the hippocampus are the CA1 pyramidal neurons, which project predominantly to the entorhinal cortex and contralateral hippocampus. Secondary efferents of CA1 pyramidal neurons also project to subcortical regions (Fig 4b) ^{11,27}.

Many studies have demonstrated an important role of the hippocampus in memory formation and consolidation, but its function is still matter of debate. Some authors ^{11,26,28} believe that the hippocampus does not store information for extended periods of time, but rather serves as an intermediate-duration memory buffer that is involved in maintaining memories until they are transferred for more permanent storage to the cerebral cortex (long-lasting memories). On the other hand, other scientists defend the "multiple trace theory" which states that the hippocampal memory trace is not replaced by the cortical one, but rather both memories are in continuous interplay. Thus, long-term memories could involve both the hippocampus and neocortex ^{29,30}.

1.2.2 Synaptic plasticity: LTP and LTD

Synapses are dynamic and synaptic strength can be modified by neuronal activity. The ability of synapses to undergo activity-dependent changes is the basis for all experience-dependent plasticity such as learning and memory. Synaptic plasticity allows to the brain to adapt and respond to new environmental stimuli-leading to learning and the formation of new memories ^{23,31,32}.

The most known, accepted and studied forms of synaptic plasticity are LTP and LTD, which occur at the excitatory synapses between the Schaffer collateral and CA1 pyramidal neurons. LTP results in a gain of synaptic strength whereas LTD leads to a decrease in synaptic strength ^{32,33}.

Both mechanisms are NMDAR dependent, requiring an increase in the postsynaptic Ca^{2+} levels. It is known that they differ in the magnitude of the

calcium influx and waves patterns triggering different signaling cascades. LTP or LTD can be induced depending on the frequency and the duration of the stimulation. LTP is triggered by 100 Hz train of action potentials for 1s, whereas 1-3 Hz for 10 min induces LTD ^{32–35}.

It is known that LTP is a synapse-specific event. Only stimulated synapses, but not neighbouring synapses are potentiated thanks to synaptic tagging. To achieve this specificity the entry of calcium through NMDARs is only present in potentiated synapses and absent in not stimulated ones ^{25,36}.

The excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate is released in the synaptic cleft after depolarization of the presynaptic neuron. Glutamate binds to both AMPARs and NMDARs, however AMPARs, which are permeably to Na⁺, are responsible for most of the inward current at the postsynaptic neuron because NMDARs are blocked by Mg²⁺. When the postsynaptic membrane is simultaneously depolarized, the Mg²⁺ is released from the channel allowing the entry of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺. It is thought that with repeated activation, sufficient Ca²⁺ enters the cell and induces LTP. Thereby, the calcium signal initiates signalling cascades -specifically CaMKII and the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)-depending pathways- that lead to LTP induction and expression ^{17,25,36,37}.

The early phase of LTP does not require protein synthesis but involves Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ influx, prolonged CaMKII activity and an increase in the number of AMPAR inserted into the postsynaptic membrane ^{38–42}. The late phase of LTP requires de novo protein synthesis mediated by transcription factors or translation of localized mRNAs. For example, the cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) activates cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB), a transcription factor which regulates the expression of memory-associated genes ^{43,44}.

The other synaptic mechanism is LTD. This mechanism appears to reverse LTP. Moreover, it is necessary to avoid the saturation by learning of the

synapses allowing the proper formation of memories. During LTD, the temporal pattern and the magnitude of calcium entry is different, activating different signalling cascades. Small rises in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels in postsynaptic neurons seems to facilitate the activation of calcineurin, PP1 and PP2B, phosphatases which dephosphorylate different substrates such as AMPARs, NMDARs and kinases ^{17,45,46}.

1.2.3 Structural plasticity

Dendritic spines are small membranous protrusions arising from the dendritic shaft of postsynaptic neurons where most excitatory synapses reside. Inhibitory synapses are found directly contacting with the dendritic shaft ^{31,47,48}. Excitatory spines are connected to the dendritic shaft through a thin spine neck. Moreover, spines can be classified depending on their size and shape: thin, stubby, cup, mushroom and branched-shaped (Fig 5a) ^{4,49,50}.

Spines are autonomous compartments that isolate chemical and electrical signaling and contain all the postsynaptic machinery needed to respond in a fast way including glutamate receptors, actin cytoskeleton, the PSD, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and endosomes ^{31,51}.

Dendritic spines are highly dynamic structures, constantly changing in number, size and shape in response to modification in the strength of synaptic connections. Both structural and morphological changes allow structural plasticity, and as consequence, learning and memory. It is not completely known how neuronal activity regulates morphology and synaptic plasticity. However, induction of LTP is associated with the enlargement of spines whereas induction of LTD is associated with shrinkage. The control of the structural and morphological changes is mainly performed by the actin filaments (f-actin), which are the principal components of the cytoskeleton in the dendritic spine (Fig 5b) ^{3,31,52–54}.

One question is what makes a neuron decide to connect with the presynaptic neuron at the dendritic spine instead of the dendritic shaft? Each dendritic
spine contains excitatory synapses, but the dendritic shaft contains both excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Ramon y Cajal was the first to describe the dynamics of the dendritic spine as a mechanism by which dendrites increase their surface area ⁵⁵. Now it is believed that the main purpose of dendritic spines is to help to distribute the circuit connectivity matrix, to make excitatory input integration non-saturing and linear, and to make connections independently plastic. To conclude, dendritic spines create a well distributed circuit and be able to use the advantages of their design ⁵⁶.

The physiological relevance of the well-functioning of spines is demonstrated when abnormal spine structures appear. These abnormal spines are associated with different neurologic disorders, such as schizophrenia ^{57,58}, epilepsy ^{59–61}, fragile X syndrome ^{62,63}, Down syndrome ⁶⁴, addiction ^{65,66} and AD ^{67,68}.



Figure 5: Dendritic spines. a) Different types of spines progressing in maturity from thin-filopodia to enlarged mushroom spines. Branched spines are occasional. From Risher et al., 2014 ⁵⁰ b) Immunofluorescence staining with phalloidin of dendritic spines in hippocampal primary neurites. From Bellot et al., 2014 ⁴⁹

2 Aging

Aging is it defined as the timedependent changes that occur in most living organisms. These changes are manifested by a decline in peak-fertility and physiological functions, such as cognitive performance ^{69,70}.



Figure 6: Demographic progression of age distribution. Graph shows the percentage of young and older people in global population (1950-2050). From Suzman et al., 2011⁷⁰

Humanity is facing a demographic milestone since soon people aged 65 or older will outnumber young children

under 5. In 2010, an estimated 524 million people were aged 65 or older population. By 2050, this number is expected to reach 1.5 billion (Fig 6) ⁷⁰.

The decreases in fertility rates and the increases in life expectancy in the last decades are the main reasons for this demographic challenge. Thanks to scientific and technological improvement, there has been a shift in the leading causes of death from infectious and parasitic diseases to non-transmissible diseases and chronic conditions (heart diseases, cancer, diabetes and neurodegenerative diseases)⁷⁰.

2.1 Cellular and molecular hallmarks

Aging is controlled by genetic and biochemical processes conserved throughout evolution. Furthermore, the main reason for aging is the accumulation of cellular damage ^{71,72}.

Despite differences in the rate of aging, molecular and cellular damage hallmarks can be classified into three categories: primary hallmarks, antagonistic hallmarks and integrative hallmarks (Fig 7). Primary hallmarks include clearly negative effects such as genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations and loss of proteostasis.

Antagonistic hallmarks consist of the cell's response to damage and they can have opposite effects- at low levels the responses are beneficial but at high levels the





effects are deleterious. This category includes dysregulation of nutrient sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence. Finally, the last category are integrative hallmarks that include stem cell exhaustion and alterations in cellular communication which directly affect tissue function ⁷¹.

In order to classify an aging hallmark, each effect should be manifested during normal aging, its experimental aggravation should lead to accelerated or pathological aging, and finally, its experimental amelioration should retard normal aging and increase healthy lifespan. However, complex interactions between aging hallmarks makes it difficult to clearly demonstrate the last criteria independently of other hallmarks ⁷¹.

2.1.1 Genomic instability

Genomic stability is challenged throughout the aging process by extrinsic (exogenous physical, chemical and biological agents) and intrinsic (endogenous agents including DNA replication errors, reactive oxygen species-ROS) leading to diverse genetic mutations including point mutations, translocations, chromosomal gain and loss, telomere shortening and gene disruption caused by virus and transposons. To repair these lesions,

organisms have developed a complex DNA repair mechanism. These mechanisms allow for repair most of nuclear DNA damage, maintenance of a functional telomere length, and the integrity of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)⁷³.

The aging process unequivocally leads to the accumulation of nuclear DNA damage, even in the presence of repair mechanisms, that could affect essential genes and transcriptional pathways, creating dysfunctional cells. If not eliminated by apoptosis or senescence, these dysfunctional cells may impair tissue homeostasis. Moreover, mtDNA mutations have been showed to contribute to aging and have been considered a target due to the oxidative mitochondrial environment and the lack of histones and efficient mtDNA repair mechanisms. However, the role of mtDNA mutations on aging it is controversial due to the multiplicity of genomes ⁷³.

Genomic instability has been also involved in brain aging. In fact, both DNA and mtDNA damage have been associated with brain aging process and age associated neurodegenerative disease ⁷³.

2.1.2 Telomere attriation

Mammalian telomeres are particularly vulnerable to age-related deterioration due to the lack of constitutive telomerase activity (DNA polymerase that replicates completely the terminal end of linear DNA). Therefore, there is a progressive decrease in telomere length with age. A decrease in telomere length explains the limited proliferative capacity *in vitro* of some cultured cells, also called the Hayflick limit⁷³.

It has been shown that changes in telomeres length can modify lifespanshortened telomeres lead to a reduced lifespan while the lengthening leads to an increase. Moreover, aging can be reversed by telomerase activation. Finally, alterations associated with brain aging such as cognitive decline and AD have been associated with modifications in telomerase expression and activity as well as shortening of telomeres ^{74–76}.

2.1.3 Epigenetic alteration

Epigenetic modifications that can affect cells and tissues includes DNA methylation, post-translational modifications of histones and chromatin remodeling⁷³.

Aging has been associated with global hypomethylation. However, it has also been shown that some specific loci are hypermethylated⁷⁷. There is controversy regarding the regulation of lifespan by modulating histone methylation. It has been showed that the demethylation of key components of insulin/insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1) pathway can modulate lifespan⁷⁸. However, the mechanism by which alterations of histone methylation can affect aging is not known. It could be due to direct epigenetic mechanisms, impaired DNA repair or through transcriptional alterations affecting signaling pathways outside the nucleus ⁷¹. Aging is also associated with an increase in transcriptional noise ⁷⁹ and alterations in mRNA maturation ^{80,81}.

Epigenetic alterations are reversible and treatable with anti-aging drugs. For example, treatment with a histone deacetylase inhibitor can reverse histone 4 acetylation levels and prevent age-related memory impairment ⁸².

Several studies have unveiled the important role for epigenetics modifications in learning and memory, aging and neurodegenerative disease. It has been suggested that epigenetic changes during aging can cause synapse loss and structure alterations. Histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2) for example, increases its expression and leads to a reduction in dendritic spines. Moreover, in AD patients it has been shown a reduction in general DNA methylation^{83–85}.

2.1.4 Loss of proteostasis

All cells have a quality control system to maintain protein homeostasis. Known as proteostasis, this process controls the proper folding of proteins, the stability and functionality of proteins and the mechanisms of protein degradation by the lysosome or the proteasome ^{86–88}. These mechanisms have been shown to be altered in aging ⁸⁷. The degradation systems implicated in protein quality control are autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Both systems are altered in aging, supporting the idea that the loss of proteostasis is an aging hallmark^{89,90}.

Moreover, unfolded, misfolded or aggregated proteins contribute to the development of some pathologies such as Parkinson's disease (PD) or AD, in which the main risk factor is aging.

2.1.5 Deregulated nutrient-sensing

There are several nutrient-sensing pathways, which informs the cell of the present of glucose, that have been involved in aging. One of them is the somatotrophic axis which comprises growth hormone (GH) and IGF-1 signaling. The evolutionarily conserved insulin/IGF-1 signaling (IIS) pathway carries out this function. Multiple genetic attenuations of the IIS pathway results in extended lifespan across species ⁹¹. However, GH and IGF-1 levels are reduced in normal aging, demonstrating that decreased IIS signaling is a normal trait of aging. It could be explained if the decrease in IIS signaling reflects a defensive response by the cell to minimize metabolism and cell growth in cases of systemic damage. Models with decreased systemic IIS signaling can survive longer because they have lower rates of metabolism and cell growth, and thus, less cellular damage⁹². Other pathways involved include mTOR, AMPK and sirtuins^{93–95}.

In general, it is believed that anabolic pathways accelerate aging, whereas decreased nutrient sensing extends lifespan⁹¹. Insulin/IGF-1 pathway has been found to be altered in AD and brain aging. In AD, insulin receptors and related signaling proteins are reduced, whereas insulin levels in plasma are high and glucose disposal low ^{96,97}. Amyloid- β peptide (A β) has been shown to reduce the activation of the pathway and induce the removal of the insulin receptors from the surface ^{98–100}. However, there is controversy regarding the activation state of the pathway in AD brains since some

reports showed a decrease in Akt phosphorylation whereas other studies suggested an increase in Akt phosphorylation^{98,101,102}. Moreover, during aging there is a reduction in insulin sensitivity. Insulin resistance is linked to accelerated aging processes¹⁰³.

2.1.6 Mitochondrial Dysfunction

A decrease in mitochondrial function is associated with aging as it decreases the efficacy of the electron transport chain, generating less ATP and more electron leakage ^{104,105}.

Mitochondrial dysfunction can be caused by an increased level of ROS or by alterations in the integrity and biogenesis of mitochondria. In 1965, the mitochondrial free radical theory of aging was proposed stating that mitochondrial dysfunction associated with aging increases levels of ROS leading to further mitochondrial and cellular damage ¹⁰⁶. This theory has been evaluated since then. Now it is believed that increased production of ROS by the mitochondria is an attempt to maintain cellular survival. Low levels of ROS cause reversible post-translational modifications which can modify the activity of the target protein helping the cell to adapt to stress. However, when ROS levels reach a threshold, they aggravate the situation becoming harmful for the cell and increasing age-associated damage ^{107,108}.

Processes that can alter mitochondrial integrity and biogenesis include the accumulation of mutations and deletions in mtDNA, oxidation of mitochondrial proteins, destabilization of electron transport chain complexes, changes in mitochondrial lipid composition, an imbalance of fission and fusion events due to altered mitochondrial dynamics, and defective mitophagy (an organelle-specific form of macroautophagy targeting defective mitochondria)¹⁰⁹.

Overall, mitochondrial dysfunction in mammals accelerates aging by increasing damage and decreasing turnover of mitochondria^{71,110–112}. Moreover, it is known that mitochondrial dysfunction is particularly involved

in the aging process of post-mitotic cell types such as neurons and muscular cells. Particularly, neurons are highly dependent on the mitochondrial electron transport chain and the ATP generated by the mitochondria. An inefficient transport chain leads to ROS generation, overwhelming the inner antioxidant defenses and generating protein oxidation and DNA damage as found in AD ¹¹³.

2.1.7 Cellular Senescence

The stable arrest of the cell cycle coupled to stereotyped phenotypic changes is called cellular senescence ^{71,114–116}. It was first described by Hayflick who studied human fibroblasts passaged in culture¹¹⁷. Cellular senescence is caused by: telomere shortening, non-telomeric DNA damage and derepression of the INK4/ARF locus^{71,114,118}. Telomeres are repetitive DNA sequences that protects DNA endings from shortening and recombination. Aging process leads to their shortening ¹¹⁸. Moreover, different types of DNA damage can induce cell senescence and organismal aging show higher levels of mutations. Finally, INK4/ARF locus are two critical tumor suppressor genes which expression is increased in aging ^{71,114}.

Cellular senescence is believed to be a beneficial compensatory mechanism in response to damage that becomes deleterious and accelerates aging when tissues exhaust their regenerative capacity ¹¹⁸.

Cellular senescence has been studied particularly in mitotic cells. In the brain, most of studies have been done using proliferating glial cells. However, neurons with senescent hallmarks have also been found in aging brains ¹¹⁹.

2.1.8 Stem cell exhaustion

During chronological aging there is a decline in the regenerative potential due to a deficient proliferation of stem and progenitor cells. This is a protective process to avoid excessive proliferation that can also be deleterious by accelerating exhaustion of stem cells niches ⁷¹. Ultimately, stem cell exhaustion is an integrative consequence of multiple damages and it

is responsible for tissue and organism aging. It has been shown that stem cell niche rejuvenation may reverse aging ¹²⁰. In fact, the dentate gyrus in the hippocampus consists of a pool of neural progenitors that are involved in learning and memory and alterations in neurogenesis are associated with AD ¹²¹.

2.1.9 Altered intercellular communication

Chronological aging occurs with changes in intercellular communication at the endocrine, neuroendocrine or neuronal level. Changes in intercellular communication affects the mechanical and functional properties of tissues^{95,120,122,123}.

Inflammation is one of the main causes of altered intercellular communication during aging. The chronic and low grade inflammation that occurs during aging is termed "inflammaging"^{103,124}. This increase in inflammation could be explained by multiple reasons including the accumulation of pro-inflammatory tissue damage, the failure of the immune system to clear pathogens and dysfunctional host cells, the increase of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion by senescent cells, the reduced autophagy response or an enhanced activation of the NF-KB signaling pathway ¹²⁵.

Aside from the inflammation, there is evidence showing that age-related changes in one tissue can deteriorate other tissues⁷¹. It has been shown that senescent cells can spread senescence towards their neighbor cells through gap junctions and ROS signaling ¹²⁶. Moreover, CD4T defects have been observed in aging due to the microenvironmment, which can lead to systemic alterations ¹²⁷. Finally, modulation of life-span in one tissue can retard aging process in other tissues. For example by treating a murine progeria model with muscle-derived stem/progenitor cells improve degenerative changes and vascularization in tissues where the progenitors are not found ¹²⁸.

2.2 Brain and neuronal aging

The greatest risk factor for cognitive decline and Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is aging itself. Therefore, slowing down or reversing brain aging could have a huge impact on the quality of life for the elderly and their caregivers ^{69,70}. To achieve that aim, more information is needed regarding the mechanisms behind the aging process, the strategies to reduce pathological symptoms and preserve cognitive functions ^{69–71}.

Brain aging leads to stereotypical and neurophysiological changes and a variable cognitive decline even in absence of disease. The most consistently affected cognitive abilities due to aging are processing speed, working memory and episodic memory ^{69,113,129,130}.

It has been shown that cognitive decline in normal aging arises from a global loss of integrative function. Therefore, the different brain regions that serve as higher-order structures supporting cognition show less-coordinated activation. This anatomical disconnection observed between areas could be explained by the loss of white matter and demyelination or by changes in synaptic physiology of aging neurons ^{69,130}.

Aging hallmarks previously mentioned such as mitochondrial dysfunction, DNA damage, changes in conserved metabolic pathways (IGF/insulin) or loss of proteostasis are key factors for brain aging. However, the role of these hallmarks in the onset and progression of neurodegenerative disease are not known. More intervention for targeting those pathways in normal and pathological aging is needed to unveil the connection ^{69,130}.

Individual vulnerability to neurodegenerative disorders during aging is determined by genetic and environmental factors that interact with molecular and cellular mechanism of aging. During pathological aging, there is an abnormal increase in normal aging molecular changes within vulnerable neuronal populations. Usually, vulnerable neurons are large and myelinated projection neurons that connect different regions of the brain. These neurons are vulnerable because they require high levels of energy, precise axonal transport (integrity of the cytoskeleton) and are exposed to different, potentially toxic environments throughout the brain ¹⁰⁴.

There is a debate whether a continuum exists between normal brain aging and dementia (AD). This theory is supported by the presence of AD pathology in 20-40% of older individuals cognitively normal prior death. Preservation of cognitive abilities could be due to brain reserve or due to the fact that AD pathology has not occurred yet prior death. In contrast, the occurrence of AD pathology is not always observed with age and there are differences in patterns of brain atrophy between aging and presymptomatic AD ^{129,131–135}.

Overall, we can say that molecular alterations between normal and pathological aging are quantitative and the boundaries between them are weak. Therefore, it is known that normal aging is a central process of pathological aging even if it is not known to what extent. Accordingly, it makes sense to use models of normal aging and pathological aging to enhance our knowledge of both processes as we did in this thesis. It is expected that a modification that slows down normal aging would also help fight against neurodegenerative disease ^{104,129}.

3 Alzheimer's disease

AD was identified for the first time by Alois Alzheimer in 1906¹³⁶. AD is the most common neurodegenerative disorder leading to irreversible dementia without any effective treatment.

Dementia describes a group of symptoms affecting memory, problem solving and social skills which collectively alter daily life. Today, over 46 million people suffer dementia worldwide and it is expected to increase to 74 million by 2030 due to aging of the world population ¹³⁷. Total estimated cost of dementia worldwide in 2015 was 818 million dollars. By 2030 dementia will become a 2 trillion dollar disease ¹³⁷. Dementia is and will be a major problem in the near future for high income, low or middle income countries. There are other causes of dementia such as vascular dementia, frontotemporal dementia, Lewy bodies disease and Huntington disease ^{137,138}.

3.1 General characteristics: protein aggregation

AD is characterized by memory and cognitive decline due to neuronal death and synapse loss. AD leads to degeneration of different brain structures where protein deposition is more abundant. The process starts in the entorhinal/perirhinal cortex, then moves to the hippocampus and the association cortex and finally to the primary neocortex ^{134,139,140} (Fig 8A).

AD is characterized by two main histopathological hallmarks: intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and extracellular amyloid or neuritic plaques (AP) (Fig 8B-D). NFT are intraneuronal aggregates of hyperphosphorylated tau that become extracellular when tangle-bearing neurons die. AP are extracellular deposits of aggregated A β classified as diffuse or dense-core base plaques, depending on their morphology and positive staining with Congo-red or Thioflavin-S ^{136,141–143}. Diffuse plaques are amorphous amyloid deposits, which are non-neuritic and not associated with glial response or synaptic loss. These plaques are not stained by Congo-red or Thioflavin-S. In contrast, dense-core plaques are compact, fibrillar amyloid deposits that are

surrounded by dystrophic neurites, reactive glial cells and synaptic loss. These plaques are stained with Congo-red or Thioflavin-S and are used to diagnose AD because they are correlated with cognitive impairment ^{135,144–149}.

Eighty percent of AD patients exhibit AB deposits in the tunica media of brain vessels in form of cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA) (Fig 9). Specifically, these deposits occur in posterior areas of the brain which can weaken the vessel and cause lobar hemorrhages ^{134,150}.



Figure 8: Histopathology of AD. A) Section of an AD (left) and a healthy (right) hemibrain. The AD brain shows marked atrophy of cerebral and entorhinal cortex and the hippocampus and enlargement of the lateral ventricle. B) Neurofibrillary tangles (N) and neuritic plaques (P) in AD hippocampus stained with modified Bielschowsky silver impregnation. C) Immunohistochemistry against β -amyloid in an AD frontal lobe. In this image it is observed a diffuse plaque (D), a cored plaque (C) and cerebral amyloid angiopathy (A). D) Phospho-Tau immunochemistry in an AD frontal lobe staining neurofibrillary tangles (N) and neuritic plaques (P). From Wippold et al., 2006¹⁴³



Figure 9: Histopathology of CAA. A) Immunohistochemistry against $A\beta_{1-42}$. Aß deposits in the wall of meningeal blood vessels (arrow) are stained B) Immunohistochemistry against $A\beta_{1-14}$. Aß deposits in the wall of parenchymal blood vessels (arrow) are stained. From Nešić et al., 2017¹⁵⁰

3.2 Causes and risks factors

AD incidence increases from 1% between the ages of 60-70 years old to 6-8% at 85 years or older. Moreover, AD prevalence also increases significantly with age. Therefore, the prevalence and incidence of AD suggests that aging is the most influential known risk factor ¹⁵¹.

AD can be classified in two subtypes based on the age of onset: early-onset Alzheimer's Disease (EOAD) and late-onset Alzheimer's Disease (LOAD).

EOAD accounts for 1-5% of all cases and includes an age of onset between 35 and 60-65 years old ^{151–153}. Sixty percent of EOAD cases have multiple cases of AD in their relatives and 13% of these familial EOAD, are autosomal dominant inherence with at least 3 generations affected. EOAD is a entirely genetically based disease ^{154–156}.

Ninety-five percent of AD cases are LOAD, which is the most common form of AD and includes age of onset later than 60-65 years-old. LOAD causes are not known ^{151,152}.

Another classification used in AD is familial versus non-familial, also called sporadic or idiopathic. However, due to the increasing knowledge regarding genetics of the disease it seems that most sporadic cases are in fact, influenced by genetic risk factors ¹⁵². AD heritability has been estimated to be between 58-79% and genetic factors influence both men and women ¹⁵⁷.

Early-onset disease can also occur in families with late-onset disease and both EAOD and LOAD may occur in families with positive AD histories ^{153,154}. Therefore, the real classification is not as easy as the theoretical one, because there is a tight correlation between all four categories. Only a few cases of autosomal dominant inheritance are single-gene disorders. Furthermore, AD is considered a complex, polygenic and multifactorial disorder in which multiple susceptibility genes and environmental factors are involved. Finally, the pattern of transmission is not consistent with Mendelian inheritance ^{153,158–161}.

A few families are affected by several mutations (less than 5% of the cases). They are fully penetrant autosomal dominant mutations in the genes encoding for the amyloid precursor protein (APP), presenilin 1(PSEN1) or presenilin 2 (PSEN2) (Table 1) ^{152,162–165}. These mutations share a common biochemical pathway and cause AD by increasing the generation of AB₄₂ and B-amyloid deposition ^{135,152,160}. In fact, this discovery originally lead to the amyloid cascade hypothesis (see below).

Gene	Protein	Chromosome	Mutations	Variation
APP	amyloid precursor protein	21q21.2	51	Increased Αβ42/ Αβ40 ratio Increased Αβ production Increased Αβ aggregation
PSEN1	Presenilin 1	14q24.3	219	Increased A β_{42} / A β_{40} ratio
PSEN2	Presenilin 2	1q42.13	16	Increased AB42/ AB40 ratio

Table 1: AD autosomal dominant mutation

The apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene is the only risk factor that has been linked in multiple studies with LOAD, specifically the ε 4 allele. The three major alleles of the APOE locus are ε 2, ε 3 and ε 4. These variations correspond to combination of two amino acid changes at residues 112 and 158 (ε 2: Cys112/ Cys158; ε 3: Cys112/Arg158; ε 4: Arg112/Arg158). Heterozygous ε 4 carriers have a three-fold increased risk of being diagnosed with AD, whereas homozygous ε 4 carriers have an eight to ten-fold increased risk. Moreover, several studies have also been showed a weak protective effect of the ε 2 allele ^{152,153,166–168}. Although the presence of one or two APOE e4 allele is neither necessary or sufficient to cause AD ¹⁵³.

Thanks to more powerful and efficient sequencing methods, more genomewide association studies (GWAS) have been published. GWAS have allowed the characterization of several genetic risk variants associated with AD (Table 2)^{152,169,170}. Three types of processes have emerged as important: cholesterol/sterol metabolism, inflammation and innate immune system and endosomal vesicle recycling ¹⁷¹.

Gene	Protein	p value*	Function
APOE	apolipoprotein E	<1E-50	Aggregation and clearance of Ab; cholesterol metabolism
BIN1	bridging integrator 1	1.59E-26	Production and clearance of Ab. Receptor-mediated endocytosis.
CLU	clusterin	3.37E-23	Aggregation and clearance of Ab; inflammation
ABCA7	ATP binding cassette subfamily A member 7	8.17E-22	Lipid metabolism, clearance of Ab
CR1	Component complement 3b/4b receptor 1	4.72E-21	Clearance of Ab; inflammation
PICALM	Phosphatidylinositol bindind clathrin assembly protein	2.85E-20	Production and clearance of Ab. Synaptic transmission and endocytosis
MS4A6A	Membrane spanning 4-domains A6A	1.81E-11	Signal transduction
CD33	CD33 molecule	2.04E-10	Innate immune system response

Table 2: Risk genetic variants associated in AD

^{*} p values refer to systematic meta-analyses of the publicly available AlzGene database ¹⁶⁹

3.3 Amyloid-β peptide

A β is a 4 kDa peptide made up of 36-43 amino acids and is a major component of AP in AD ^{172,173}. It also plays a critical role in other pathologies such as Down's Syndrome¹⁷⁴ and CAA¹⁷⁵. The physiological role of A β is not completely understood but it seems to become toxic when it is misfolded into β -sheets due to high production and low degradation and clearance rate ^{176–178}. Therefore, the study of A β production, clearance and neurotoxicity are crucial for the development of new treatments to fight AD.

3.3.1 The amyloid cascade hypothesis

The amyloid hypothesis was firstly postulated in the early 90's claiming that $A\beta$ is the primary driver of AD pathogenesis and initiates the pathological cascade leading to AD. This hypothesis postulates that $A\beta$ production and deposition precedes and initiates the rest of the disease process including neurofibrillary tangles formation, cell loss and vascular damage leading to dementia ^{173,179–183}.

Several evidences support the amyloid hypothesis, some observations were originally known and others have been discovered recently (Fig 10).

- Mutations in *APP*, *PSEN1* and *PSEN2* cause AD due to the increased production of Aβ ^{184,185}.
- Humans with Down Syndrome (Trisomy 21) contain three copies of *APP* and develop typical neuropathological AD. In contrast, individuals with rare mutations that leads to duplications on chromosome 21 the APP locus do not develop AD ^{186,187}.
- 3. A β is toxic to cultured neurons and other cell types ¹⁸⁸.
- 4. APOE ε 4 allele is a major risk factor for developing LOAD and is associated with an increase of A β deposition in the brain and blood vessels in humans ¹⁸⁹. Using a knock-in mouse model expressing human APOE ε 4 and familial AD linked-APP transgenes, it has been shown that there is decreased levels of A β clearance ^{190,191}. In contrast,

mice lacking *APOE* gene show a decrease in AP and neuritic dystrophy which is reversed when $\varepsilon 4$ or $\varepsilon 3$ allele are expressed ¹⁹².

- 5. Mutations in *APP*, specifically in the A β encoding region cause familial AD and CAA by increasing aggregation propensity or inhibiting the degradation of A β ^{193–195}.
- A mutation in *APP* protects against AD and cognitive decline by reducing βsecretase cleavage leading to a decrease in AP formation ¹⁹⁶.
- 7. Aβ oligomers decrease synapse density impairs function synaptic and synaptic structure leading to memory impairment 197. AD begins with a loss of hippocampal synaptic efficacy due to A β ⁶⁷. Moreover, synapse loss is the correlate with major cognitive decline 198,199.
- Aβ accumulation has been shown to occur prior to neurofibrillary tangle formation. Moreover, it has been shown in familial AD accumulation precedes tau a expressed ^{200–204}. However, it partially dependent on tau prese



Figure 10: The amyloid cascade hypothesis. The blue arrow indicates that $A\beta$ oligomers may directly injure the synapse and neurites in addition to activate microglia and astrocytes. From Selkoe et al., 2016 ¹⁸³

been shown in familial AD stem cell-derived neurons that A β accumulation precedes tau alterations without tau being overexpressed ^{200–204}. However, it is known that A β neurotoxicity is partially dependent on tau presence ^{205–207}. Nevertheless, there is still controversy on the matter because of several findings that appear to counter the amyloid hypothesis ^{208,209}.

- 1. Correlation between AP with the degree of cognitive impairment is much less than with NT or synaptic loss. It can be explained by the deposition of oligomers which are undetectable or by an early deposition of A β (more than two decades before symptoms) that leads to all downstream cellular and molecular changes which cause neuronal dysfunction and cognitive decline ²¹⁰. Moreover, there is still a debate regarding the toxicity of A β sub-species and their detection ²⁰⁹.
- 2. Healthy, non-demented brains studied using Aβ-binding positron emission tomography (PET) ligands and post-mortem brains have been found to be rich in AP ^{210–212}. Some or many of these AP from non-demented patients are diffuse forms which are not linked to neuritic and glial pathology. Moreover, the differential role of AP and Aβ oligomers should be considered. The degree of cognitive decline is much more correlated with soluble forms of Aβ aggregates than AP, which are determined by histological studies ^{173,213–216}. In conclusion, this is consistent with the hypothesis that oligomers are the more toxic species. AP are able to sequester oligomers in a non-diffusible, less neurotoxic state until a limit is reached in which case the oligomers diffuse to surrounding synaptic membranes and other regions of the cell membrane ²¹⁷.
- 3. Numerous clinical trials using anti-amyloid agents have not shown any clinical improvement. However, several of these trials were not designed properly in terms of the patients chosen, the choice of agent, the target or dose of the agent or the trials had to be halted due to off-target side effects. Targeting patients during the mild or very mild stages of disease have demonstrated clinical benefit ^{218,219}. However, it has been shown in familial AD disease model that the clearance of AP by

active and passive immunization therapies remove $A\beta$, improve synaptic function and cognitive performance ²²⁰.

3.3.2 Aβ production

A β is produced by the amyloidogenic pathway by sequential cleavage of the APP. APP is a ubiquitously expressed type-I transmembrane glycoprotein encoded by a gene located in the chromosome 21, which consists of 18 exons ²²¹. Human APP has three different transcripts (APP695, APP751 and APP770) generated by alternative splicing. APP695 is the predominant transcript expressed in neuronal tissue, whereas the other two isoforms are widely expressed in non-neuronal tissues ²²². APP is translocated into the ER following the secretory pathway where it undergoes post-translational modifications such as glycosylation, phosphorylation and tyrosine sulfation before arriving at the plasma membrane ²²³.

The physiological functions of APP are still being studied but it has been shown to be involved in cell proliferation ²²⁴, cell adhesion ²²⁵, differentiation ²²⁶ and synaptogenesis ²²⁷.

APP can be processed by three main enzymatic complexes (Fig 11): α secretase, β -secretase beta-site APP cleaving enzyme 1 or by γ -secretase ^{228–230}.

The non-amyloidogenic pathway involves cleavage of APP by α -secretase. This prevents A β formation since its cleavage site is within the A β domain ²³⁰. Four enzymes with α -secretase activity have been identified within the ADAM family (A disintegrin and metalloproteinase family): ADAM9, 10,13 and 17 (tumour necrosis factor converting enzyme). ADAM 10 is the highly expressed α -secretase in the brain ²³¹.

The amyloidogenic pathway is a sequential cleavage of APP by a group of enzymes termed β -secretase or beta-site APP cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1) and by γ -secretase. BACE1 is type I integral membrane protein belonging to the pepsin family of aspartyl proteases localized to the intracellular

compartments of the secretory pathway, specifically the luminal site of Golgi apparatus and endosomes ^{232–234}. The γ -secretase is a multiprotein complex that contains five different proteins: PSEN1, PSEN2, as a catalytic core and nicastrin, anterior pharynx defective and presenilin enhancer 2 as additional indispensable subunits ^{235–238}.

Under physiological conditions, the non-amyloidogenic pathway is predominant ²³⁹. APP is cleaved by the α -secretase at amino acid 83, producing a large N-terminal ectodomain called sAPP α . The α -secretase and β -secretase activities are mutually exclusive because α -secretase cleavage occurs within the A β region, thereby avoiding its formation ^{240,241}.



Figure 11: APP processing. APP can be processed through the nonamyloidogenic pathway (left) by α -secretase and γ -secretase generating sAPP α . Moreover, it can also be cleaved through the amyloidogenic pathway (right) by BACE1 and γ -secretase generating A β and AICD.

The alternative cleavage by the amyloidogenic pathway leads to $A\beta$ generation. The first proteolytic step is mediated by BACE1 in a sequence specific manner in the early endosomes at amino acid 99 leading to release of sAPP β fragment (N-terminal) to the lumen and C99, which remains in the membrane ^{242,243}. Subsequent cleavage of C99 fragment between residues 38

and 43 by the γ -secretase complex in the plasma membrane generates the A β peptide and the amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD) ^{244,245}. Depending on the γ -secretase cleavage site different A β species are produced. The most produced peptide of A β is A β_{40} and A β_{42} is less frequent (10%) but it is more hydrophobic and more prone to aggregate and to form fibrils ²⁴⁶. The γ -secretase activity and, therefore A β generation is localized at the plasma membrane ^{247,248}. A β is released to the extracellular space ²⁴⁹ and from there can be internalized by nearby cells ²⁵⁰.

3.3.3 Aβ clearance

An imbalance between A β production and clearance leads to A β accumulation. In fact, A β clearance seems to be impaired in both EOAD and LOAD even at prodromal stages ^{173,251–253}. Furthermore, in AD patients, A β levels are increased in the brain but decreased in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) It has been shown that EOAD-associated presenilin mutations exhibit increased A β production and decreased A β clearance whereas patients with LOAD exhibit decreased A β clearance only ^{253–255}. Therefore, understanding A β clearance mechanisms and how they may become dysfunctional in AD is important to develop new therapies targeting this process to restore clearance mechanisms, eliminate A β deposits and delay (or even prevent) disease onset.

A β clearance systems in the brain interact and overlap. However, their relative contribution is still being studied. The following are the known A β clearance mechanisms (Fig 12):

- a) Degradation clearance:
 - Intracellular Aβ is degraded by the ubiquitin- proteasome pathway
 ²⁵⁶, the endosomal-lysosomal pathway
 ²⁵⁷ or proteases such as the insulin-degrading enzyme
 ²⁵⁸.
 - Extracellular Aβ is also degraded by proteases such as neprilysin ²⁵⁹, glutamate carboxypeptidase II ²⁶⁰, metalloproteinases ²⁶¹, endothelin-

converting enzyme ²⁶², plasmin ²⁶¹, tissue plasminogen activator ²⁶³, angiotensin-converting enzyme ²⁶¹ and insulin-degrading enzyme ²⁶⁴.

- Interstitial fluid (ISF)(contains the brain extracellular residues) Aβ can also be degraded by astrocytes and microglia phagocytosis ^{265,266}.
 These degradation clearance mechanisms are impaired in aging and AD due to alterations in enzyme expression and activity, ligand affinity, and decreased initiation of intracellular degradation pathways and cellular uptake ²⁶⁷.
- b) Blood-brain barrier (BBB) clearance: Aβ can move from the ISF through the BBB and into the blood and also, from the blood to the ISF through BBB. This mechanism allows most of the extracellular AB clearance. This transport is possible thanks to several receptors: low density lipoprotein family of receptors, such as LRP1 and LRP2 268. LRP2 is only functional in a complex with clusterin 268,269. Another family of receptors involved in the clearance process are ATP-binding cassette transporters (ABC transporters), particularly, ABCB1(also known as MDR1) and ABCA1which mediates AB clearance through an APOEdependent mechanism ^{270–272}. Other proteins such as a2-macroglobulin $(\alpha 2M)$ are also involved in the clearance process ²⁷³. Finally, free plasmatic AB can be transported to the ISF via the advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor (RAGE) ^{269,274}. This process is prevented by sequestering agents presents in the blood which bind to plasma A^β. The sequestering agents are the soluble form of RAGE (sRAGE), anti-Aß immunoglobulin (IgG), serum amyloid P component (SAP) and the soluble form of LRP (sLRP)275. This binding allows systematic clearance of $A\beta$ in the kidney and liver.

c) Glymphatic clearance: This is a mechanism by which the ISF is transported to CSF. The astrocytes mediate this form of Aβ transport and requires aquaporin-4 (AQP4) which is also perivascular ^{276–278}. Glymphatic clearance is reduced 40% in aged mice ²⁷⁸.



Fig 12: Aβ **clearance mechanisms.** APP is processed and Aβ is released in the brain and in peripheral tissues. Aβ in the brain is degraded by different specific enzymes or by microglia and astrocytes. Moreover, Aβ drainage to blood is allowed by LRP1, LRPP2/clusterin and ABCB1. Free Aβ influx to the brain is mediated by RAGE, but it is prevented by the sequestering agents present in the blood that permit the systemic clearance in the liver and the kidney. Abbreviations: α 2M, α 2-macroglobulin; Aβ, amyloid-β; ABCB1, multidrug resistance protein 1 (also known as P-glycoprotein 1); ApoE, apolipoprotein E; BBB, blood–brain barrier; LRP, LDL receptor-related protein; RAGE, advanced glycosylation end product- specific receptor; SAP, serum amyloid P; sLRP1, soluble LRP1; sRAGE, soluble form of RAGE. From Tarasoff-Conway et al., 2015 ²⁶⁷

3.3.4 Aβ aggregation

A β is released from the membrane as a soluble monomer to the extracellular space. Soluble A β has a disorganize structure organized in random coil and α -helicoidal structures. Modulation of the *in vitro* conditions such as salt content, temperature, pH and agitation may facilitate the switch of A β secondary structure to β -sheet folding ^{279–281}. In fact, the β -sheet conformation switch and A β aggregation process is pH-dependent. This process is particularly promoted at pH 4-7, and the isoelectric point of the peptide is 5.5, at which A β aggregation and precipitation propensity are maximal ^{279,282}.

Aβ aggregation process follows a sigmoidal growth curve (Fig 13) with three phases: lag/nucleation, growth and saturation. The lag/nucleation phase is a dynamic flux controlled by stochastic interactions between monomers, dimers and trimers until a stable misfolded nucleus is formed (seed oligomer). Once a critical aggregate size is achieved, the growth or elongation phase begins where these aggregates then interact with monomers, exponentially increasing the rates of aggregation and forming high molecular weight protofibrils. Finally, during the saturation phase, insoluble and mature fibrils are formed. The limiting factor in Aβ aggregation. Therefore, the process can be accelerated with the addition of preformed seed oligomers or truncated fibrils ^{279,283}. The aggregation process in the cell it is also modified by the interaction with lipid bilayers, particularly with several components of lipid rafts such as cholesterol and monosialotetrahexosyl ganglioside (GM1 ganglioside) ²³⁹.

Several AD-mutations in the APP region of A β sequence alter the aggregation process and propensity to aggregate (Fig 14). Leuven ²⁸⁴ and Flemish ²⁸⁵ mutations have been shown to increase A β production and secretion, respectively. A2V²⁸⁶, Taiwanese ²⁸⁷ and K16N ²⁸⁸ mutations affect

aggregation propensity and the quantity of peptide generated. English ²⁸⁹, Tottori ²⁹⁰, Italian ²⁹¹, Artic ²⁹², Osaka ²⁹³, Dutch ²⁹⁴ and Iowa ²⁹⁵ mutations increase Aβ aggregation propensity.



Figure 13: A β aggregation process. The aggregation process has three phases: nucleation, growth and saturation. The nucleation phase is a dynamic flux controlled by stochastic interaction between monomers, dimers and trimers until a stable misfolded nucleus is formed (seed oligomer). Once a critical aggregate size is achieved starts the growth or elongation phase, where these aggregates interact with monomers exponentially increasing the rates of aggregation forming high molecular weight protofibrils. Finally, insoluble and mature fibrils are formed in the saturation phase. The limiting factor in A β aggregation process is the formation of misfolded seeds that promote aggregation. Therefore, the process can be accelerated with the addition of preformed seed oligomers or truncated fibrils.



DAEFRHDSGYEVHHQKLVFFAEDVGSNKGAIIGLMVGGVVIA

Figure 14: Mutations in A β region of APP. Different AD mutations have been found at position 2,6,7,11,16,21,22,23,34 and 42 yielding to early onset of AD.

Besides the mutations listed above $A\beta$ peptide length modifies its aggregation properties. Under physiological conditions $A\beta_{40}$ is produced ten time more than $A\beta_{42}$ ²⁹⁶. However, the two extra residues of $A\beta_{42}$ confer more hydrophobic properties and a lower energy barrier in all the steps of the oligomerization process, thus making $A\beta_{42}$ more aggregation prone than $A\beta_{40}$. $A\beta_{42}$ has a higher aggregation rate than $A\beta_{40}$ ^{246,283}. Moreover, it is believed that $A\beta_{42}$ aggregation precedes $A\beta_{40}$. In fact, $A\beta_{42}$ is the major component of AP in AD and $A\beta_{40}$ is only present in a subset of plaques ²⁹⁷. It is also known, that an increased ratio of $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{40}$ increases neurotoxicity and this is observed in patients with presenilin-mutations carriers ^{298,299}.

A β oligomerization can also be modified by post-translational modifications such as oxidation, phosphorylation, nitration, racemization, isomerization, pyroglutamylation, and glycosylation. These modifications lead to the generation of peptides with altered pathological and more aggregation-prone properties ^{300,301}.



Figure 15: 3D structure of A β **fibrils.** Ribbon diagrams of the core structure of residues 17–42 showing the interactions of two antiparallel β -sheets (β 1 and β 2) a) Illustrate the molecular nature of intrafibrillar interactions and the supramolecular structure of the fibril. b) Represent fibril cross-sections. Black arrows represent the fibril axis. Modified from Lührs et al., 2005³⁰²

The 3D structure of fibrils was resolved in 2005 (PDB ID: 2BEG). Each protofibril is formed by two antiparallel β -sheets comprising the residues L17-S26 (β 1) and I31-I41 (β 2). This structure is likely to be stabilize by

hydrophobic interactions, backbone hydrogen bonds and intermolecular salt bridges between D23 and K28 ³⁰². Interactions between protofibrilles are necessary to achieve the supramolecular structure of the fibril ^{303–305} (Fig 15).

3.3.5 A β toxicity

A β oligomers are the main toxic species responsible for synaptic dysfunction and neurite injury ^{173,306,307}.

Extracellular A β oligomers have been reported to directly bind receptors such as the NMDAR, the AMPAR and the alpha-7 nicotinic receptor (α 7nAChr), impairing glutamatergic and cholinergic transmission ^{308–310}. A β binding to NMDAR modifies channel activity and calcium influx leading to increased cytotoxicity and impaired LTP ^{239,311–313}. A β binding to AMPAR alters its internalization and dephosphorylation ³¹⁰. Moreover, α 7nAChr binding to A β allows for peptide internalization. Other receptors have been shown to bind to A β such as nerve growth factor receptor ³¹⁴, insulin receptor ³¹⁴, frizzled receptor ³¹⁵ and the cellular prion protein ³¹⁶.

Intracellular direct A β binding to ryanodine receptors (RyR) and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptors (IP₃R) modifies calcium levels in the ER and the mitochondria ^{317–322}.

Another effect of A β oligomers on the plasma and lysosomal membrane is the increase of its permeability ³²³. In lysosomes, increased permeability leads to the leakage of lysosomal hydrolases and A β to the cytosol ³²⁴.

A β in the mitochondria inhibits the respiratory chain complexes III and IV ³²⁵. This could account for the abnormal distribution and morphology of the organelle and an increased mitochondrial fission observed in AD ^{326,327}. Moreover, A β oligomerization produces oxidative and nitrative stress in neurons ³²⁸. The aggregation process produce H₂O₂ and OH^{...} on its own ^{329–} ³³¹ or through the activation of the microglia which releases more free radicals ³³². Free radicals cause further impairment of mitochondria, the respiratory chain, lipid peroxidation, protein oxidation and nitrotyrosination ^{328,333}. Furthermore, it increases ROS production increasing oxidative stress leading to apoptosis ³³⁴.

Intracellular A β also impairs the ubiquitin-proteasome degradation pathway by inhibiting deubiquitinating enzymes and proteasome activity ^{335–337} and the autophagy degradation system ^{338,339}. Notably, A β is degraded by both degradation systems ²⁶⁷, so the presence of A β oligomers inhibits its own degradation, leading to a further increase in A β levels.

3.4 Therapeutics

Currently there is no effective treatment for curing or slowing down the progression of AD. However, five pharmacological treatment are approved by the U.S Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat symptoms (Table 3). These treatments are focus on two main strategies ³⁴⁰:

- Acetylcholinesterase enzyme (AChE) inhibitors: this group prevents the degradation of acetylcholine (Ach), which is significantly decreased in AD patients. AChE inhibitors treat memory, language and other cognitive deficits ³⁴⁰.
- NMDAR antagonists prevent dysfunctional glutamatergic transmission and excitotoxicity. They are used to improve memory, attention, reason, language and the ability to perform simple tasks ³⁴⁰.

Generic name	Name	Туре	Approved for	Year
Donezepil	Aricept	AChE inhibitor	All stages	1996
Galantamine	Razadyne	AChE inhibitor	Mild to moderate	2001
Rivastigmine	Exelon	AChE inhibitor	Mild to moderate	2000
Memantine	Namenda	NMDAR antagonist	Moderate to severe	2003
Memantine + donezepil	Namzaric	Mixed	Moderate to severe	2014

Table 3: FDA	approved	treatments	for	AD
--------------	----------	------------	-----	----

3.4.1 Aβ therapeutics

The amyloid hypothesis suggests that A β accumulation is the primary cause that initiates the pathological cascade in AD ^{173,179–182}. Therefore, different approaches aiming to reduce A β accumulation through modulation, clearance or inhibition of A β aggregation are under study for AD treatment ^{341–343}. In the recent years these therapies have dominated AD clinical trials ³⁴⁴.

The main two strategies that are being studied regarding the reduction of brain A β are 1) the inhibition of BACE1 or γ -secretase enzymes to reduce A β production and 2) immunotherapy ³⁴⁵.

3.4.1.1 BACE1 and γ-secretase inhibitors

Both BACE1 and γ -secretase have other roles and other substrates in the cell besides APP.

BACE1 has over 100 substrates and it is known to be involved in axon myelination 346. BACE1 inhibitors are usually small molecules with oral bioavaibility and a good penetration through the BBB. MK-8931 is the most promising inhibitor. A phase Ib clinical trial has been completed showing safety and efficacy 347 and phase II/III clinical trials finished last year in prodromal and mild to moderate AD patients (NCT01739348/NCT01953601). Another inhibitor AZD 3293 is also in phase II/III and still under study (NCT02245737) ³⁴⁸. Recently, many BACE1 substrates have been discovered, increasing the fear of potential offtarget effects 347,349. In fact, the main concerns come from insufficient knowledge of the effects from BACE1 inhibition 196,350.

 γ -secretase is involved in the proteolysis of more than 90 other proteins. A particularly important substrate is Notch, which has influenced the generation of second-generation inhibitors which specifically aim to avoid side effects caused by Notch proteolysis inhibition ^{351,352}. However, the

results from clinical trials are not promising. BMS-708163 was the first second-generation molecule tested but was discontinued due to side effects such as stomach reactions and skin problems. In addition, no cognitive improvement was observed. New molecules such as NIC5-15 have shown security and safety and CHF-5074 has also shown clinical safety ^{348,353}.

3.4.1.2 Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy is one of the most attractive and promising areas of research for reducing cerebral A β levels ³⁵⁴. This group includes three different approaches: passive immunization, active immunization or intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG). It has been shown that immunoglobulins are able cross the BBB and act in the brain ³⁵⁵.

Passive immunization consists of an injection of exogenous prepared antibodies. The antibodies are usually humanized murine monoclonal antibodies or donor-derived human polyclonal. It is the most developed type of approach in clinical trials. This approach has several advantages such as the control of the final amount of the injected antibody in case of side effects and need of clearance and the possibility to be directed to several targets: APP, monomers, soluble oligomers or fibrils, as well as other Aβ carrier proteins. On the other hand, this therapy requires repeated infusions in order to be able to select the proper target and develop an immune reaction against the exogenous antibodies ^{356,357}. Moreover, it has shown side effects such as vascular edema and intracerebral microhemorrages called amyloid-related imaging abnormalities (ARIA) ³⁵⁸.

Several groups have shown the mechanism by which antibodies targeting the N-terminus region of A β inhibit A β aggregation ^{359–361}. Moreover, the peripheral administration of anti-A β antibodies in AD mouse models can reduce AP ³⁵⁵. Furthermore, the first humanized monoclonal antibody was bapineuzumab targeting the N-terminus region which strongly binds to AP and less to soluble monomers. Bapineuzumab showed safety and tolerance,

however did not demonstrate any therapeutic effects. Furthermore, it showed relevant side effects such as ARIA ^{341,362,363}. More examples include solanezumab, which is specific to the middle domain of A β and binds to monomeric soluble forms, and gantenerumab, which is a conformational antibody and binds to aggregated A β . The first showed a reduction of cognitive decline in mild to moderate patients, suggesting the importance of early stage treatment ³⁶⁴. The latter, gantenerumab in phase I showed reduction of AP. Both have a clinical trial ongoing with prodromal patients ^{348,363}. Finally, aducanumab reacts against soluble oligomers and insoluble fibrils, showing a reduction of A β in a dose and time-dependent manner. Phase III clinical trials are underway ^{348,365}.

Active immunization leads to the stimulation of the immune system to produce their own antibodies. The advantages of this approach are the length of the antibody response and a fewer number of vaccinations needed to generate polyclonal antibodies with multiple specificities. On the other hand, the longer the antibody response, the longer the side effects occur (even lifelong). Moreover, the variability in the response depends on the patient and the age, where the immune system in an older individual may not be as effective ³⁴⁵. AN-1792 was the first, containing a full-length preaggregated A β and an adjuvant. However, this vaccine showed severe side effects such as aseptic meningoencephalitis and no beneficial effects ^{354,363,366}. Another vaccine was CAD106 which contains A β_{1-6} fragment with an adjuvant. This vaccine did not show adverse effects but the clinical efficacy was not probed ^{357,367,368}.

Intravenous Ig (IVIG) is an alternative approach to passive immunotherapy which consists of the administration of antibodies present in a mixture of polyclonal antibodies prepared from blood plasma from more than thousand young and healthy humans ³⁵⁷. This treatment has been already used for other diseases such as immunodeficiency and inflammatory syndromes or cancer. IVIG showed high affinity for oligomers and low affinity for

monomers. Furthermore, IVIG treatment was reported to be safe and to cross the BBB. However, this treatment was not able to overcome phase III due to the lack of positive results. Although it showed positive results among APOE-e4 carriers ^{369–371}. At the end of 2017 the AMBAR clinical trial (NCT01561053) including IVIG was completed ³⁴⁸ but the results are not available.

3.4.2 Difficulties for new therapies

Since 2003 no new treatments have been approved by the FDA for AD. Moreover, there is a high attrition rate and a low success rate for advancing from one phase to another and also for regulatory review, which is the lowest rate in any therapeutic area. ³⁴⁴.

The main two problems faced during this year in the generation of new therapies for AD, particularly the ones targeting A β , are: 1) difficulties in crossing the BBB ³⁷² and 2) the selection of the patients that should be included in clinical trials. AD symptoms begin 10-20 years later than molecular pathological changes. As consequence, when the treatment is applied, it is too late because there is too much damage that is irreversible. Therefore, clinical trials should focus on prodromal or mild to moderate patients ³⁷³. Patients carrying genetic-causing mutations which will develop the disease early are being targeted ^{374,375}. In this direction, it is important to find an earlier marker to be able to diagnose AD earlier and to start treatment earlier ^{376–379}.

4. Plasma membrane and gangliosides

4.1 Plasma membrane composition; lipid rafts

Singer and Nicholson were the first to propose the fluid-mosaic model for biomembrane organization in 1972 ³⁸⁰. Differences in lipid composition creates different compartments depending on the lipid organization with specific functions such as signal transduction, membrane trafficking or plasticity. Moreover, lipid composition diverges across cell types, tissues and organelles^{381–383}.

Lipids rafts are present in both the inner and the outer leaflets and coupled across leaflets. Moreover, they are evolutionary conserved structures present in prokaryiotic and eukaryotic organisms ^{382,384–387}. The membrane laterally segregates its constituents to be able to coordinate all functions. Different investigations showed lateral segregation heterogeneity ^{388,389} suggesting that the lateral heterogeneities in the membrane form lipid rafts. This hypothesis was made based on the broad concept of lateral heterogeneity, which is caused by differential interaction between cholesterol, relatively saturated lipids and glycosylated lipids. Their differential interaction leads to the formation of relatively ordered, tightly packed and functionally active domains able to recruit proteins and lipids ^{390,391} (Fig 16).

Finally, in 2006 a new consensus and operational definition was made by specialists on the field. Lipid rafts were defined as small (10–200 nm) heterogeneous, highly dynamic (in terms of both lateral mobility and association-dissociation), cholesterol and sphingolipid-enriched nano-domains that compartmentalize cellular processes. Small rafts can sometimes be stabilized to form larger microscopic domains (>300 nm) upon clustering through protein-protein and protein-lipid interactions^{382,384–387}.

Originally, it was though that lipid raft formation was based on preferential interactions between sphingolipids and cholesterol ³⁹⁰. Sphingomyelin has also been identified as a main component of lipids rafts due to its strong

interaction with cholesterol ^{392–394}. On the other hand, cholesterol has been found in both raft and non-raft domains at high levels, hence, with an enrichment in raft domains ^{391,395}. Gangliosides, particularly GM1, have also been found to interact with cholesterol in ordered (raft-like) domains ^{396,397}. Finally, saturated hydrocarbon phospholipids have also been associated with raft-like domains ³⁹¹.

Lipid rafts are functional signaling platforms that regulate cellular functions. Lipid rafts localize, in proximity, membrane components to determine cell function and specificity. Moreover, they physically separate proteins present in rafts from non-rafts proteins. Protein content in raft-like and non-raft domains are not as well studied as lipid content. It is known that the proteins interacting via lipid anchors also follow the rules set by lipids: saturated lipid



Figure 16: Lipid raft composition and heterogeneity in cell membranes. Lipid rafts are small, heterogeneous and highly dynamic nano-domains that compartimentalize cellular membranes. Lipid rafts are platforms of signaling events. The main components are saturated phospho, sphingo- and glycolipids, cholesterol, lipidated proteins and GPI-anchored proteins. Differential interaction between cholesterol, saturated lipids and glycosylated lipids determine their lateral composition. This assemblage can be accessed and/or modulated by GPI-anchored proteins, certain transmembrane proteins, acylated cytosolic effectors and cortical actin. Gray proteins do not possess the specificity to associate with this membrane and are considered non-raft. GPL, glycerophospholipid; SM, sphingomyelin. Modified from Lingwood et al., 2010 ³⁸¹
anchors (such as glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins) tend to be found in ordered domains. Lipid rafts proteomics have shown the presence of receptors and channels, recognition molecules, coupling factors and enzymes (Table 4). All these proteins are able to facilitate interaction and support signaling ^{382,386,391,398}.

List of proteins
Caveolin-1
α-catenin
β-catenin
Fas/CD95
β-Actin
Ras
Integrin β-1
CD44

Table 4: Main proteins associated to lipids rafts

The main problem for lipid raft research has been the lack of accurate technical methods. First, lipid rafts were defined biochemically as detergent resistant membranes (DRMs) as they are resistant to non-ionic detergents (at low temperatures). Later, it was discovered that DRMs were not identical to lipid rafts. Moreover, new techniques have been found. However, the field is still looking for techniques that allow direct microscopic analysis of lipid rafts in living cells. As a consequence, the exact nature of rafts in live cells remains to be elucidated ^{386,390,391}.

Therefore, since the formulation of lipid rafts hypotheses they have been implicated in several physiological and pathological processes in neurons. Currently they are reported to be highly relevant in axonal growth ^{399–401}, synapse stabilization ⁴⁰² or conversion of prion proteins ^{403,404}.

4.2 Gangliosides

Gangliosides are a group of sialic acid-containing glycosphingolipids present in cell membranes, which contain a sialylated glycan attached to a ceramide core (Fig 17). Gangliosides can be found in all mammalian tissues. However, the brain, and particularly neurons, are enriched in gangliosides but they are still minority in neuronal membranes compared with other lipids (Fig 18). The 5 major gangliosides in the human brain are: GM1, GD1a, GD1b, GT1a, and GT1b ^{405–408}. It has been shown that rat cerebellar granule neurons contains 50 fmol/cell of glycerophospholipids, 5 fmol/cell of



Figure 17: GM1, GM2 and GM3 ganglioside structure. Gangliosides contain a ceramide core attached to a glycan structure. The glycan structure contains a sialic acid. From Kolter et al., 2010⁴⁰⁸

cholesterol, and 2 fmol/cell of sphingolipids (1 fmol/cell of gangliosides and 1 fmol/cell of sphingomyelin)⁴⁰⁹.

The sialyl glycan is composed by 3-8 saccharides with one or more sialic acid. There are four sialoglycan sequences in the brain. The major sialic acid in the brain is N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac). On the other hand, the ceramide core of the ganglioside is composed by a single fatty acid (C18:0, stearic acid) attached to one of two sphingosines, 2-amino-4-octadecene-1,3-diol (d18:1) and 2-amino-4-dodecene-1,3-diol (d20:1). It generates a ceramide which contains highly saturated carbon chains that preferentially associate with each other and other saturated lipid chains. Therefore, gangliosides enhance the lateral self-association of lipids in the membrane. Gangliosides nomenclature

contains information about the series (G= ganglio) and the number of sialic acids (A= 0, M=1, D=2, T=3) $^{405-407,410}$.

Gangliosides are diverse, and therefore they play a wide variety of roles in the brain. They are involved in cell adhesion, cell-cell recognition, intracellular trafficking, cell proliferation and differentiation, modulation of ion channels, calcium homeostasis, signal transduction and neurotransmitter release ^{405,411}. The main mechanism of action is by controlling protein activity and signaling. Gangliosides can modulate membrane composition allowing for the inclusion or exclusion of proteins in the lipid raft which ultimately, affects receptor trafficking and protein interaction. Moreover, gangliosides can work as co-receptors that aid in proper positioning of the ligand to maximally activate the main receptor. Finally, membrane gangliosides can interact directly or indirectly, with receptors and modulate their function ^{405,411}.

Figure 18: Gangliosides expression in different cell types. Fluorography from different cells incubated for 48h Sulfatide in the presence of $[^{14}C]$ galactose. Lane 1, primary culture of oligodendrocytes; lane 2, primary culture of astrocytes; lane 3, neuroblastoma cells (B104); lane 4, fibroblasts; lane 5, primary cerebellar culture. The mobility of the lipid standards is indicated in the right. From Van Echten-Deckert et al., 2006 407



4.2.1 Synthesis and degradation pathway

Ganglioside synthesis is a sequential pathway in which monosaccharide and sialic acid residues are added to the lipid moiety. This process is mainly catalyzed by glycosyltransferases present on the luminal leaflet of the Golgi membrane. However, ceramide synthesis and its first glycosylation by glucosylceramide synthase (ceramide glucosyltransferase-CGlcT) occur at the cytosolic side of the ER leading to the formation of glucosylceramides 405,407. The first glycosylation step in the Golgi is performed by galactosyl transferase I or lactosylceramide synthase (GalT I gene B4GALT5) to obtain lactosylceramides. Next, sialyltransferase I (SialTI gene ST3GALT5) also called GM3 synthase, adds a sialic acid to the chain to obtain GM3. GM3 is the simplest and the precursor of all types of complex gangliosides ⁴¹². Sialyltransferase II (SialTII or GD3 synthase) and Sialyltransferase III (SialTIII or GT3 synthase) sequentially add sialic acids leading to GD3 and GT3 formation. Until now, we have already obtained different precursors of ganglioside series. These series are characterized by the presence of 0 (0series), 1 (a-series), 2 (b-series) or 3 (c-series) sialic acids linked to the position 3 of the inner galactosyl residue ⁴¹³. Usually, sialic acid is bonded to the galactisyl residue through a α -2,3-linkage and to other sialic acid through α-2,8-linkage. GM3, GD3 and GT3 are the starting point of each series of gangliosides and seem to determine the relative amount of each series in the membrane⁴¹³. Sequential action of GalNAc (N-Acetyl-D-galactosamine) transferase, also called GM2/GD2 synthase (gene B4GALNT1) and galactosyl transferase II (GalTII) also called, GM1a/GD1b synthase (gene B3GALT4) leads to the formation of the rest of the gangliosides of the series (Fig 19)405,407,413,414.

Gangliosides are degraded on the surface of endosome and lysosome membranes after endocytosis. The degradation process is also a sequential process that functions to regulate gangliosides levels. Enzymes of the degradation pathway are soluble glycosidases that cleave monosaccharide units in a step-wise manner from the end of the oligosaccharide chain. For the degradation of gangliosides with less than four sugars chains, due to their solubility the enzymes need assistance of glycoprotein cofactors called saposins A to D (SAP A-D), sphingolipid activator proteins and GM2 activator protein (GM2AP). Enzymes without these cofactors are not able to degrade their membrane bound-substrates. The degradation enzyme of the pathway is β -galactosidase and requires the cofactors SAP-B and GM2AP to cleave the galactose of GM1 and GA1. In addition β -hexamidase requires the GM2AP to cleave the GalNAc from the end of GM2 and GA1. Finally, the sialidase requires SAP-B to cleave the sialic acid to GM3 (Fig. 5.4) $_{405,407,408,415}$.

To study the consequences of dysregulating each step of this sequential pathway, several knock-out mice have been generated. Brains of mice deficient in GM2/GD2 synthase contain large amount of GM3 and GD3 that compensate for the lack of complex gangliosides ⁴¹⁶. They have a normal lifespan but they show abnormal myelination, optic nerve degeneration and altered motor function ^{417,418}. Moreover, knock out mice lacking GD3 synthase completely lack b-series gangliosides. However, they have high levels of a-series gangliosides and exhibit almost a normal phenotype ⁴¹⁹. In mice lacking sialyltransferase I, formation of 0-series gangliosides are still permitted and neurological abnormalities are absent ⁴²⁰. Inactivation of both sialyltransferase I and GM2 synthase prevent ganglioside formation. Mice are viable but they suffer severe neurodegeneration ⁴²¹. In conclusion, it seems that complex gangliosides are required for the proper functioning of molecular pathways, but higher levels of 0 and a-series gangliosides are sufficient to maintain normal brain morphology ⁴¹⁷.

Defects in the degradation pathway result in the accumulation of gangliosides in the lysosomes and other compartments in the brain and other organs. Two examples are the GM1 gangliosidosis (β -galactosidase deficiency) and GM2 gangliosidosis (Tay-Sachs disease or β -hexamidase

53

deficiency)⁴⁰⁵. Congenital deficiencies in β -galactosidase and β -hexamidase lead to GM1 and GM2 accumulation, respectively, and subsequent neurodegeneration ^{422,423}.



Figure 19: Synthesis and degradation pathways of gangliosides. The synthesis pathway is catalyzed by glycosyltransferases. Until the formation of the glucosylceramides the transmembrane enzymes are localized in the ER. Then, glucosylceramides are transported to the Golgi to continue the process. Degradation takes place in the endosomes or lysosomes.

4.2.2 GM1 ganglioside

GM1 represents 10-20% of total brain content and is a marker for lipids rafts due to its enrichment in these regions. GM1 ganglioside is expressed in different brain cell types, but it is mostly expressed in neurons (Fig 18) ⁴⁰⁷. It is easy to detect using cholera toxin subunit B (CTX) ^{406,424,425}. Moreover, it is also the most studied ganglioside due to its involvement in several signaling processes through different mechanisms of action. GM1 contains a sialic acid (Fig 17) attached to the galactosyl residue (position II of the ganglioside) which gives a negative charge at physiological conditions (for free acid sialic pKa value is 2.6) ^{405,426}. Due to its particular α -2,3-linkage to the sialic acid, GM1 (and also GM2) sialic acid are resistant to hydrolytic removal by endogenous sialidases and also, by bacterial and viral sialidases ^{424,427}.

GM1 is localized in the plasma membrane, particularly enriched in the pre and post-synaptic membranes⁴²⁸, in the nuclear envelope ⁴²⁹, in the mitochondrial associated membranes (MAMs) ⁴³⁰ and the endosomes ^{425,431}

GM1 has been widely studied and has been involved in several cell roles such as the modulation of neuronal differentiation and neuritogenesis, modulation of ion channels and receptors, mirroring neurotrophins effect and pathological functions in AD or PD ^{424,425,432}.

GM1 is important for neuronal development and maturation. Different studies have shown low expression levels during early phases of neuron migration and a rapid upregulation of GM1 (and other gangliosides) during out-growth and synaptogenesis under physiological conditions ^{433,434}. In pathological conditions such as GM1 gangliosidosis models there are ectopic neurites specifically in neurites with high levels of GM1 ⁴³⁵. Supporting its role in neuritogenenesis, the treatment with GM1 has been shown to increase neurite out-growth in neuroblastoma ⁴³⁶ and primary neurons ⁴³⁷.

GM1 has also been shown to modulate sodium and calcium transport through the membrane. Studies in B4galnt1-/- mice show that GM1 controls Nav channel function through the modulation of lipid membrane integrity ⁴³⁸. Moreover, GM1 also regulates calcium homeostasis. GM1 potentiates the activity of a nuclear envelope Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger ⁴³⁹, indirectly activates calcium entry to the cell through transient receptor potential C5 (TRPC5) channel by cross-linking with α 5 β 1 integrin ⁴⁴⁰ and inhibits Ca²⁺ uptake via the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺⁻ATPase (SERCA)⁴⁴¹. Finally, GM1 accumulation leads to activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) through depletion of ER calcium stores ⁴⁴². Besides the UPR harmful effects, Ca²⁺ is uptaken by the mitochondria, that overload of Ca²⁺, which can result in apoptosis ⁴³⁰.

Several studies have shown that GM1 exhibits neuroprotective effects. Trk receptors co-localize and interact tightly with GM1 in lipid rafts ^{443–447}. Interestingly, exogenous administration of GM1 and semi-synthetic derivatives (LIGA20) have been shown to activate TrkB receptor ⁴⁴⁸. GM1 modulation of TrkB activity it is dependent of the glycosylation of the receptor ⁴²⁵. Moreover, TrkA receptor trafficking its dependent of GM1 ⁴⁴⁹. Finally, mice B4galnt1^{-/-} or ^{+/-} showing no or low levels of GM1 have GDNF signaling impaired ⁴⁵⁰.

In the substantia nigra of PD patients, the levels of GM1 are decreased ⁴⁵¹. Moreover, B4galnt1-/- mice showed altered movements and neuropathological symptoms common to PD ⁴⁵². Finally, clinical trials using exogenous administration of GM1 have showed partial restoration of striatal dopamine levels and nigrostriatal neuron recovery in a mouse model of PD (MPTP-treated) ^{453,454} and in primates ⁴⁵⁵. Finally, GM1's role in Alzheimer's disease will be discuss on the following section.

4.2.2.1 GM1, Aβ and Alzheimer Disease

In 1995, it was shown for the first time that $A\beta$ binds to GM1 in the neuronal membrane. Moreover, the $A\beta$ present in GM1-A β complexes is reported to have higher immunoreactivity than A β present in amyloid plaques, a unique molecular characteristic responsible for the initial deposition of A β ⁴⁵⁶. Later on, Choo-Smith *et al.* provided more information asserting that A β binds to membranes specifically containing GM1 and upon the binding A β undergoes a conformational transition to a rich β -sheet conformation ⁴⁵⁷. Interestingly, an increase in GM1 levels leads to clustering that serve as a conformational catalyst to generate A β with a seeding ability ⁴⁵⁸. A β oligomers strongly binds to GM1 which leads to a faster sequestration by membranes than monomers. Sialic acid has been shown to be required for this binding ^{457,459}. In fact, blocking the sialic acid in GM1 decreases the oligomer-mediated LTP impairment ²¹⁷.

Conversely, the treatment with exogenous GM1 has been shown to regulate APP proteolysis. GM1 modulates γ -secretase activity leading to an increase in A β production ⁴⁶⁰. Moreover, GM1 also binds to N-terminal domain of APP preventing the processing by the α -secretase ⁴⁶¹. Finally, there are evidences linking GM1 levels to AD. High levels of GM1 have been found in the CSF and in lipid rafts of neuronal membranes of AD patients which correlates with AP formation with and early AD outbreak ^{456,462}. Moreover, GM1-bound A β was found in CSF, showing a positive correlation with A β_{42} levels ²¹⁷.

4.2.2.2 GM1 and neurotransmission receptors

GM1 is enriched in lipids rafts, structures present in the active zone of the postsynaptic ending closely related to the PSD and where AMPARs and NMDARs are localized ^{463,464}. In fact, it is known that 60% of NMDAR are found in the lipid rafts ⁴⁶⁵. Precise localization of both receptors is important for their function.

Gangliosides, particularly GM1, can affect receptor trafficking. For example, AMPAR subunit GluR2 binds selectively to GM1 whereas the proteins involved in its internalization such as thorase, NSF and nicalin bind selectively to GT1b. As a consequence, alteration of any of these

gangliosides in the membrane results in an altered distribution of AMPARs containing GluR2 ⁴⁶⁶. The relationship between gangliosides and the major excitatory neurotransmission receptors needs to be further studied, but it could explain why congenital deficits in ganglioside biosynthesis pathway results in intellectual deficits and seizures ⁴⁰⁶.

Regarding cholesterol and NMDARs is it known that the removal of cholesterol from the cell and disrupting lipid rafts leads to a reduction of calcium entry through NMDARs, protecting the cell from excitotoxicity ⁴⁶⁷. AMPAR basal internalization has been shown to be reduced after cholesterol depletion ⁴⁶⁴. More research on the field is needed to understand how lipid raft content regulates trafficking and synaptic plasticity.

Finally, GM1 increase in a membrane model is able to induce tighter lipid packing due to GM1-GM1 interactions, altering membrane curvature and forming larger ordered clusters ⁴⁶⁸. More studies are needed to determine if changes in GM1 or other gangliosides concentrations modify NMDAR and AMPAR function and activity. These modifications in membrane conditions could directly or indirectly affect receptors through indirect contact with channel-modulating proteins.



OBJECTIVES

The main goals of the present thesis are to study ganglioside/glycosphingolipid alterations due to aging and its consequences on neuronal function, particularly on NMDAR and to study mechanisms to decrease $A\beta$ oligomerization and neurotoxicity.

It is known that the aging process leads to neuronal molecular modifications. Several authors have linked GM1 ganglioside to AD by increasing Aβ aggregation. However, there are controversial results reported on GM1 content in aging, which is the main risk factor for AD. It explains our attempt to study ganglioside/glycosphingolipid modification during aging. Furthermore, both non-pathological aging and AD are associated with cognitive deficits at different degrees. For this reason, we have addressed the study of NMDAR function in aging. Overall, we propose that glycosphingolipid alteration, particularly GM1 increase, could be able to modify NMDAR activity.

A β aggregation turns amyloid into neurotoxic species. Therefore, the inhibition of A β aggregation is one of the main research targets in AD. Several studies have shown the potential effectivity of immunotherapy in AD. We attempt to study the molecular mechanism by which IgG treatment could affect A β aggregation and neurotoxicity. Moreover, we aim to determine the region of the immunoglobulin able to bind A β peptide.

The specific aims of the present thesis are:

- The study of the molecular processing pathway of membrane glycosphingolipid alterations in neuronal aging.
- The study of the consequences of these alterations in glycosphyingolipid processing pathway in neuronal function, particularly on NMDAR activity.
- The study of the effect of human IgG on $A\beta$ aggregation and neurotoxicity.
- The identification of the IgG region important for its interaction with Aβ.



Chapter 1

The increase in GM1 ganglioside during aging reduces hippocampal NMDA receptor function and spine density

Victòria Valls-Comamala, Daniela Gutierrez, Lina M. Vargas, Marta Tajes, Marta Puig, Adrián Martin, Albert Lleó, Josefina Casas, Gemma Fabriàs, Carlos Dotti, Jana Selent, Alejandra R. Álvarez, Francisco J. Muñoz.

The increase in GM1 ganglioside during aging reduces hippocampal NMDA receptor function and spine density

Victòria Valls-Comamala¹, Daniela Gutierrez², Lina M. Vargas², Marta Tajes¹, Marta Puig-Tintó¹, Adrián Martin³, Albert Lleó⁴, Josefina Casas⁵, Gemma Fabriàs⁵, Carlos Dotti³, Jana Selent⁵, Alejandra R. Álvarez², Francisco J. Muñoz^{1.}

¹ Laboratory of Molecular Physiology, Faculty of Health and Life Sciences, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, 08003 Barcelona, Spain

² Cell Signaling Laboratory, Department of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Biological Science, Pontificia Universidad Católica, Santiago, Chile.

³ Centro de Biologia Molecular Severo Ochoa, CSIC-UAM, 28049 Madrid, Spain

⁴ Memory Unit, Department of Neurology, Hospital de la Santa Creu i Sant Pau, Biomedical Research Institute Sant Pau, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

⁵ Research Unit on Bioactive Molecules (RUBAM), Department of Biomedicinal Chemistry, Institute for Advanced Chemistry of Catalonia (IQAC),08034 Barcelona, Spain.

⁶ GPCR Drug Discovery Group, Research Programme on Biomedical Informatics (GRIB), Universitat Pompeu Fabra (UPF)-Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Parc de Recerca Biomèdica de Barcelona (PRBB), 08003 Barcelona, Spain.

Summary

Brain aging involves neurophysiological changes leading to cognitive decline even in the absence of pathology. GM1 is a ganglioside highly present in neurons, which is enriched in the postsynaptic terminal where NMDA receptors (NMDAR) are highly expressed. In the present study, we have analysed the glycosphingolipid/ganglioside content in murine hippocampus and primary neuronal cultures showing a consistent increase in GM1 and GM2 gangliosides in aging. Furthermore, we have studied the consequences of GM1 increase in synaptic function. Our dendritic spine study has shown a reduced spine density in GM1-enriched neurons, mimicking the effect observed in aged neurons. Moreover, in GM-enriched neurons, and not in GM2-enriched neurons, there is decrease in calcium entry after NMDA stimulation, mimicking the results we obtained in aged neurons. GM1 acts as a negative allosteric modulator of NMDAR, and our molecular dynamics simulation have shown that is partially through direct interactions with the ligand binding domain of these receptor. In conclusion, we have showed for the first time the consequences of the GM1 increase on NMDA receptor function, linking the increased levels of GM1 to the cognitive defects associated to brain aging.

1. Introduction

Nowadays, humanity is facing a demographic challenge. In 2010, an estimated 524 million people were aged 65 or older population. By 2050, this number is expected to triple, about 1.5 billion (Suzman & Beard 2011). Furthermore, the main risk factor for cognitive decline and neurodegenerative disease such as Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is aging (Bishop et al. 2010; Suzman & Beard 2011).

Brain aging leads to stereotypical and neurophysiological changes and a variable cognitive decline even in absence of pathology. This cognitive impairment is caused by the loss of coordination between high-order brain cognition areas (Bishop et al. 2010; Yankner et al. 2008; Jagust 2013; Andrews-Hanna et al. 2007).

Synapses depend on the properties of their pre- and postsynaptic membranes to allow neurotransmission. Synapses are particularly rich in lipid rafts, which have a high concentration of cholesterol and sphingolipids (Simons & Ikonen 1997; Wang & Silvius 2003; Sodt et al. 2015; Ramstedt & Slotte 1999; Levental et al. 2010), providing the required fluidity. Gangliosides are a group glycosphingolipids, which contain a sialylated glycan attached to a ceramide core (Supplementary figure 1a). The five major gangliosides in the human brain are GM1, GD1a, GD1b, GT1a, and GT1b (Ryan et al. 2013; Schnaar 2016; van Echten-Deckert & Herget 2006). GM1 ganglioside has special relevance for neurons (van Echten-Deckert & Herget 2006) and represents 10-20% of total lipid brain content. It is mostly expressed in neurons and it is found in the plasma membrane, where is enriched in pre- and post-synaptic membranes (Ledeen 1978). Interestingly, GM1 is particularly abundant in lipid rafts (Lozano et al. 2013; Harder et al. 1998) where 60% of NMDAR are found (Wheeler et al. 2009; Suzuki et al. 2011; Hering et al. 2003). Precise localization of the receptor is important for its function. Therefore, gangliosides and particularly GM1 membrane levels are important to keep its correct function. GM1 has been demonstrated to induce tighter lipid packing due to GM1-GM1 interactions, modifying membrane curvature, forming larger ordered clusters and facilitating segregation (Patel et al. 2016).

Here, we have studied the modifications in neuronal and brain gangliosides during the aging process. Particularly, we showed an increase in GM1 and GM2 in the hippocampus in vivo and in primary neurons. Finally, we studied the consequences of GM1 and GM2 increase in NMDA receptors activity, showing a reduction in the activity of these channels when GM1 is increased which leads to a reduction in the dendritic spine density.

2. Results

2.1 GM1, GM2 and lactosylceramides levels are increased in the hippocampus from aged mouse.

There is controversy regarding ganglioside expression, particularly GM1, during aging. GM1 has been postulated to be a leading cause of β -amyloid peptide (A β) aggregation (Choo-Smith & Surewicz 1997; Ariga et al. 2001) and therefore, AD. Here, we quantified the glycosphingolipid and ganglioside levels by mass spectrometry in hippocampi from 2 (young), 7 (adult) and 21 (aged) month-old mice (Figure 1). We observed an increase in the levels of glucosylceramides, lactosylceramides, GM3, GM2 and GM1 (Figure 1b-f) during hippocampal maduration (young to adult). Furthermore, we found an increase in lactosylceramides, GM2 and GM1 during the aging process in the hippocampus (adult to aged, Figure 1c,e and f). Figure 1h shows the relative increase of each glycosphingolipid compared with the levels in young hippocampus showing an increase localized in the A-series of the ganglioside pathway (Supplementary figure 1b).

Next, we determined the levels of the ganglioside synthesis pathway enzymes (Supplementary figure 1b). We analyzed by western blot B4GALT5, STGAL5, B4GALNT1 and B3GALT4 protein levels in the hippocampus without observing statistical differences between adult and aged (Supplementary figure 2). Supplementary figure 2f shows a diagram of the results obtained in this section.

2.2 GM1 and GM2 levels are increased in aged hippocampal primary neurons

To be able to directly study neuronal cells, we cultured primary hippocampal neurons for 14 days in vitro (DIV), as mature neurons, and 24 DIV, for the study of aged neurons (Sodero et al. 2011). We quantified the glycosphingolipid and ganglioside levels by mass spectrometry at 14 and 24 DIV (Figure 2), observing an increase in GM1 and GM2 gangliosides during aging (Figure 2e and f). Figure 2h shows the relative increase of each glycosphingolipid compared with the levels in control cells (14DIV) showing a specific increase centered of the A-series of the ganglioside pathway.

We determined by western blot the levels of the synthesis enzymes in neurons. We found an increase in the protein levels of B4GALT5, STGAL5, B4GALNT1, but no significant changes in B3GALT4 protein expression (Supplementary figure 3). Supplementary figure 3f shows a diagram of the results obtained in this section.

2.3 GM1 increase in primary neurons decreases dendritic spine density

Aging process has been linked to a decline in learning and memory. GM1, is present in the entire neuronal membrane surface, but with a higher concentration in the synaptic terminal (Aureli et al. 2016). Therefore, we hypothesized that GM1 could have a role in

the impairment of synaptic plasticity during aging. For this reason, we treated 13 DIV hippocampal neurons with GM1 ganglioside (500 nM) and neuraminidase from Vibrio Cholerae (NVC-0.03 U/mL) for 24h without causing neurotoxicity (Supplementary figure 4a). Exogenous GM1 can be integrated in the membrane and enter to the natural glycosphingolipid pathway. However, only GM1 monomers enter the plasma membranes, whereas GM1-micelles bind to cell surface interacting with proteins (Aureli et al. 2016; Sagr et al. 1993; Simons et al. 1999; Leskawa et al. 1989). Moreover, GM1 and GM2 particular α -2,3-linkage to the sialic acid are resistant to hydrolytic removal by bacterial neuraminidases (Ledeen & Wu 2015; Monti & Miyaqi 2012) whereas the sialic acid linkages to complex gangliosides (GTs and GDs) are hydrolyzed becoming GMs during NVC treatment. Therefore, neurons treated with GM1 and NVC will have increased levels of these gangliosides in the membrane. However, our quantification by western blot (Supplementary figure 4b-c) only showed a significant increase in GM1 in neurons treated with NVC. We also analyzed GM1 levels by immunofluorescence (Supplementary figure 4d) observing an increase in GM1 after both treatments. We next analyzed the spine density and the percentage of the spine density in neurons with GM1enriched membranes and aged neurons (Figure 3). Our findings indicates that GM1 increase reduce the density of dendritic spines (Figure 3a,b,e). Moreover, in aged neurons we also observed a reduction in dendritic spine density (Figure 3c,d). Probably, there are other factors involved in the reduction of dendritic spines during aging but our results indicate that GM1 would be playing a key role in this process.

2.4 GM1 levels in the membrane modify calcium response to NMDA

Considering that GM1 has been linked to calcium homeostasis (Wu et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2007; Ginzburg et al. 2007) and that is highly concentrated in the synaptic terminal, our next aim was to study the consequences of the increase of GM1 in neurons in the response to NMDA stimulation using calcium imaging. NMDA response is linked to synaptic plasticity and, therefore, to aging. NMDARs are heterotetrameric cationic channels that allow Ca²⁺ influx. In the adult brain, NMDARs in the hippocampus contain two GluN1 subunits and either two GluN2A or GluN2B subunits (Wang et al. 2014; Mayer et al. 1984; Lind et al. 2017; Vicini et al. 1998; Forsythe & Westbrook 1988). We increased GM1 levels in the membrane of hippocampal neurons treating them with GM1 ganglioside (500nM) and NVC (0.03 U/mL) for 24h. Treated and control neurons were loaded with the cytosolic calcium dye fura-2 AM. Stimulation with the NMDAR synthetic agonist NMDA generated a decreased calcium entry to the cytosol in neurons with high levels of GM1 (Figure 4a–c). Nevertheless, the opposite effect was observed when cells were stimulated with a physiological stimulus such as high potassium. Upon application

of a high potassium solution, which depolarizes cell membrane and activates voltagegated calcium channels, we observed an increase in calcium entry to the cytosol in neurons with high levels of GM1 (Figure 4d–f). Thus, it appears that this effect is specific, although perhaps not exclusive, to NMDAR.

We also explored the effect of NMDAR stimulation in aged neurons. Besides having higher levels of GM1, aged neurons also suffer other alterations. Interestingly, we also observed a decrease in the entry of calcium to the cytosol in response to NMDA (Figure 4g–i). Moreover, upon the application of high potassium solution, we observed an increase in calcium entry (Figure 4j–I).

In addition, we tested the levels of the different NMDAR subunits after the treatments or in aged neurons by western blot. We did not observe differences in the levels of the different subunits in any condition (Supplementary figure 5a-h).

Finally, we tested the specificity of GM1 ganglioside in modifying NMDAR function by treating hippocampal primary neurons with GM2 for 24h without causing neurotoxicity (Supplementary figure 4a) and then, stimulating them with NMDA. We did not observe differences in the calcium response (Supplementary figure 6a-c). Neither, we observed difference after the application of high potassium solution (Supplementary figure 6d-f). Thus, differences in calcium entry of aged neurons appear to be a GM1 specific effect.

2.5 GM1 interacts with the ligand binding domain of NMDAR

Our previous results provide evidence that GM1 acts as a negative allosteric modulator (NAM) of the NMDAR. There are two possible scenarios for the NAM action of GM1: (i) GM1 could regulate the NMDAR function by direct specific contacts with the protein surface of the channel and/or (ii) GM1 could alter NMDAR function by modulating membrane properties such as fluidity, condensation and curvature. In this respect immunoprecipitation experiments (Supplementary figure 5i) suggests that GM1 is tightly bound to the NMDAR, thus indicating that part of its NAM action is mediated via direct contacts. In order to understand better the underlying molecular mechanism, we carried out short molecular dynamics simulation of the NMDAR embedded into a GM1-enriched membrane (Figure 5). GM1 consists of a glycosylated ceramide with the ceramide being inside the membrane and the oligosaccharide chain exposed to the extracellular region. Not surprisingly, we find that the ceramide fragment of the GM1 interacts with the transmembrane domain of the NMDAR in the upper leaflet of the membrane (Figure 5b). However, in contrast to non-glycosylated ceramides or phospholipids (e.g. 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoylphosphatidylcholine (POPC)), we observe that the oligosaccharide chain is able to interact with the ligand binding domain (LBD) of the NMDAR - an important region where agonists bind for channel activation (see white arrows, Figure 5). The detected

GM1-LDB interaction could be critical for reducing the effect of ligands (i.e. NAM action) and thus NMDAR activity.

2.6 Glycosphingolipids and ganglioside levels in AD patients are not altered.

Genetic and environmental factors determine the individual vulnerability to physiological or pathological aging. It is unclear if there is a continuum between both types of aging because hallmarks of pathological aging such as $A\beta$ in AD are present in 20-40% of old individuals cognitively normal (Jagust 2013; Imhof et al. 2007; Armstrong 2012; Mann & Jones 1990; Serrano-Pozo et al. 2011; Selkoe 2001). However, it is believed that boundaries in between normal and pathological aging are weak and aging is a core process on neurodegenerative diseases (Mattson & Magnus 2006; Jagust 2013).

Accordingly to previous studies, GM1 has been involved in A β aggregation process and AD (Choo-Smith & Surewicz 1997; Ariga et al. 2001). Moreover, aging is the main factor for AD. Therefore, we decided to quantify glycosphingolipids and gangliosides in hippocampal samples (Supplementary figure 7) and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Table 1) from AD patients and non-demented controls by mass spectrometry. We did not observe any differences in the ganglioside and glycosphingolipid quantification between AD and control patients in the hippocampus. Furthermore, we were not able to detect gangliosides in CSF. We were only able to detected ceramides, sphingomyelin, glucosylceramides and dihydrosphingomyelin in a common pool of 5 non-demented controls and 5 AD. Higher levels of all of them were detected in the pool of AD patients CSF compared to the pool of controls.

3. Discussion

Aging is associated to cognitive decline even in absence of pathology. It is believed that in pathological aging there are increased molecular alterations compared to physiological aging. Accordingly, new studies are needed to unveil the mechanisms behind the aging process, in order to define new strategies to reduce pathological symptoms and to preserve cognitive functions in physiological and pathological aging.

Previous studies have been controversial about glycosphingolipid/ganglioside alterations in aging (Kracun et al. 1991; Sasaki et al. 2015; Ohsawa 1989). Our results demonstrate an increase of GM1 and GM2 in the cell membrane *in vivo* and *in vitro*, while glucosylceramides are increased only *in vitro*, during the aging process. Interestingly, we have found that high levels of GM1 in the neuronal membrane leads to a reduction in the calcium entry to the cytosol through NMDARs. Moreover, GM1 increase can mimic the decrease in calcium entry observed in aged neurons. This effect is specific for GM1 and NMDAR, because of (i) an increase of GM2 does not cause any

modification in NMDAR function and (ii) it is observed an increase in calcium entry in aged neurons after the stimulation with high potassium. Finally, we have showed that GM1 increase leads to a reduction in synaptic spine density, therefore reducing the number of excitatory synapses.

To further study the causes of the modifications in the glycosphingolipid/ganglioside membrane levels due to aging, we have analyzed the ganglioside synthesis pathway. Activity of the degradation pathway has already been shown to be increased in AD (Magini et al. 2015) and in aging (Dong et al. 2011). We have not been able to detect enzyme expression differences in the synthesis pathway between aged and adult *in vivo*. However, in hippocampal primary neurons, we have observed and increased expression of B4GALT5 (lactosylceramide synthase), ST3GALT5 (GM3 synthase), B4GALNT1 (GM2 synthase) whereas no significant difference in B3GALT4 (GM1 synthase) expression was observed. Our data is consistent with previous studies in endothelial cells showing an increase in GM1 levels and alterations in the synthesis pathway in senescence and senescence-induced cells (Sasaki et al. 2015).

Our results showed that dendritic spine density is reduced in aged neurons and in GM1enriched neurons. We have increased GM1 levels by using two different treatments to prove our results and discard unspecific effects. Previous studies showed that exogenous GM1 increase neuritogenesis (Purpura & Baker 1978; Facci et al. 1984; Skaper et al. 1985). However, these studies were performed in other cellular models and focusing on neuronal maturation process. Therefore, we have showed for the first time the deleterious effect of GM1 increase in dendritic spine density in mature neurons.

In addition, NMDARs function is reduced due to the specific increase of GM1 in the membrane. Both treatments to increase GM in the neuronal membrane, exogenous GM1 and NVC, have shown a reduction in calcium entry to the cytosol after the stimulation with NMDA, mimicking the pattern observed in aged neurons. GM1 acts as a negative allosteric modulator of NMDAR, partially through direct interactions with the ligand binding domain of the receptor as our molecular dynamics simulation have shown. Moreover, any of the treatments reduced the total expression of NMDAR subunits, but we cannot discard that the increase in GM1 in the membrane lead to an alteration of the distribution or trafficking of some subunits modifying channel's activity. Interestingly, GM2 increase in the membrane did not modify NMDARs activity and calcium entry to the cytosol.

On the other hand, GM1 increase leads to an enhanced calcium entry through voltage gated calcium channels (VGCC) after depolarization with high potassium solution, mimicking the results obtained in aged cells. There are no previous studies in neurons

72

regarding VGCC and GM1 ganglioside, so further studies are needed to determine GM1 role on this channel function.

Our study in human hippocampus did not show differences between non-demented controls and AD groups. Since GM1 is highly expressed in neurons, our main hypothesis is that the quantification in post-mortem and advanced AD stage patients with high levels of neurodegeneration is not the optimal for GM1 differences detection. More studies in previous stages of AD samples should be done to determine if GM1 could be involved in the transition from aging to AD.

In conclusion, our finding demonstrates a key role of GM1 in neuronal synaptic function. Further studies are needed to determine GM1 physiological and pathological roles since GM1 is highly expressed in lipids rafts (Aureli et al. 2016), where it contacts with a wide number of proteins and lipids. Therefore, besides its ability to initiate and accelerate A β aggregation cascade (Ariga et al. 2008; Choo-Smith & Surewicz 1997; Ariga et al. 2001) GM1 would be also playing a role in the synaptic deregulation, which could be important for both pathological aging and AD progression.

4. Experimental Procedures

Mice

Six young (2 month), six adults (7 months) and six old (21 months) male C57BL6 mice were used for protein and ganglioside quantification. Hippocampi were dissected at indicated ages, and homogenized on ice in lysis buffer for WB detection or in PBS for lipidomics as indicated in the procedures below. The procedure was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institut Municipal d'Investigacions Mèdiques-Universitat Pompeu Fabra (EC-IMIM-UPF).

Hippocampal primary cultures

Mouse cortical neurons were isolated from 18-day-old CD1 embryos. The procedure was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institut Municipal d'Investigacions Mèdiques-Universitat Pompeu Fabra (EC-IMIM-UPF). Hippocampi were aseptically dissected in ice-cold HBSS (Life Technologies) supplemented with 4.5 g/L glucose (Sigma-Aldrich) and trypsinized for 17 min at 37°C. After 3 washes in HBSS+glucose and mechanical dissociation, cells were seeded on DMEM (Life Technologies) containing 10% horse serum (Life Technologies) onto 1% poly-D-Lysine (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) coated plates. Cells were placed into an humidified incubator containing 95% air and 5% of CO₂. After 2 h, medium was removed and Neurobasal medium (Life Technologies) was added supplemented with 2% B27 supplement (Gibco BRL), 1% GlutaMAX (Life Technologies) and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin. On day 3 of culture (DIV), cells were treated with 2 µM

1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (AraC; Sigma) for 24 h to eliminate proliferating nonneuronal cells. For the experiments, primary neurons were kept in culture for 14 (fully mature) and 24 (aged) days in vitro (DIV). At 14 DIV, neurons are fully mature and polarized, expressing all the functional receptors required for their proper function and we can study the structure and morphology of the dendrites. At 24 DIV neurons are used for aging studies. Aged cultures have been widely used as a model of aging by several authors because they recapitulate the aging process (Sodero et al. 2011).

Cell culture treatments

Neurons were treated with 500 nM GM1 ganglioside (Sigma), 0.03 U/mL neuraminidase from *Vibrio Cholerae* (NVC) (Sigma) or 500 nM GM2 ganglioside (Sigma) at 13 DIV.

Ganglioside quantification

Neurons were seeded in a 6 cm dish (750.000 cells/dish) and grown for 14 and 24 DIV. Next, they were washed twice with 1× PBS and centrifuged at 1800 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C. The pellet was frozen in liquid nitrogen for ganglioside and glycosphingolipid quantification. Briefly, lipid extraction and processing were performed as reported previously (Canals et al. 2009; Munoz-Olaya et al. 2008) Lipid analysis was carried out by ultraperformance liquid chromatography coupled to time-of-flight (TOF) mass spectrometry in positive electrospray ionization mode. Instrument conditions were set as in previous studies (Canals et al. 2009; Munoz-Olaya et al. 2008).

Dendritic spines quantification

Neurons were seeded in a 24-well plate (80.000 cells/well). At 12 and 22 DIV neurons neurons were transfected using Magnetofection technology (OZ BIOSCIENCES, Marseille cedex, FRANCE) and the reagent Neuromag specific for neurons with a GFP expression plasmid (pEGFP). At 13 and 23 DIV neurons were treated with GM1 and NVC during 24h. Cells were washed twice in PBS, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde-4% sucrose in PBS for 10 minutes. For the quantification of dendritic spines, we used TRITC–phalloidin (ECM Biosciences, Versailles, KY, USA) to label actin, which allowed us to quantify dendritic length and the total number of spines. The cells were mounted in mounting medium and visualised using a Zeiss LSM 5 Pascal confocal microscope (NA 1.4) for the acquisition of sequential images of each fluorophore at maximum resolution (102461024 pixels). The images were processed using ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, MA, USA). The dendritic length and the total number of spines values were normalized to the number of spines per 10 µm in each condition.

Immunofluorescence

Neurons plated into coverslip in 24 well plate (75.000 cells/well) were treated with GM1 (500nM) and NVC (0.03U/mL) for 24h at 13 DIV. At 14 DIV neurons were incubated with cholera toxin subunit B alexa 488-fluor conjugate (Thermo-Fisher Scientific) for 20 min at room temperature (RT). Following, cells were washed twice in PBS, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde-4% sucrose in PBS for 10 minutes. The cells were mounted in mounting medium and images were taken with Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope (63x objective) and analyzed with Leica confocal software.

Cell viability

Neurons were seeded in a 96-well plate $(1x10^4 \text{ cells/well /100 }\mu\text{L/well})$. Treatments were added to Neurobasal without phenol red supplemented with 1% GlutaMAX (Life Technologies) and cells were treated for 24 h at 37°C. Cell viability was tested by 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction. Briefly, 11 μ L of MTT stock solution (Sigma Aldrich; 5 mg/mL) were added; after 2 h the media was replaced with 100 μ L of DMSO. MTT absorbance was determined in an Infinite 200 multiplate reader (Tecan) at A540 nm and corrected by A650 nm. Untreated cells were taken as 100%.

Calcium analysis

Neurons were seeded into coverslip in a 24 well plate (75.000 cells/well). Cytosolic Ca²⁺ signal was determined at RT in cells loaded for 45 min with 4.5 μ M FURA 2-AM (Life Technologies) and 0.02% pluronic and washed with isotonic solution containing 2.5 mM KCl, 140 mM NaCl, 2 mM CaCl₂, 0.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM glucose and 10 mM HEPES (305 mOsm, pH 7.4). Experiments were performed at RT using a custom-made recording chamber on a NIKON inverted microscope (×20 objective). Excitation at 340 and 380 nm was supplied by a xenon arc lamp with an optical filter changer. Emitted fluorescence at 510 nm images were acquired every 5 s with a digital camera (Hamamatsu Photonics), controlled and analysed with the AquaCosmos software. Cytosolic calcium levels were calculated as the ratio of emitted fluorescence at 510 nm following excitation at 340 and 380 nm (340/380 ratio) and are corrected for the basal individual fluorescence measured prior to cell stimulation (F/Fo). During all the experiment cells were bathed in the isotonic solution previously described. Cells were stimulated with 20 µM NMDA (Tocris) for 5 min or high potassium solution containing 52,5 mM KCl, 90 mM NaCl, 2 mM CaCl₂, 0.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM glucose and 10 mM HEPES (305 mOsm, pH 7.4) for 3 min.

Protein levels detection and quantification by Western Blot

Hippocampal neurons and hippocampi were lysed on ice with a solution containing 1x PBS, 0,1% triton, protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Protein concentration was determined by Pierce® BCA protein assay kit (Thermoscientific). Protein samples were electrophoretically resolved using Nu-PAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris Protein Gels (Life Technologies) with MOPS running buffer. Gels were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes using a dry blotting system (Life Technologies). After blocking the membranes for 1h with 5% non-fat milk 0.05% Tween-TBS or 5% BSA-TBS, they were probed overnight with the indicated antibodies at 4°C (Table 2). HRP-linked goat anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:2500, GE Healthcare UK limited) was used at RT for 1 h and membranes were developed using the ECL Substrate (Thermo Scientific) in the ChemiDoc MP imaging system (Bio-Rad). Bands were quantified with ChemiDoc MP.

Immunoprecipitation of NMDAR

Cells were washed three times in PBS and Iysed on ice with a solution containing 1x PBS, 0,1% triton, protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). GluN1 was immunoprecipitated with the mouse monoclonal anti-NR1 antibody (Thermo Fisher) using magnetic beads (Life Technologies), using a modified protocol of the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 2 μ g of antibody were bound to 1.5 mg Dynabeads ProteinG in 200 μ L of Tween-20 PBS for 1h at RT. The beads were washed and incubated with 500 μ L of Iysate o/n at 4°C. The supernatant was removed, the beads were washed thoroughly and the antigen was eluted with a 67:30:3 mixture of 50 mM Glycine pH 2.8, LDS Sample Buffer (Life Technologies) and Reducing Agent (Life Technologies) and incubated at 70°C for 10 min before running the samples in a protein gel.

Structural model of the NMDA receptor embedded in a GM1-enriched POPC membrane The model was generated using the crystal structure of the GluN1/GluN2B NMDA receptor (PDB code: 4TLL (Lee et al. 2014)). In a first step, the GluN1/GluN2B NMDA receptor was curated (e.g. addition of missing atoms, assignment of protonation states, etc.) using the structure preparation tool of the MOE package (www.chemcomp.com). Afterwards, the curated NMDA model was embedded into a hydrated and ionized membrane composed of POPC and GM1 using the CHARMM-GUI web-based Graphical User Interface (Jo et al. 2008) yielding a system of approximately 380000 atoms. The entire protein-membrane system was equilibrated using NAMD (Phillips et al. 2005) and the standard protocol provided by CHARMM-GUI. Finally, short NVT productions runs were carried out using the ACEMD simulation engine (Harvey et al. 2009) and the CHARMM36m force field to confirm structural stability of the obtained protein-membrane system.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM of *n* independent experiments as indicated in the corresponding figures. Statistical analyses were performed by one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's or Newman-Keuls post hoc analysis for more than two sets of data or Student unpaired t test for two sets of data using GraphPad software.

5. Tables

Table 1

CSF pool	СТ	AD
Ceramides	28	56
Sphingomyelin	2262	2532
Glucosylceramides	190	258
Dihydrosphingomyelin	2316	2587

TABLE 1 Sphingolipids and glycosphingolipids quantification from CSF from non-demented humans and AD patients. Quantification by TOF mass spectrometry of a CSF pool of 5 controls and 5 AD patients. Expressed as pmol/mL.

Table 2

Name	Reference	Brand	Dilution
NMDAR1	32-0500	Thermo Fisher	1/500
NMDAR 2A	ab1555P	Abcam	1/500
NMDAR 2B clone N59/36	73-101	NeuroMab Antibodies Inc.	1/200
α-tubulin	T6074	Sigma	1/10.000
B3GALT4	ab169759	Abcam	1/1000
B4GALNT1	ab173966	Abcam	1/500
B4GALT5	ab155905	Abcam	1/500
ST3GAL5	ab155671	Abcam	1/1000

TABLE 2 List of antibodies used for WB quantification.







FIGURE 1 Lactosylceramides, GM1 and GM2 levels increase during aging in mice hippocampus. Ceramides (a), glucosylceramides (b), lactosylceramides (c), GM3 (d), GM2(e), GM1(f) and GD1 (g) quantification of mouse hippocampi from young (2 months), adult (7 months) and aged (21 months) by TOF mass spectrometry. H) Relative increase between adult and aged compared to young of the previously mentioned glycosphingolipids and gangliosides. Data are mean \pm SEM of 6 independent animals/group. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA using Newman-Keuls post test *p<0.05 compared with young : **p<0.01 compared with young; **p<0.05 compared with young; #p<0.05 compared with adult; ### p<0.001 compared with adult by one-way ANOVA. mo: months



FIGURE 2 GM2 and GM1 levels increase during aging in cultured hippocampal neurons. Ceramides (a), glucosylceramides (b), lactosylceramides (c), GM3 (d), GM2 (e), GM1 (f) and GD1 (g) quantification of control (14 DIV) and aging (24 DIV) neurons by TOF mass spectrometry. Data are mean ± SEM 6 independent experiments. (h) Relative increase between aging and control cells of the previously obtained quantification of glycosphingolipids and gangliosides. Statistical analysis was performed by t-test *p<0.05.



FIGURE 3 Dendritic spines density is reduced in neurons with high levels of GM1 and aging neurons. GM1 levels are increased in cultured primary neurons due to the treatment with GM1 (500 nM) and NVC (0.03 U/mL) for 24h leading to a reduction in spine density (a,b). Aged neurons also showed a reduced spine density (c,d). (e) Representative images taken by confocal microscopy of each condition labelling EGFP. Data are mean \pm SEM of 2 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA using Bonferroni post test or t-test *p<0.05; **p<0.01; # p<0.05.



FIGURE 4 High GM1 levels and aging decrease calcium entrance in response to NMDA in cultured hippocampal neurons. Neurons were treated with GM1 (500 nM) and NVC (0.03 U/mL) for 24h, and were stimulated with 20 μ M NMDA (a) or 52.5 mM KCl (d). Data are mean ± SEM between 115 and 212 cells for (a) and between 119 and 164 (d). The area under the curve (AUC) (b,e) and the maximum response peak (c,f) were calculated for each cell response. Aged and control neurons were stimulated with 20 μ M NMDA (g) or 52.5 mM KCl (j). Data are mean ± SEM 114–119 cells for (g) and 100–106 for (j). The area under the curve (AUC) (h,i) and the maximum response peak (k, I) were calculated for each cell response. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA Bonferroni post test and t-test (for two groups) *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.01; ##p<0.01; ##p<0.01



FIGURE 5 NMDA receptor structure simulation with GM1-enriched membranes showing the interaction between GM1 and NMDAR. (a) Crystal structure of the GluN1/GluN2B NMDA receptor (PDB ID: 4TLL). GluN1 subunits are shown in blue and GluN2B subunits in orange. (b) Structural model of the GluN1/GluN2B NMDA receptor embedded in a POPC/GM1 membrane. GM1 is composed by a ceramide core and a oligosaccharide chain and it is localize in the upper leaflet of the membrane. GM1 is showed in green. White arrows show the interaction points between GM1 and the LBD. POPC bilayer is showed in grey. ATD: amino-terminal domain; LBD: ligand-binding domain; TMD: transmembrane domain



SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 Ganglioside structure and synthesis pathway. (a) GM1, GM2 and GM3 structure. From Kolter et al., 2010 (b) Ganglioside synthesis pathway. Enzymes of the synthesis pathway are named by the gene which express the protein.


SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2 Ganglioside synthesis pathway enzyme expression levels during aging in mice hippocampus are not altered. (a) Representative western blot on adult (7 months) and aged (21 months) hippocampi. Quantification from (a) of the levels of B4GALT5, ST3GALT5, B4GALNT1 and B3GALT4. (b,c,d and e). Data are mean ± SEM 6 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by t-test f) Diagram of the pathway. Red: glycosphingolipids analyzed; Bold red: increased levels in aging; Grey: not modified expression enzymes. mo: months

Supplementary figure 2



SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3 Ganglioside synthesis pathway enzyme expression levels are increased during aging in cultured hippocampal neurons (a) Representative western blot from control (14 DIV) and aged cells (24 DIV). Quantification from (a) of the levels of B4GALT5, ST3GALT5, B4GALNT1 and B3GALT4. (b,c,d and e). Data are mean ± SEM 6 experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by t-test. *p<0.05; ***p<0.001 (f) Diagram of the pathway. Red: glycosphingolipids analyzed; Bold red: increased levels in aging; Grey: not modified expression enzymes; Bold black: increased levels in aging.

Supplementary figure 3



SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4 Treatment with GM1, GM2 and neuraminidase do not affect cell viability. (a) After the treatment with GM1 (500 nM), NVC (0.03 U/mL) and GM2 (500 nM) for 24h cell viability was assessed by MTT reduction. (b) Representative Western blot from control, GM1 and NVC treated neurons using cholera toxin subunit B (CTB)–peroxidase. (c) Quantification of (b). (d) Representative images of an immunofluorescence staining of GM1 using CTB-alexa 488 in cells treated with GM1 and NVC for 24h. Data are mean ± SEM 7-8 experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA Bonferroni post test ***p<0.001.



Supplementary figure 5

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 5 GM1-enriched and aged hippocampal neurons do not present alterations in NMDAR subunit expression. (a,d) Representative western blot from control and GM1 (500 nM) and neuraminidase (NVC 0.03 U/mL) treated cells for 24h. (b,c and e) Quantification of (a) and (d). (f) Representative western blot from control (14 DIV) and aged cells (24 DIV). (g and h) Quantification of (f). (i) Representative western blot of GM1 co-immunoprecipitation with the NMDAR subunit GluN1 from control neurons. Data are mean ± SEM 6 experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA and t-test (for two groups). Non significant differences were obtained.



SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 6 GM2 increase has no effect on calcium response to NMDA and high K⁺. Neurons were treated with GM2 (500 nM) for 24h and, were stimulated with 20 μ M NMDA (a) or 52.5 mM KCI (d). Data are mean ± SEM between 140 and 149 cells for (a) and between 106 and 151 for (d). The area under the curve (AUC) (b, e) and the maximum response peak (c,f) were calculated for each cell response. Statistical analysis was performed by t-test. Non significant differences were obtained.



SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 7 Glycosphingolipid and ganglioside quantification in hippocampi from nondemented controls and AD patients do not show differences. Ceramides (a), glucosylceramides (b), lactosylceramides (c), GM3 (d), GM2(e), GM1(f) and GD1 (g) quantification of control (75 yo) and AD (73 yo - stage VI) by TOF mass spectrometry. Data are mean ± SEM 5-6 samples/group. Statistical analysis was performed by t-test. Non significant differences were obtained. H) Relative increase between AD and non-demented control patients of the previously obtained quantification of glycosphingolipids and gangliosides.

7. References

- Andrews-Hanna JR, Snyder AZ, Vincent JL, Lustig C, Head D, Raichle ME & Buckner RL (2007) Disruption of large-scale brain systems in advanced aging. *Neuron* 56, 924–35.
- Ariga T, Kobayashi K, Hasegawa A, Kiso M, Ishida H & Miyatake T (2001) Characterization of high-affinity binding between gangliosides and amyloid betaprotein. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 388, 225–30.
- Ariga T, McDonald MP & Yu RK (2008) Role of ganglioside metabolism in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease--a review. *J. Lipid Res.* 49, 1157–75.
- Armstrong RA (2012) On the "classification" of neurodegenerative disorders: discrete entities, overlap or continuum? *Folia Neuropathol.* 50, 201–8.
- Aureli M, Mauri L, Ciampa MG, Prinetti A, Toffano G, Secchieri C & Sonnino S (2016) GM1 Ganglioside: Past Studies and Future Potential,
- Bishop NA, Lu T & Yankner BA (2010) Neural mechanisms of ageing and cognitive decline. *Nature* 464, 529–535.
- Canals D, Mormeneo D, Fabriàs G, Llebaria A, Casas J & Delgado A (2009) Synthesis and biological properties of Pachastrissamine (jaspine B) and diastereoisomeric jaspines. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 17, 235–241.
- Choo-Smith LPI & Surewicz WK (1997) The interaction between Alzheimer amyloid β (1-40) peptide and ganglioside G(M1)-containing membranes. *FEBS Lett.* 402, 95–98.
- Dong W, Cheng S, Huang F, Fan W, Chen Y, Shi H & He H (2011) Mitochondrial dysfunction in long-term neuronal cultures mimics changes with aging. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 17, BR91-6.
- van Echten-Deckert G & Herget T (2006) Sphingolipid metabolism in neural cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1758, 1978–94.
- Facci L, Leon A, Toffano G, Sonnino S, Ghidoni R & Tettamanti G (1984) Promotion of neuritogenesis in mouse neuroblastoma cells by exogenous gangliosides. Relationship between the effect and the cell association of ganglioside GM1. J. Neurochem. 42, 299–305.
- Forsythe ID & Westbrook GL (1988) Slow excitatory postsynaptic currents mediated by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors on cultured mouse central neurones. *J. Physiol.* 396, 515–533.
- Ginzburg L, Li S-C, Li Y-T & Futerman AH (2007) An exposed carboxyl group on sialic acid is essential for gangliosides to inhibit calcium uptake via the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ -ATPase: relevance to gangliosidoses. *J. Neurochem.* 0, 071115085713013
- Harder T, Scheiffele P, Verkade P & Simons K (1998) Lipid domain structure of the

- Harder T, Scheiffele P, Verkade P & Simons K (1998) Lipid domain structure of the plasma membrane revealed by patching of membrane components. *J. Cell Biol.* 141, 929–42.
- Harvey MJ, Giupponi G & Fabritiis G De (2009) ACEMD: Accelerating Biomolecular Dynamics in the Microsecond Time Scale. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 5, 1632–1639.
- Hering H, Lin C-C & Sheng M (2003) Lipid rafts in the maintenance of synapses, dendritic spines, and surface AMPA receptor stability. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 3262–71.
- Imhof A, Kövari E, von Gunten A, Gold G, Rivara CB, Herrmann FR, Hof PR, Bouras C
 & Giannakopoulos P (2007) Morphological substrates of cognitive decline in nonagenarians and centenarians: A new paradigm? *J. Neurol. Sci.* 257, 72–79.
- Jagust W (2013) Vulnerable Neural Systems and the Borderland of Brain Aging and Neurodegeneration. *Neuron* 77, 219–234.
- Jo S, Kim T, Iyer VG & Im W (2008) CHARMM-GUI: A web-based graphical user interface for CHARMM. J. Comput. Chem. 29, 1859–1865.
- Kracun I, Rosner H, Drnovsek V, Heffer-Lauc M, Cosovic C & Lauc G (1991) Human brain gangliosides in development, aging and diseases. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 35, 289– 295.
- Ledeen RW (1978) Ganglioside structures and distribution: are they localized at the nerve ending? *J. Supramol. Struct.* 8, 1–17.
- Ledeen RW & Wu G (2015) The multi-tasked life of GM1 ganglioside, a true factotum of nature. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 40, 407–418.
- Lee C-H, Lü W, Michel JC, Goehring A, Du J, Song X & Gouaux E (2014) NMDA receptor structures reveal subunit arrangement and pore architecture. *Nature* 511, 191–197.

Leskawa KC, Erwin RE, Leon A, Toffano G & Hogan EL (1989) Incorporation of exogenous ganglioside GM1 into neuroblastoma membranes: Inhibition by calcium ion and dependence upon membrane protein. *Neurochem. Res.* 14, 547–554.

- Levental I, Grzybek M & Simons K (2010) Greasing Their Way: Lipid Modifications Determine Protein Association with Membrane Rafts. *Biochemistry* 49, 6305–6316.
- Lind GE, Mou T-C, Tamborini L, Pomper MG, De Micheli C, Conti P, Pinto A & Hansen KB (2017) Structural basis of subunit selectivity for competitive NMDA receptor antagonists with preference for GluN2A over GluN2B subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 201707752.
- Lozano MM, Liu Z, Sunnick E, Janshoff A, Kumar K & Boxer SG (2013) Colocalization of the ganglioside G(M1) and cholesterol detected by secondary ion mass spectrometry. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 135, 5620–30.

- Magini A, Polchi A, Tozzi A, Tancini B, Tantucci M, Urbanelli L, Borsello T, Calabresi P & Emiliani C (2015) Abnormal cortical lysosomal β-hexosaminidase and βgalactosidase activity at post-synaptic sites during Alzheimer's disease progression. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 58, 62–70.
- Mann DMA & Jones D (1990) Deposition of amyloid (A4) protein within the brains of persons with dementing disorders other than Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 109, 68–75.
- Mattson MP & Magnus T (2006) Ageing and neuronal vulnerability. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 278–294.
- Mayer ML, Westbrook GL & Guthrie PB (1984) Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones. *Nature* 309, 261–263.
- Monti E & Miyagi T (2012) Structure and Function of Mammalian Sialidases. In *Topics in current chemistry*. pp.183–208.
- Munoz-Olaya JM, Matabosch X, Bedia C, Egido-Gabás M, Casas J, Llebaria A, Delgado A & Fabriàs G (2008) Synthesis and Biological Activity of a Novel Inhibitor of Dihydroceramide Desaturase. *ChemMedChem* 3, 946–953.
- Ohsawa T (1989) Changes of mouse brain gangliosides during aging from young adult until senescence. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 50, 169–177.
- Patel DS, Park S, Wu EL, Yeom MS, Widmalm G, Klauda JB & Im W (2016) Influence of Ganglioside GM1 Concentration on Lipid Clustering and Membrane Properties and Curvature. *Biophys. J.* 111, 1987–1999.
- Phillips JC, Braun R, Wang W, Gumbart J, Tajkhorshid E, Villa E, Chipot C, Skeel RD, Kalé L & Schulten K (2005) Scalable molecular dynamics with NAMD. J. Comput. Chem. 26, 1781–1802.
- Purpura DP & Baker HJ (1978) Meganeurites and other aberrant processes of neurons in feline GM1-gangliosidosis: a Golgi study. *Brain Res.* 143, 13–26.
- Ramstedt B & Slotte JP (1999) Interaction of cholesterol with sphingomyelins and acylchain-matched phosphatidylcholines: a comparative study of the effect of the chain length. *Biophys. J.* 76, 908–15.
- Ryan JM, Rice GE & Mitchell MD (2013) The role of gangliosides in brain development and the potential benefits of perinatal supplementation. *Nutr. Res.* 33, 877–887.
- Saqr HE, Pearl DK & Yates AJ (1993) A review and predictive models of ganglioside uptake by biological membranes. *J. Neurochem.* 61, 395–411.
- Sasaki N, Itakura Y & Toyoda M (2015) Ganglioside GM1 contributes to the state of insulin resistance in senescent human arterial endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 25475–25486.

- Schnaar RL (2016) Gangliosides of the Vertebrate Nervous System. J. Mol. Biol. 428, 3325–3336.
- Selkoe DJ (2001) Alzheimer's Disease: Genes, Proteins, and Therapy. *Perspective* 81, 741–767.
- Serrano-Pozo A, Frosch MP, Masliah E & Hyman BT (2011) Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 1, 1–24.
- Simons K & Ikonen E (1997) Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 387, 569–572.
- Simons M, Friedrichson T, Schulz JB, Pitto M, Masserini M & Kurzchalia T V (1999) Exogenous administration of gangliosides displaces GPI-anchored proteins from lipid microdomains in living cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10, 3187–96.
- Skaper SD, Katoh-Semba R & Varon S (1985) GM1 ganglioside accelerates neurite outgrowth from primary peripheral and central neurons under selected culture conditions. *Brain Res.* 355, 19–26.
- Sodero AO, Trovò L, Iannilli F, Van Veldhoven P, Dotti CG & Martin MG (2011) Regulation of tyrosine kinase B activity by the Cyp46/cholesterol loss pathway in mature hippocampal neurons: relevance for neuronal survival under stress and in aging. J. Neurochem. 116, 747–55.
- Sodt AJ, Pastor RW & Lyman E (2015) Hexagonal Substructure and Hydrogen Bonding in Liquid-Ordered Phases Containing Palmitoyl Sphingomyelin. *Biophys. J.* 109, 948–55.
- Suzman R & Beard J (2011) Global Health and Aging. NIH Publ. no 117737 1, 273-277.
- Suzuki T, Zhang J, Miyazawa S, Liu Q, Farzan MR & Yao W-D (2011) Association of membrane rafts and postsynaptic density: proteomics, biochemical, and ultrastructural analyses. *J. Neurochem.* 119, 64–77.
- Vicini S, Wang JF, Li JH, Zhu WJ, Wang YH, Luo H, Wolfe BB, Grayson DR, Otis JM, Fitzgerald MK & Mueller D (1998) Functional and Pharmacological Differences Between Recombinant N -Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Functional and Pharmacological Differences Between Recombinant N -Methyl- D -Aspartate Receptors. J Neurophysiol 79, 555–566.
- Wang D, Jacobs SA & Tsien JZ (2014) Targeting the NMDA receptor subunit NR2B for treating or preventing age-related memory decline. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 18, 1121–1130.
- Wang T-Y & Silvius JR (2003) Sphingolipid partitioning into ordered domains in cholesterol-free and cholesterol-containing lipid bilayers. *Biophys. J.* 84, 367–78.

- Wheeler D, Knapp E, Bandaru VVR, Wang Y, Knorr D, Poirier C, Mattson MP, Geiger JD & Haughey NJ (2009) TNFα-induced neutral sphingomyelinase-2 modulates synaptic plasticity by controlling the membrane insertion of NMDA receptors. *J. Neurochem.* 109, 1237–1249.
- Wu G, Lu Z-H, Obukhov AG, Nowycky MC & Ledeen RW (2007) Induction of Calcium Influx through TRPC5 Channels by Cross-Linking of GM1 Ganglioside Associated with 5 1 Integrin Initiates Neurite Outgrowth. J. Neurosci. 27, 7447–7458.
- Wu G, Xie X, Lu Z-H & Ledeen RW (2009) Sodium-calcium exchanger complexed with GM1 ganglioside in nuclear membrane transfers calcium from nucleoplasm to endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 106, 10829–10834.
- Yankner BA, Lu T & Loerch P (2008) The Aging Brain. *Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis.* 3, 41–66.

Chapter 2

The antigen-binding fragment of human gamma immunoglobulin prevents amyloid β -peptide folding into β -sheet to form oligomers

Victòria Valls-Comamala, Biuse Guivernau, Jaume Bonet, Marta Puig, Alex Perálvarez-Marín, Ernest Palomer, Xavier Fernàndez-Busquets, Xavier Altafaj, Marta Tajes, Albert Puig-Pijoan, Ruben Vicente, Baldo Oliva, Francisco J. Muñoz. Oncotarget. 2017 Jun 20;8(25):41154-41165.

Oncotarget. 8 (25): 41154-41165

Valls-Comamala V, Guivernau B, Bonet J, Puig M, Perálvarez-Marín A, Palomer E, Fernàndez-Busquets X, Altafaj X, Tajes M, Puig-Pijoan A, Vicente R, Oliva B,Muñoz FJ. The antigen-binding fragment of human gamma immunoglobulin prevents amyloid β-peptide folding into β-sheet to form oligomers. Oncotarget. 2017;8(25):41154–65. DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.17074



DISCUSSION

Both non-pathological and pathological aging progress with cognitive decline. In pathological aging, there is an increase in molecular alterations, particularly in vulnerable neurons such as dopaminergic neurons of the brain steam that lead to PD or hippocampal glutamatergic neurons that lead to AD. In fact, some studies describe that there is a continuum between normal brain aging and AD being the bboundaries between pathological and non-pathological aging not defined. This theory is based on the presence of A β aggregates in samples from old cognitively normal individuals. Moreover, the main risk factor for AD is aging itself. Most of AD patients are sporadic cases without a known genetic factor but more research is needed to unlock the keys of the relation between physiological aging and AD. Since the prevalence of AD in the population older than 85 years old is up to 32% ⁴⁶⁹, it is not risky to propose that AD is the final destiny of the brain. Therefore, it is important to study in depth both of these diseases, because improving or slowing down one of them would help on the research on the other.

In the first chapter of this thesis, we have addressed a study to modify the membrane glycosphingolipid content during the neuronal aging process. We have shown an increase in several gangliosides in aged hippocampus and in primary hippocampal neurons. Specifically, our results showed an increase in GM1. GM1 is a ganglioside highly localized in the synaptic terminal, which has been already involved in the maintenance of membrane physical conditions ⁴⁶⁸ and in the acceleration of A β aggregation ^{457–459}. On this basis, we have studied the effect of GM1 increase on NMDAR activity and synaptic plasticity. NMDAR is a key receptor for LTP and, consequently, for learning and memory ^{33,470}. We have observed a reduction in dendritic spines density and a decrease on Ca²⁺ entry to the cytosol in both aged and GM1 increased levels neurons. On the other hand, this decrease in the NMDAR activity is not observed when we increase GM2 levels, a ganglioside that is also increased during aging. Overall, these results show the relevance of GM1, besides of accelerating A β aggregation, is able to decrease NMDAR

activity during aging and could be a link between non-pathological aging and sporadic AD.

In the second chapter of this thesis we have focused on the study of the effects of IgG treatment on $A\beta$ aggregation. We have shown *in vitro* that the presence of IgG impairs $A\beta$ oligomerization process in a dose-dependent manner and β -sheet structure is not formed, decreasing the neurotoxicity of the peptide. Moreover, we have observed that the specificity of the antibody is not important since similar results were obtained using Palivizumab, a human anti-syncytial virus antibody. Finally, we have shown that the antigenbinding fragment (Fab) is involved in the inhibitory effect over $A\beta$ aggregation.

1 Aging modifies the glycosphingolipid content of the membranes in the brain

Different studies have been published ^{471–473} showing controversial results on the existence or not of changes in the glycosphingolipid levels, particularly gangliosides, during aging. Since GM1 plays a key role in the maintenance of the synaptic structure we have studied glycosphingolipid levels in aging in chapter I of this thesis.

Our findings in mouse hippocampus and hippocampal primary neurons showed modifications in the synthesis pathway leading to changes in the levels of glycosphingolipids (Fig 20). In hippocampal primary neurons, we showed an increase of GM1 and GM2 ganglioside levels due to aging (Fig 21a). Interestingly, the expression of some synthesis enzymes is increased in the early steps of the pathway including B4GALT5 (lactosylceramide synthase), ST3GALT5 (GM3 synthase) and B4GALNT1 (GM2 synthase). Surprisingly, B3GALT4 (GM1 synthase) did not show a different expression pattern (Fig 20a). Our results suggest that there is an alteration in the previous steps of the synthesis pathway, even though we are not able to detect differences in the levels of the first glycosphingolipids of the pathway. It is worth mentioning that there is a tendency to an increase in aging in the levels of the first glycosphingolipids of the pathway compared with control neurons starting in lactosylceramides (Fig 21a) although this difference is not significant.





In mice hippocampal samples we detected increased levels of lactosylceramides, GM2 and GM1 in aging (Fig 21b). GM3 levels were not significantly increased. In contrast with the study in primary cultured neurons, the synthesis pathway did not show any differences in the expression of the enzymes (B4GALT5, ST3GALT5, B4GALNT1 and B3GALT4) (Fig 20b). These results could be related with the fact that we analyzed the whole hippocampus, which contains different cell types. However, GM1 is mostly expressed in neurons and it has a low expression pattern in glial cells ⁴⁰⁷. Therefore, we could detect the differences in ganglioside levels in the hippocampus but not in the levels of expression of

the enzyme because they are present in both neurons and glial cells. Gangliosides require specific techniques to be detected. We have used TOF mass spectrometry to study these samples but we cannot know the specific contribution of each cell type. This is the reason why a simpler model such as primary hippocampal neurons allows us to better determine the specific alterations in neurons and their molecular and functional consequences. We have planned to perform further complementary studies (out of the temporal scope of this thesis) to identify the contribution of neurons and glia to the previously mentioned results.

It is also important to mention that we have studied the expression of the synthesis enzymes but we have not studied the activity of these enzymes, which may give us further information regarding our results and the changes in the pathway. Moreover, we do not know the causes that produce the modification in the expression of the enzymes of the pathway. However, previously published data showed an increase of GM1 and the expression of these enzymes due to the exposure to oxidative stress ⁴⁷². Low and sub-toxic doses of H₂O₂, used as an oxidative stress inducer, lead to cell aging and senescence which was measured by an increase in β -galactosidase activity ⁴⁷⁴. It would be interesting to perform further experiments to elucidate how oxidative stress, so tightly bound to aging, induces these changes on ganglioside synthesis, providing specific targets for future treatments. Furthermore, we have focused on the synthesis pathway because GM1 degradation pathway has been shown to be increased in AD ⁴⁷⁵ and aging ⁴⁷⁶.

We have studied samples from mouse hippocampi at different ages including two months (young), seven months (adult) and twenty-one months (old or aged). The increase in GM1 levels between two and seven months confirmed the previously reported role of gangliosides in neurodevelopment and maturation ⁴¹⁴. Young animals have not completed the brain maturation process, so we have focused in the results obtained at 7 and 21 months because our aim was to study the aging process. The aging increase in glycosphingolipids is not as high as during maturation (Fig 21b) but, particularly in the case of GM1, this increase could be pathologic. This affirmation is based in the knowledge that small increases in GM1 levels leads to clusterization and changes in the membrane function during aging ⁴⁶⁸.

To conclude this section, we showed an increase in GM1 and GM2 in mice hippocampus and hippocampal neurons due to aging, probably as a consequence of an increase in the activity of B4GALT5, ST3GALT5 and B4GALNT1 enzymes.



Figure 21: Relative increase of glycosphingolipids in cultured hippocampal neurons (a) **and mouse hippocampus** (b) **in aging** compared with control neurons or young mice. Data were obtained by quantifying glycosphingolipids by TOF mass spectrometry from cultured neurons or mice hippocampi (n=6 per group).

2 Glycosphingolipids in AD and aging human samples

GM1 has been broadly studied due to its effect on Aβ aggregation ^{457–459}. The levels of GM1 and other gangliosides have been previously determined but the published results are controversial. In frontal and temporal cortices GM1 has been found to decrease, whereas GM2 and GM3 have been found to be increased in the parietal cortex ⁴⁷¹. In contrast, other studies showed differences in the localization of the different GM1 molecular species but no differences in total amount of GM1 in the dentate gyrus ^{477–479}. GM1 is composed by a ceramide core, which can vary the length of the carbon chain

forming the different molecular species of GM1. Each GM1 molecular specie correlates with a specific localization. Our results in human hippocampi from non-demented controls and AD patients did not show differences. However, we observed a tendency in all gangliosides to decrease their expression (Fig 22). Overall, we can hypothesize that the tendency of GM1 to decrease in AD brain is due to the neurodegeneration already present in the AD brain samples, where neurons have died and they are the GM1 richest cell type ⁴⁰⁷.

In hippocampi from AD patients we were not able to observe the pattern obtained in aged mice and neurons. However, human AD brain samples are analyzed post-mortem in advanced stages of the disease. A published study in aged brain showed an increase of GM1 in the frontal cortex and a moderate decrease in the hippocampus ⁴⁷¹. Our results showing a decrease in the hippocampal GM1 should be due to neuronal death dramatically affecting hippocampus in AD patients.



Figure 22: Relative decrease of glycosphingolipids in hippocampi from AD patients compared with non-demented humans. Samples were processed as indicated and quantified by TOF mass spectrometry (n= 4-5 per group).

CSF offers a window to analyze brain's metabolism and pathology through the detection of biomarkers ⁴⁸⁰. Previous study analyzing CSF from control non-demented humans, mild cognition impairment (MCI) patients and AD patients showed that there is an increase of GM1 in CSF from patients with AD compared to controls, but not in MCI compared to controls ⁴⁸¹. The authors conclude that the presence of GM1 could be a marker of neurodegeneration. For this reason, we also analyzed CSF (Table 5). However, we were not able to detect gangliosides since they were present in very low concentration. We only detected ceramides, sphingomyelin, glucosylceramides and dihydrosphingomielin in a common pool of 5 nondemented controls and 5 AD. Higher levels of all detected species were observed in the pool of AD compared to the pool of controls.

To conclude, we did not observe any difference in glycosphingolipids levels in hippocampi from AD patients probably due to the neurodegeneration caused by AD.

Table 5: Glycosphingolipids quantification from CSF from non-dementedhumans and AD patients. Quantification by TOF mass spectrometry of a CSFpool of 5 control and 5 AD patients Expressed as pmol/mL

CSF pool	СТ	AD
Ceramides	28	56
Sphingomyelin	2262	2532
Glucosylceramides	190	258
Dihydrosphingomyelin	2316	2587

3 GM1 and aging reduce neuronal dendritic spine content

GM1 is highly concentrated in the membranes of the synaptic terminal ⁴²⁵. Accordingly, we hypothesize that GM1 could play an important role on structural plasticity and dendritic spine density during aging in hippocampal neurons. Dendritic spines contain most of the excitatory synapses ^{31,47,48}.

We performed two different treatments to study the effects of GM1 increase. First, we treated with exogenous GM1 ganglioside for 24h to increase its concentration in the membrane. It is known that exogenous GM1 can be integrated in the membrane and enter to the natural glycosphingolipid pathway. Only GM1 monomers enter the plasma

membranes, whereas micelles bind to cell surface interacting with proteins ^{425,482–484}. The unspecific binding to proteins can generate changes that do not occur in physiological conditions. However, it is known that physiological mechanisms are more often observed using low concentrations of GM1, as the ones we used (nM), compared to higher concentrations (µM and mM) ⁴²⁴. Second, we increased endogenous GM1 levels using neuraminidase from *V.cholerae* (NVC), which removes sialic acid from complex gangliosides to form GM1. GM1 and GM2 sialic acid bound are resistant to hydrolytic removal by NVC ^{424,427}. After NVC treatment GM1 becomes the 95% of the ganglioside content in the brain ⁴²⁵.

Our results showed that the increase in GM1 levels and aging reduce the dendritic spine density. Preliminary studies showed that the increase in GM1 may be able to reduce the number of all types of spines (mushroom, stubby, thin and branched) except the immature spines (filipodia), pointing to its possible role in the maturation of the spines. Controversially, it has been reported that GM1 increases neuritogenesis ^{435–437}. However, these studies were performed in other cellular models and addressing the study of neuronal maturation. They were focused only in neurogenesis and did not study the specific formation of dendritic spines.

We can conclude that an increase in GM1 ganglioside reduces dendritic spines density, decreasing the number of synapses and modifying the synaptic network function.

4 GM1, and not GM2, modifies calcium entry through NMDAR and VGCC

To elucidate the effects of GM1 and GM2 increase in the membrane we carried out the specific experiments increasing each ganglioside. Here, we reported for the first time the role of GM1 on NMDAR activity. The increase of GM1 in the membrane leads to a decrease in Ca^{2+} entry to the cytosol through NMDAR (Fig 23). Both treatments used to increase GM1

levels in the membrane produced the same effect: a decrease in the NMDAR activity. However, when we treated the neurons with GM2 we did not observe any effect on NMDAR function.



Figure 23: NMDAR function in physiological and GM1-enriched membranes. a) In physiological conditions NMDAR activation and calcium entry through the channel to the cytosol occur normally. Therefore, the downstream molecular pathways do not suffer any alteration and do not affect synaptic plasticity and dendritic spine density (structural plasticity) b) In GM1-enriched membranes, calcium entry through NMDAR is reduced. Therefore, the downstream molecular pathway is modified, leading to a reduction of synaptic plasticity and structural plasticity, measured by dendritic spine density. We studied the possible changes on expression of NMDAR subunits (GluR1, GluR2A and GluR2B) but there were no differences in total expression between control and the different treatments in any of them. Moreover, to further study GM1 role in NMDAR function, it would be important to know more about the localization of the subunits, to reveal if GM1 can modulate its localization.

GM1 acts as negative allosteric modulator (NAM) of NMDAR through two possible scenarios: 1) GM1 increase in the membrane could have consequences on its physical properties and/or 2) GM1 could regulate NMDAR function by direct specific contacts with the surface of the receptor. Regarding membrane physical properties it is worth mentioning that NMDAR trafficking process requires focal changes in the membrane, receptor internalization needs focal invagination, while the traffic to the surface require fusion of receptor loaded vesicles to cell membrane. The plasma membrane should be able to adapt and change conditions fast to allow the proper function of the receptor 465. On the other hand, our immunoprecipitation experiments suggested that GM1 is bound to the NMDAR, thus indicating that part of its NAM action is mediated via direct contacts. We carry out a molecular dynamics simulation to understand better the underlying mechanism. This experiment pointed out that the oligosaccharide chain of GM1 interacts with the ligand binding domain of the NMDAR, an important region where agonists bind for channel activation. Therefore, this interaction could be critical for reducing the effect of ligands (i.e. NAM action) and thus NMDAR activity.

Regarding VGCC function, we observed an increase in calcium entry after high K⁺ stimulus. There are no previous studies regarding GM1 increase effects on the activity of these channels in neurons. Clearly, further studies are required to determine the specific effect of GM1 in VGCC. In this section, we can conclude that GM1 directly interacts with NMDAR through its ligand binding domain decreasing the entry of Ca^{2+} and, therefore, reducing channel activation.

5 Aging modifies calcium entry through NMDAR and VGCC

Our results showed a similar pattern of glycosphingolipid modifications, particularly GM1 and GM2 in aged neurons and mice hippocampus. Aged cultures have been widely used as a model of aging by several authors because they recapitulate the aging process ⁴⁸⁵. Therefore, we decided to use aged neurons to perform molecular and functional studies.

Our results in aged neurons showed a decrease in Ca²⁺ entry to the cytosol through NMDAR. It confirmed previous results that showed a decrease in NMDAR activity ^{486,487}. A decrease in the different subunits, particularly in GluR2B ⁴⁸⁸, has been described in aging. Surprisingly, we did not observe any differences in total expression of NMDAR receptors subunits GluR1 and GluR2B. Here, it is important to mention that we have studied the total levels of each subunit, but we do not know the exact localization of the subunits. It is known that, in aging, GluR2B levels can decrease in the synapse ⁴⁸⁹, whereas increasing its extra-synaptic localization ⁴⁹⁰, which decreases its activity.

VGCC response to high K^+ has been shown to be increased ⁴⁹¹. Our results showed an increase confirming what was previously shown. High K^+ is a physiological stimulus that can confirm that not all membrane receptors activity is modified in the same direction.

Studying the calcium response to high K⁺ or NMDA in an aging model do not allow us to conclude that the only important factors are the increase in GM1 and GM2. However, we showed that NMDAR and VGCC activity are altered following the same pattern than when we only modify GM1 levels in the membrane.

6 IgG decreases A β neurotoxicity and A β oligomerization through Fab

Currently, there is no treatment able to stop or slow down AD. All the FDAapproved drugs are just symptomatic. Therefore, no approved drug can modulate A β aggregation ^{340,353}.

We have shown *in vitro* that IgG at 7 mg/mL inhibits A β aggregation and reduces its neurotoxicity. The presence of IgGs during the aggregation process leads to formation of a globular conformation without β -sheet folding (Fig 24). Our simulation showed that IgG binds to A β like a monomer blocking the progression of the fibrillation. It also explains the effects of IgG in a concentration-dependent manner, which has already been observed in previous clinical trials ^{370,492}, because a higher concentration of IgG will block all points of fibrillation. Each fibril contains two sites of growth.

In addition, we also showed that the specificity of the IgG *in vitro* is not necessary. However, in a systemic treatment it may help to keep the immunoglobulins close to the A β . It is important to mention that the pool of human IgG (IVIG) contains all the antibodies present in a young individual, including antibodies against A β ⁴⁹³. Importantly, several studies have shown the presence of predominantly conformation-selective antibodies against oligomeric and fibrillary A β ^{494,495} in IVIG. Therefore, the treatment with IVIG also has some A β specificity that facilitates the contact between IgG and several forms of aggregated A β .

Another advantage of IVIG treatment compared with other immunotherapies is that this treatment has been used for a long time to treat other diseases ⁴⁹⁶. Therefore, the safety and the tolerance of the treatment is already demonstrated, which is very important for new studies. Compared with other therapies, which can cause ARIA ⁴⁹⁷, IVIG may increase the risk of vascular events such as thrombosis and benign side effects such as fever or anemia ³⁷⁰.



Figure 24: Model explaining the effects of IgG in A β aggregation process. a) A β aggregation results in the formation of oligomers, protofibrils and mature fibrils. b) The presence of IgGs during A β aggregation process leads to the formation of amorphous globular aggregates. IgG binds to A β blocking the progression of the fibrillation.

In this chapter, we also showed that the Fab of the IgG bind the A β . Considering that the side effects of the immunotherapies such as hemorrhage ⁴⁹⁸ and vascular edema ³⁵⁸ are related to inflammation ^{499,500} the creation of new peptides without the constant fragment (Fc) and only containing the Fab could be an interesting option. It is known that the inflammatory response is involved in A β clearance. However there is data

suggesting that antibodies can function without the Fc ^{501–503}. In conclusion, since Fc is the fragment responsible for triggering the immune response, administration of IgG without this fragment could be a useful method to overcome inflammatory problems. Moreover, it could be a manner to synthetize a new peptide with a reduced size and an enhanced capacity to cross through the BBB. IVIG crosses the BBB ³⁷⁰ but the facilitation of this process could be helpful.

With regard to the role of inflammation in AD, more studies using IVIG could help determine the role in the pathogenesis of naturally occurring alterations in antibody production due to age or Fc signaling. In fact, IVIG basically adds antibodies of young individuals to the old immune system.

Finally, our results, together with previous clinical trials using IVIG, support that patient selection for new clinical trials should be different. As previously mentioned, IVIG clinical trials in AD patients have not shown efficacy. In contrast, in some groups of patients, such as APOE-E4 carriers, IVIG showed positive results ^{369–371}. Therefore, new clinical trials should target prodromal AD patients. It would be particularly interesting to target ADmutation carriers to study the effect of very early treatment. It is a problem that most clinical trials in AD drugs are facing, together with the previous selection of AD patients who suffer from co-occurrence of cerebrovascular disease or other diseases. In conclusion, the combination of facing the disease at a late stage, together with the presence of other health problems complicates a clear observation of the potential efficacy of the treatments.

In conclusion, our results showed that $A\beta$ aggregation in presence of IgGs leads to the formation of less neurotoxic amorphous globular aggregates. IgGs block the progression of $A\beta$ fibrillation.

Aging is the main risk factor for AD. Boundaries between aging and AD are still not clearly defined and AD is believed to be an accelerated aging process. Several molecular factors have been involved in both processes; lipid membrane content, post-translational modifications of proteins, loss of proteostasis, epigenetic alterations, mitochondrial dysfunction, apoptosis among others. In conclusion, individual vulnerabilities to these factors may explain the final fate of each person. Moreover, the increase of altered factors during the aging process may explain the increase in the incidence of AD pathology in older people. In this thesis, we have linked for the first time the increase in GM1 levels to the cognitive defects associated to brain aging. Furthermore, we have shown that IgGs reduce $A\beta$ neurotoxicity and aggregation encouraging for further studies regarding this treatment.

Part V

CONCLUSIONS

- GM1 and GM2 gangliosides are increased in the hippocampus in aging due to the increase of expression of B4GALT5, ST3GALT5 and B4GALNT1.
- GM1 acts as a negative allosteric modulator of NMDAR. High GM1 levels in the membrane reduce calcium entry through NMDAR partially through direct contact with the ligand binding domain of the receptor.
- 3. GM1 specific increase in the membrane increases calcium entry through VGCC.
- Aged neurons, containing high levels of GM1, show modified activity of NMDAR and VGCC following the same pattern that neurons with high levels of GM1.
- 5. GM2 increase does not modify NMDAR and VGCC activity.
- 6. Aβ aggregation is inhibited in concentration dependent manner by IgG
- Aggregation of Aβ in the presence of IgG generates a less neurotoxic globular structure without β-sheet folding.
- 8. IgG binds to new Aβ protofibrils in formation blocking the fibrillation.
- IgG-Aβ specificity is not necessary for the inhibition of aggregation since Palivizumab, a human anti-syntytial virus antibody, can inhibit Aβ aggregation
- 10. Fab fragment of the IgG is responsible for the inhibition of A β aggregation through a highly conserved structure able to bind A β .
Part VI

REFERENCES

- van Spronsen, M. & Hoogenraad, C. C. Synapse pathology in psychiatric and neurologic disease. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 10, 207–14 (2010).
- 2. Pereda, A. E. Electrical synapses and their functional interactions with chemical synapses. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **15**, 250–63 (2014).
- Yuste, R. & Bonhoeffer, T. Morphological Changes in Dendritic Spines Associated With Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24, 1071–1089 (2001).
- Bourne, J. N. & Harris, K. M. Balancing Structure and Function at Hippocampal Dendritic Spines. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 31, 47–67 (2008).
- Sheng, M. & Hoogenraad, C. C. The Postsynaptic Architecture of Excitatory Synapses: A More Quantitative View. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 76, 823–847 (2007).
- Borst, J. G. G. & Sakmann, B. Calcium influx and transmitter release in a fast CNS synapse. *Nature* 383, 431–434 (1996).
- Südhof, T. C. The synaptic vesicle cycle. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 27, 509– 547 (2004).
- Kennedy, M. B., Beale, H. C., Carlisle, H. J. & Washburn, L. R. Integration of biochemical signalling in spines. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 423–434 (2005).
- Renner, M., Specht, C. G. & Triller, A. Molecular dynamics of postsynaptic receptors and scaffold proteins. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 18, 532–540 (2008).
- Sheng, M. & Kim, E. The postsynaptic organization of synapses. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 3, (2011).
- 11. Sweat, J. Mechanism of Memory. (Academic Press, 2003).

- 12. Bauer, E. P., Schafe, G. E., Ledoux, J. E. & Keck, W. M. NMDA Receptors and L-Type Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels Contribute to Long-Term Potentiation and Different Components of Fear Memory Formation in the Lateral Amygdala.
- Voglis, G. & Tavernarakis, N. The role of synaptic ion channels in synaptic plasticity. *EMBO Rep.* 7, 1104–10 (2006).
- Simms, B. A. & Zamponi, G. W. Neuronal voltage-gated calcium channels: Structure, function, and dysfunction. *Neuron* 82, 24–45 (2014).
- 15. Traynelis, S. F. *et al.* Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels: Structure, Regulation, and Function. *Pharmacol.* Rev. **62**, 405–496 (2010).
- Wang, D., Jacobs, S. A. & Tsien, J. Z. Targeting the NMDA receptor subunit NR2B for treating or preventing age-related memory decline. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 18, 1121–1130 (2014).
- Malenka, R. C. Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus: LTP and LTD. Cell 78, 535–538 (1994).
- Mayer, M. L., Westbrook, G. L. & Guthrie, P. B. Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones. *Nature* 309, 261–263 (1984).
- Lind, G. E. *et al.* Structural basis of subunit selectivity for competitive NMDA receptor antagonists with preference for GluN2A over GluN2B subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 201707752 (2017). doi:10.1073/pnas.1707752114
- Vicini, S. *et al.* Functional and Pharmacological Differences Between Recombinant N -Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Functional and Pharmacological Differences Between Recombinant N -Methyl- D -Aspartate Receptors. J Neurophysiol 79, 555–566 (1998).

- Forsythe, I. D. & Westbrook, G. L. Slow excitatory postsynaptic currents mediated by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors on cultured mouse central neurones. *J. Physiol.* **396**, 515–533 (1988).
- Bassani, S., Folci, A., Zapata, J. & Passafaro, M. AMPAR trafficking in synapse maturation and plasticity. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 70, 4411–4430 (2013).
- Higley, M. J. & Sabatini, B. L. Calcium signaling in dendritic spines. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4, a005686 (2012).
- Suh, Y. H., Chang, K. & Roche, K. W. Metabotropic glutamate receptor trafficking. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* (2018). doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2018.03.014
- Lisman, J., Yasuda, R. & Raghavachari, S. Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 169–82 (2012).
- Andersen P, Morris R, Amaral D, Bliss T, O. J. *The Hippocampus Book*. (Oxford University Press, 2007).
- Tamminga, C. A., Stan, A. D. & Wagner, A. D. The hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167, 1178–93 (2010).
- Neves, G., Cooke, S. F. & Bliss, T. V. P. Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 65–75 (2008).
- 29. Goshen, I. *et al.* Dynamics of retrieval strategies for remote memories. *Cell* **147**, 678–89 (2011).
- Deisseroth, K. Optogenetics and Psychiatry: Applications, Challenges, and Opportunities. *Biol. Psychiatry* (2012). doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.12.021
- Bosch, M. & Hayashi, Y. Structural plasticity of dendritic spines. 22, 383–388 (2015).

- Malenka, R. C. Synaptic Plasticity and AMPA Receptor Trafficking. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1003, 1–11 (2003).
- 33. Malenka, R. C. & Bear, M. F. Review LTP and LTD: An Embarrassment of Riches useful to conceptualize LTP and LTD as a general class of cellular/synaptic phenomena. Just as different neurons express different complements of ion channels to. *Neuron* 44, 5–21 (2004).
- 34. Bliss, T. V & Lomo, T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *J. Physiol.* **232**, 331–56 (1973).
- 35. Kaibara, T. & Leung, L. S. Basal versus apical dendritic long-term potentiation of commissural afferents to hippocampal CA1: a current-source density study. *J. Neurosci.* **13**, 2391–404 (1993).
- 36. Halt, A. R. *et al.* CaMKII binding to GluN2B is critical during memory consolidation. *EMBO J.* **31**, 1203–16 (2012).
- Cooke, S. F. & Bliss, T. V. P. Plasticity in the human central nervous system. *Brain* 129, 1659–73 (2006).
- Lucchesi, W., Mizuno, K. & Giese, K. P. Novel insights into CaMKII function and regulation during memory formation. *Brain Res. Bull.* 85, 2–8 (2011).
- Borgdorff, A. J. & Choquet, D. Regulation of AMPA receptor lateral movements. *Nature* 417, 649–653 (2002).
- Derkach, V. A., Oh, M. C., Guire, E. S. & Soderling, T. R. Regulatory mechanisms of AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 101–113 (2007).
- Makino, H. & Malinow, R. AMPA Receptor Incorporation into Synapses during LTP: The Role of Lateral Movement and Exocytosis. *Neuron* 64, 381–390 (2009).

- Patterson, M. A., Szatmari, E. M. & Yasuda, R. AMPA receptors are exocytosed in stimulated spines and adjacent dendrites in a Ras-ERK-dependent manner during long-term potentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 107, 15951–15956 (2010).
- Frank, D. A. & Greenberg, M. E. CREB: a mediator of long-term memory from mollusks to mammals. *Cell* 79, 5–8 (1994).
- 44. Stevens, C. F. CREB and memory consolidation. *Neuron* **13**, 769–70 (1994).
- Morishita, W., Marie, H. & Malenka, R. C. Distinct triggering and expression mechanisms underlie LTD of AMPA and NMDA synaptic responses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1043–1050 (2005).
- 46. Blitzer, R. D. *et al.* Gating of CaMKII by cAMP-regulated protein phosphatase activity during LTP. *Science* **280**, 1940–2 (1998).
- Colonnier, M. Synaptic patterns on different cell types in the different laminae of the cat visual cortex. An electron microscope study. *Brain Res.* 9, 268–287 (1968).
- Gray, E. G. Electron microscopy of synaptic contacts on dendrite spines of the cerebral cortex. *Nature* 183, 1592–1593 (1959).
- Bellot, A. *et al.* The structure and function of actin cytoskeleton in mature glutamatergic dendritic spines. *Brain Res.* 1573, 1–16 (2014).
- 50. Risher, W. C. *et al.* Astrocytes refine cortical connectivity at dendritic spines. *Elife* **3**, (2014).
- Craig, A. M., Graf, E. R. & Linhoff, M. W. How to build a central synapse: Clues from cell culture. *Trends in Neurosciences* 29, 8–20 (2006).
- Holtmaat, A. & Svoboda, K. Experience-dependent structural synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 647–658 (2009).

- 53. Ultanir, S. K. *et al.* Regulation of spine morphology and spine density by NMDA receptor signaling in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **104**, 19553–19558 (2007).
- Fifková, E. & Van Harreveld, A. Long-lasting morphological changes in dendritic spines of dentate granular cells following stimulation of the entorhinal area. J. Neurocytol. 6, 211–30 (1977).
- 55. Ramon y Cajal, S. Estructura de los centros nerviosos de las aves. Rev Trim Histol Norm (1888).
- Yuste, R. Dendritic spines and distributed circuits. *Neuron* 71, 772–81 (2011).
- 57. Glantz, L. A. & Lewis, D. A. Dendritic spine density in schizophrenia and depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* **58**, 203 (2001).
- Penzes, P., Cahill, M. E., Jones, K. A., VanLeeuwen, J.-E. & Woolfrey, K. M. Dendritic spine pathology in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 285–293 (2011).
- Zhang, W. *et al.* Surviving hilar somatostatin interneurons enlarge, sprout axons, and form new synapses with granule cells in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 14247–56 (2009).
- Ferhat, L. Potential Role of Drebrin A, an F-Actin Binding Protein, in Reactive Synaptic Plasticity after Pilocarpine-Induced Seizures: Functional Implications in Epilepsy. *Int. J. Cell Biol.* 2012, 1–12 (2012).
- Swann, J. W., Al-Noori, S., Jiang, M. & Lee, C. L. Spine loss and other dendritic abnormalities in epilepsy. *Hippocampus* 10, 617–625 (2000).

- 62. Waung, M. W., Pfeiffer, B. E., Nosyreva, E. D., Ronesi, J. A. & Huber, K. M. Rapid Translation of Arc/Arg3.1 Selectively Mediates mGluR-Dependent LTD through Persistent Increases in AMPAR Endocytosis Rate. *Neuron* 59, 84–97 (2008).
- Thomas, A. M., Bui, N., Perkins, J. R., Yuva-Paylor, L. A. & Paylor, R. Group I metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists alter select behaviors in a mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology (Berl).* 219, 47–58 (2012).
- 64. Haas, M. A. et al. Alterations to Dendritic Spine Morphology, but Not Dendrite Patterning, of Cortical Projection Neurons in Tc1 and Ts1Rhr Mouse Models of Down Syndrome. PLoS One 8, e78561 (2013).
- 65. Robinson, T. E. & Kolb, B. Alterations in the morphology of dendrites and dendritic spines in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex following repeated treatment with amphetamine or cocaine. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **11**, 1598–604 (1999).
- 66. Norrholm, S. D. *et al.* Cocaine-induced proliferation of dendritic spines in nucleus accumbens is dependent on the activity of cyclin-dependent kinase-5. *Neuroscience* **116**, 19–22 (2003).
- Selkoe, D. J. *et al.* Alzheimer's Disease Is a Synaptic Failure. *Science* (80-.). 298, 789–791 (2002).
- Spires-Jones, T. & Knafo, S. Spines, plasticity, and cognition in Alzheimer's model mice. *Neural Plast.* 2012, 319836 (2012).
- 69. Bishop, N. A., Lu, T. & Yankner, B. A. Neural mechanisms of ageing and cognitive decline. *Nature* **464**, 529–535 (2010).
- Suzman, R. & Beard, J. Global Health and Aging. NIH Publ. no 117737 1, 273–277 (2011).

- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M. & Kroemer,
 G. The Hallmarks of Aging. *Cell* 153, 1194–1217 (2013).
- 72. Jin, K. Modern Biological Theories of Aging. Aging Dis. 1, 72-74 (2010).
- Hou, Y., Song, H., Croteau, D. L., Akbari, M. & Bohr, V. A. Genome instability in Alzheimer disease. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 161, 83–94 (2017).
- 74. Jacobs, E. G., Epel, E. S., Lin, J., Blackburn, E. H. & Rasgon, N. L. Relationship between leukocyte telomere length, telomerase activity, and hippocampal volume in early aging. *JAMA Neurol.* 71, 921–923 (2014).
- 75. Martin-Ruiz, C. *et al.* Telomere length predicts poststroke mortality, dementia, and cognitive decline. *Ann. Neurol.* **60**, 174–180 (2006).
- Panossian, L. A. *et al.* Telomere shortening in T cells correlates with Alzheimer's disease status. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 77–84 (2003).
- 77. Maegawa, S. *et al.* Widespread and tissue specific age-related DNA methylation changes in mice. *Genome Res.* **20**, 332–340 (2010).
- Jin, C. *et al.* Histone demethylase UTX-1 regulates C. elegans life span by targeting the insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway. *Cell Metab.* 14, 161– 172 (2011).
- Bahar, R. *et al.* Increased cell-to-cell variation in gene expression in ageing mouse heart. *Nature* 441, 1011–1014 (2006).
- 80. Harries, L. W. *et al.* Human aging is characterized by focused changes in gene expression and deregulation of alternative splicing. *Aging Cell* 10, 868–878 (2011).
- 81. Nicholas, A. *et al.* Age-related gene-specific changes of A-to-I mRNA editing in the human brain. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **131,** 445–447 (2010).

- Peleg, S. *et al.* Altered Histone Acetylation Is Associated with Age-Dependent Memory Impairment in Mice. *Science (80-.).* 328, 753–756 (2010).
- Palomer, E. *et al.* Aging Triggers a Repressive Chromatin State at Bdnf Promoters in Hippocampal Neurons. *Cell Rep.* 16, 2889–2900 (2016).
- 84. Azpurua, J. & Eaton, B. A. Neuronal epigenetics and the aging synapse. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9, 208 (2015).
- Lardenoije, R. *et al.* The epigenetics of aging and neurodegeneration. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 131, 21–64 (2015).
- Hartl, F. U., Bracher, A. & Hayer-Hartl, M. Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature* 475, 324–332 (2011).
- Koga, H., Kaushik, S. & Cuervo, A. M. Protein homeostasis and aging: The importance of exquisite quality control. *Ageing Research Reviews* 10, 205–215 (2011).
- Mizushima, N., Levine, B., Cuervo, A. M. & Klionsky, D. J. Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. *Nature* 451, 1069–1075 (2008).
- Rubinsztein, D. C., Mariño, G. & Kroemer, G. Autophagy and Aging. *Cell* 146, 682–695 (2011).
- 90. Tomaru, U. *et al.* Decreased proteasomal activity causes age-related phenotypes and promotes the development of metabolic abnormalities. *Am. J. Pathol.* **180,** 963–972 (2012).
- Fontana, L., Partridge, L. & Longo, V. D. Extending healthy life span-from yeast to humans. *Science* 328, 321–326 (2010).
- 92. Garinis, G. A., van der Horst, G. T. J., Vijg, J. & Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. DNA damage and ageing: New-age ideas for an age-old problem. *Nature Cell Biology* **10**, 1241–1247 (2008).

- Houtkooper, R. H., Pirinen, E. & Auwerx, J. Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 13, 225–238 (2012).
- 94. Alers, S., Loffler, A. S., Wesselborg, S. & Stork, B. Role of AMPKmTOR-Ulk1/2 in the Regulation of Autophagy: Cross Talk, Shortcuts, and Feedbacks. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 2–11 (2012).
- Laplante, M. & Sabatini, D. M. mTOR Signaling in Growth Control and Disease. *Cell* 149, 274–293 (2012).
- 96. Steen, E. *et al.* Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease--is this type 3 diabetes? *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* **7**, 63–80 (2005).
- Rivera, E. J. *et al.* Insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and function deteriorate with progression of Alzheimer's disease: Link to brain reductions in acetylcholine. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 8, 247– 268 (2005).
- Lee, H.-K., Kumar, P., Fu, Q., Rosen, K. M. & Querfurth, H. W. The Insulin/Akt Signaling Pathway Is Targeted by Intracellular -Amyloid. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 20, 1533–1544 (2009).
- Duarte, A. I., Santos, M. S., Oliveira, C. R. & Moreira, P. I. Brain insulin signalling, glucose metabolism and females' reproductive aging: A dangerous triad in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology* (2018). doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.01.044
- De Felice, F. G. *et al.* Protection of synapses against Alzheimer'slinked toxins: Insulin signaling prevents the pathogenic binding of Aβ oligomers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **106**, 1971–1976 (2009).
- Griffin, R. J. *et al.* Activation of Akt/PKB, increased phosphorylation of Akt substrates and loss and altered distribution of Akt and PTEN are features of Alzheimer's disease pathology. *J. Neurochem.* 93, 105– 117 (2005).

- 102. Ryder, J., Su, Y. & Ni, B. Akt/GSK3β serine/threonine kinases: Evidence for a signalling pathway mediated by familial Alzheimer's disease mutations. *Cell. Signal.* **16**, 187–200 (2004).
- 103. Akintola, A. A. & van Heemst, D. Insulin, aging, and the brain: Mechanisms and implications. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 6, 13 (2015).
- 104. Mattson, M. P. & Magnus, T. Ageing and neuronal vulnerability. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 7, 278–294 (2006).
- 105. Green, D. R., Galluzzi, L. & Kroemer, G. Mitochondria and the Autophagy-Inflammation-Cell Death Axis in Organismal Aging. *Science (80-.).* 333, 1109–1112 (2011).
- Harman, D. The Free Radical Theory of Aging: Effect of Age on Serum Copper Levels. J. Gerontol. 20, 151–3 (1965).
- 107. Sena, L. A. & Chandel, N. S. Physiological roles of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *Molecular Cell* **48**, 158–166 (2012).
- 108. Hekimi, S., Lapointe, J. & Wen, Y. Taking a 'good' look at free radicals in the aging process. *Trends Cell Biol.* **21**, 569–576 (2011).
- Wang, K. & Klionsky, D. J. Mitochondria removal by autophagy. Autophagy 7, 297–300 (2011).
- Kujoth, G. C. *et al.* Mitochondrial DNA Mutations, Oxidative Stress, and Apoptosis in Mammalian Aging. *Science (80-.).* 309, 481–484 (2005).
- Vermulst, M. *et al.* DNA deletions and clonal mutations drive premature aging in mitochondrial mutator mice. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 392– 394 (2008).
- 112. Trifunovic, A. *et al.* Premature ageing in mice expressing defective mitochondrial DNA polymerase. *Nature* **429**, 417–423 (2004).
- 113. Yankner, B. A., Lu, T. & Loerch, P. The Aging Brain. Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 3, 41–66 (2008).

- 114. Collado, M., Blasco, M. A. & Serrano, M. Cellular Senescence in Cancer and Aging. *Cell* **130**, 223–233 (2007).
- Campisi, J. & d'Adda di Fagagna, F. Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 729–740 (2007).
- 116. Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Mooi, W. J. & Peeper, D. S. The essence of senescence. *Genes Dev.* 24, 2463–2479 (2010).
- 117. Hayflick, L. & Moorhead, P. S. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Exp. Cell Res.* 25, 585–621 (1961).
- Bodnar, A. G. *et al.* Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. *Science (80-.).* 279, 349–352 (1998).
- Maciel-Barón, L. Á. *et al.* Cellular Senescence, Neurological Function, and Redox State. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* (2017). doi:10.1089/ars.2017.7112
- Rando, T. A. & Chang, H. Y. Aging, Rejuvenation, and Epigenetic Reprogramming: Resetting the Aging Clock. *Cell* 148, 46–57 (2012).
- 121. Mu, Y. & Gage, F. H. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and its role in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurodegener.* **6**, 85 (2011).
- 122. Russell, S. J. & Kahn, C. R. Endocrine regulation of ageing. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 681–691 (2007).
- 123. Zhang, G. *et al.* Hypothalamic programming of systemic ageing involving IKK-β, NF-*x*B and GnRH. *Nature* **497**, 211–216 (2013).
- 124. Franceschi, C. & Campisi, J. Chronic inflammation (Inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. *Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 69, S4–S9 (2014).

- Salminen, A., Kaarniranta, K. & Kauppinen, A. Inflammaging: disturbed interplay between autophagy and inflammasomes. *Aging* (*Albany. NY*). 4, 166–175 (2012).
- 126. Nelson, G. *et al.* A senescent cell bystander effect: Senescenceinduced senescence. *Aging Cell* **11**, 345–349 (2012).
- Lefebvre, J. S. *et al.* The aged microenvironment contributes to the age-related functional defects of CD4 T cells in mice. *Aging Cell* 11, 732–740 (2012).
- Lavasani, M. *et al.* Muscle-derived stem/progenitor cell dysfunction limits healthspan and lifespan in a murine progeria model. *Nat. Commun.* 3, 608 (2012).
- 129. Jagust, W. Vulnerable Neural Systems and the Borderland of Brain Aging and Neurodegeneration. *Neuron* **77**, 219–234 (2013).
- 130. Andrews-Hanna, J. R. *et al.* Disruption of large-scale brain systems in advanced aging. *Neuron* **56**, 924–35 (2007).
- Imhof, A. *et al.* Morphological substrates of cognitive decline in nonagenarians and centenarians: A new paradigm? *J. Neurol. Sci.* 257, 72–79 (2007).
- Armstrong, R. A. On the 'classification' of neurodegenerative disorders: discrete entities, overlap or continuum? *Folia Neuropathol.* 50, 201–8 (2012).
- 133. Mann, D. M. A. & Jones, D. Deposition of amyloid (A4) protein within the brains of persons with dementing disorders other than Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 109, 68–75 (1990).
- Serrano-Pozo, A., Frosch, M. P., Masliah, E. & Hyman, B. T. Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 1, 1–24 (2011).

- 135. Selkoe, D. J. Alzheimer's Disease: Genes, Proteins, and Therapy. *Perspective* **81**, 741–767 (2001).
- Alzheimer, A. Uber eine eigenartige Erkrankung der Hirnrinde. Allg Zeitschr f Psychiatr. u Psych-Gerichtl Med 64, 146–8 (1907).
- 137. Salthouse, T. A. What and when of cognitive aging. *Current Directions* in *Psychological Science* **13**, 140–144 (2004).
- Alzheimer's Association. 2017 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimers Dement* 13, 325–373 (2017).
- Braak, H., Braak, E., Bohl, J. & Bratzke, H. Evolution of Alzheimer's disease related cortical lesions. *J. Neural Transm. Suppl.* 54, 97–106 (1998).
- Dickson, D. W. Neuropathological diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: A perspective from longitudinal clinicopathological studies. *Neurobiology of Aging* 18, S21-6 (1997).
- 141. Flament, S., Delacourte, A. & Mann, D. M. Phosphorylation of Tau proteins: a major event during the process of neurofibrillary degeneration. A comparative study between Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. *Brain Res.* 516, 15–9 (1990).
- 142. Glenner, G. G. & Wong, C. W. Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **120**, 885–90 (1984).
- Wippold, F. J., Perry, A., Lennerz, J., Holtzman, D. M. & Morris, J. C. Neuropathology for the neuroradiologist: Rosenthal fibers. *AJNR*. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 27, 958–61 (2006).
- 144. Itagaki, S., McGeer, P. L., Akiyama, H., Zhu, S. & Selkoe, D. Relationship of microglia and astrocytes to amyloid deposits of Alzheimer disease. J. Neuroimmunol. 24, 173–82 (1989).

- 145. Pike, C. J., Cummings, B. J. & Cotman, C. W. Early association of reactive astrocytes with senile plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 132, 172–179 (1995).
- 146. Knowles, R. B. *et al.* Plaque-induced neurite abnormalities: Implications for disruption of neural networks in Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 96, 5274–5279 (1999).
- 147. Masliah, E., Terry, R. D., Mallory, M., Alford, M. & Hansen, L. A. Diffuse plaques do not accentuate synapse loss in Alzheimer's disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 137, 1293–7 (1990).
- Urbanc, B. *et al.* Neurotoxic effects of thioflavin S-positive amyloid deposits in transgenic mice and Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99, 13990–5 (2002).
- 149. Vehmas, A. K., Kawas, C. H., Stewart, W. F. & Troncoso, J. C. Immune reactive cells in senile plaques and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 321–331 (2003).
- Nešić, S., Kukolj, V., Marinković, D., Vučićević, I. & Jovanović, M. Histological and immunohistochemical characteristics of cerebral amyloid angiopathy in elderly dogs. *Vet. Q.* 37, 1–7 (2017).
- Bekris, L. M., Yu, C.-E., Bird, T. D. & Tsuang, D. W. Genetics of Alzheimer disease. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol. 23, 213–27 (2010).
- 152. Bertram, L. & Tanzi, R. E. in *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science* **107**, 79–100 (2012).
- 153. Bird, T. D. Genetic aspects of Alzheimer disease. *Genetics in Medicine* 10, 231–239 (2008).
- 154. Brickell, K. L. *et al.* Early-Onset Alzheimer Disease in Families With Late-Onset Alzheimer Disease. *Arch. Neurol.* **63**, 1307 (2006).

- Campion, D. *et al.* Early-onset autosomal dominant Alzheimer disease: prevalence, genetic heterogeneity, and mutation spectrum. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 65, 664–70 (1999).
- Wingo, T. S., Lah, J. J., Levey, A. I. & Cutler, D. J. Autosomal recessive causes likely in early-onset Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 69, 59–64 (2012).
- 157. Gatz, M. et al. Role of Genes and Environments for Explaining Alzheimer Disease. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 168 (2006).
- Roses, A. D. On the discovery of the genetic association of Apolipoprotein E genotypes and common late-onset Alzheimer disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 9, 361–6 (2006).
- 159. Kamboh, M. I. Molecular Genetics of Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease. Ann. Hum. Genet. 68, 381–404 (2004).
- Bertram, L. Alzheimer's disease: one disorder, too many genes? *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 13, 135R–141 (2004).
- Serretti, A., Artioli, P., Quartesan, R. & De Ronchi, D. Genes involved in Alzheimer's disease, a survey of possible candidates. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 7, 331–53 (2005).
- 162. Levy-Lahad, E. *et al.* Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. *Science* **269**, 973–7 (1995).
- 163. Rogaev, E. I. *et al.* Familial Alzheimer's disease in kindreds with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer's disease type 3 gene. *Nature* **376**, 775–778 (1995).
- Bayer, T. A., Cappai, R., Masters, C. L., Beyreuther, K. & Multhaup,
 G. It all sticks together—the APP-related family of proteins and Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Psychiatry* 4, 524–528 (1999).
- 165. Sherrington, R. *et al.* Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **375**, 754–760 (1995).

- 166. Strittmatter, W. J. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E: high-avidity binding to beta-amyloid and increased frequency of type 4 allele in late-onset familial Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **90**, 1977–1981 (1993).
- 167. Liu, C.-C., Liu, C.-C., Kanekiyo, T., Xu, H. & Bu, G. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 9, 106–18 (2013).
- Corder, E. H. *et al.* Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Genet.* 7, 180–184 (1994).
- Bertram, L., McQueen, M. B., Mullin, K., Blacker, D. & Tanzi, R. E. Systematic meta-analyses of Alzheimer disease genetic association studies: the AlzGene database. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 17–23 (2007).
- Lambert, J. C. *et al.* Meta-analysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 45, 1452– 1458 (2013).
- Jones, L. *et al.* Genetic Evidence Implicates the Immune System and Cholesterol Metabolism in the Aetiology of Alzheimer's Disease. *PLoS One* 5, e13950 (2010).
- 172. Masters, C. L. *et al.* Neuronal origin of a cerebral amyloid: neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease contain the same protein as the amyloid of plaque cores and blood vessels. *EMBO J.* 4, 2757–63 (1985).
- Hardy, J. & Selkoe, D. J. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297, 353–356 (2002).
- Masters, C. L. *et al.* Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 82, 4245–9 (1985).

- 175. Kawai, M. *et al.* Degeneration of vascular muscle cells in cerebral amyloid angiopathy of Alzheimer disease. *Brain Res.* **623**, 142–6 (1993).
- Kamenetz, F. *et al.* APP processing and synaptic function. *Neuron* 37, 925–37 (2003).
- 177. Plant, L. D., Boyle, J. P., Smith, I. F., Peers, C. & Pearson, H. A. The production of amyloid beta peptide is a critical requirement for the viability of central neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 5531–5 (2003).
- 178. Atwood, C. S. *et al.* Amyloid-beta: a chameleon walking in two worlds: a review of the trophic and toxic properties of amyloid-beta. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 43, 1–16 (2003).
- 179. Selkoe, D. J. The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 6, 487–498 (1991).
- 180. Beyreuther, K. & Masters, C. L. Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) and BZA4 Amyloid in the Etiology of Alzheimer's Disease: Precursor-Product Relationships in the Derangement of Neuronal Function. *Brain Pathol.* 1, 241–251 (1991).
- Hardy, J. & Allsop, D. Amyloid deposition as the central event in the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 12, 383–388 (1991).
- Hardy, J. & Higgins, G. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science (80-.).* 256, 184–185 (1992).
- Selkoe, D. J. & Hardy, J. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. *EMBO Mol Med* 8, 595–608 (2016).
- 184. Haass, C. *et al.* The Swedish mutation causes early-onset Alzheimer's disease by β-secretase cleavage within the secretory pathway. *Nat. Med.* **1**, 1291–1296 (1995).

- 185. Scheuner, D. *et al.* Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Med.* 2, 864–70 (1996).
- Prasher, V. P. *et al.* Molecular mapping of alzheimer-type dementia in Down's syndrome. *Ann. Neurol.* 43, 380–383 (1998).
- 187. Lemere, C. A. *et al.* Sequence of deposition of heterogeneous amyloid β -peptides and APO E in down syndrome: Implications for initial events in amyloid plaque formation. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **3**, 16–32 (1996).
- 188. Pike, C. J., Walencewicz, A. J., Glabe, C. G. & Cotman, C. W. In vitro aging of beta-amyloid protein causes peptide aggregation and neurotoxicity. *Brain Res.* 563, 311–4 (1991).
- 189. William Rebeck, G., Reiter, J. S., Strickland, D. K. & Hyman, B. T. Apolipoprotein E in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: Allelic variation and receptor interactions. *Neuron* **11**, 575–580 (1993).
- Castellano, J. M. *et al.* Human apoE isoforms differentially regulate brain amyloid-β peptide clearance. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3, 89ra57-89ra57 (2011).
- Verghese, P. B., Castellano, J. M. & Holtzman, D. M. Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* 10, 241–252 (2011).
- 192. Holtzman, D. M. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, 2892–2897 (2000).
- 193. Murrell, J., Farlow, M., Ghetti, B. & Benson, M. D. A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein associated with hereditary Alzheimer's disease. *Science* 254, 97–9 (1991).

- 194. Naruse, S. *et al.* Mis-sense mutation Val----Ile in exon 17 of amyloid precursor protein gene in Japanese familial Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet (London, England)* 337, 978–9 (1991).
- 195. Goate, A. *et al.* Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 349, 704–706 (1991).
- 196. Jonsson, T. *et al.* A mutation in APP protects against Alzheimer's disease and age-related cognitive decline. *Nature* **488**, 96–99 (2012).
- Shankar, G. M. *et al.* Amyloid-β protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat. Med.* 14, 837–842 (2008).
- Terry, R. D. *et al.* Physical basis of cognitive alterations in alzheimer's disease: Synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Ann. Neurol.* 30, 572–580 (1991).
- DeKosky, S. T. & Scheff, S. W. Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: Correlation with cognitive severity. *Ann. Neurol.* 27, 457–464 (1990).
- Lewis, J. et al. Enhanced Neurofibrillary Degeneration in Transgenic Mice Expressing Mutant Tau and APP. Science (80-.). 293, 1487–1491 (2001).
- 201. Shi, Y. *et al.* A human stem cell model of early Alzheimer's disease pathology in down syndrome. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **4**, (2012).
- 202. Choi, S. H. *et al.* A three-dimensional human neural cell culture model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **515**, 274–278 (2014).
- 203. Muratore, C. R. *et al.* The familial Alzheimer's disease APPV717I mutation alters APP processing and Tau expression in iPSC-derived neurons. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3523–3536 (2014).

- 204. Moore, S. *et al.* APP metabolism regulates tau proteostasis in human cerebral cortex neurons. *Cell Rep.* **11**, 689–96 (2015).
- Rapoport, M., Dawson, H. N., Binder, L. I., Vitek, M. P. & Ferreira,
 A. Tau is essential to -amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 99, 6364–6369 (2002).
- 206. Jin, M. *et al.* Soluble amyloid -protein dimers isolated from Alzheimer cortex directly induce Tau hyperphosphorylation and neuritic degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **108**, 5819–5824 (2011).
- Roberson, E. D. *et al.* Reducing Endogenous Tau Ameliorates Amyloid -Induced Deficits in an Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Model. *Science (80-.).* 316, 750–754 (2007).
- 208. Drachman, D. A. The amyloid hypothesis, time to move on: Amyloid is the downstream result, not cause, of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **10**, 372–380 (2014).
- 209. Morris, G. P., Clark, I. A. & Vissel, B. Inconsistencies and controversies surrounding the amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 2, 135 (2014).
- Villemagne, V. L. *et al.* Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* 12, 357–367 (2013).
- Aizenstein, H. J. *et al.* Frequent Amyloid Deposition Without Significant Cognitive Impairment Among the Elderly. *Arch. Neurol.* 65, 1509 (2008).
- Esparza, T. J. *et al.* Amyloid-β oligomerization in Alzheimer dementia versus high-pathology controls. *Ann. Neurol.* **73**, 104–19 (2013).
- Näslund, J. Correlation Between Elevated Levels of Amyloid β-Peptide in the Brain and Cognitive Decline. JAMA 283, 1571 (2000).

- Lue, L. F. *et al.* Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 155, 853–62 (1999).
- 215. Wang, J., Dickson, D. W., Trojanowski, J. Q. & Lee, V. M.-Y. The Levels of Soluble versus Insoluble Brain Aβ Distinguish Alzheimer's Disease from Normal and Pathologic Aging. *Exp. Neurol.* **158**, 328– 337 (1999).
- 216. McLean, C. A. *et al.* Soluble pool of Abeta amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 46, 860–6 (1999).
- 217. Hong, S. *et al.* Soluble Aβ oligomers are rapidly sequestered from brain ISF in vivo and bind GM1 ganglioside on cellular membranes. *Neuron* 82, 308–19 (2014).
- De Strooper, B. Lessons from a Failed γ-Secretase Alzheimer Trial. *Cell* 159, 721–726 (2014).
- Karran, E. & Hardy, J. A critique of the drug discovery and phase 3 clinical programs targeting the amyloid hypothesis for Alzheimer disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 76, 185–205 (2014).
- 220. Morgan, D. *et al.* A beta peptide vaccination prevents memory loss in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **408**, 982–5 (2000).
- 221. Yoshikai, S., Sasaki, H., Doh-ura, K., Furuya, H. & Sakaki, Y. Genomic organization of the human amyloid beta-protein precursor gene. *Gene* 87, 257–263 (1990).
- 222. Kang, J. & Müller-Hill, B. Differential splicing of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 precursor RNA in rat tissues: PreA4(695) mRNA is predominantly produced in rat and human brain. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 166, 1192–200 (1990).

- 223. De Strooper, B. & Annaert, W. Proteolytic processing and cell biological functions of the amyloid precursor protein. J. Cell Sci. 113, 1857–1870 (2000).
- Hayashi, Y. *et al.* Alzheimer Amyloid Protein Precursor Enhances Proliferation of Neural Stem Cells from Fetal Rat Brain. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 205, 936–943 (1994).
- 225. Soba, P. *et al.* Homo- and heterodimerization of APP family members promotes intercellular adhesion. *EMBO J.* **24,** 3624–34 (2005).
- 226. Freude, K. K., Penjwini, M., Davis, J. L., LaFerla, F. M. & Blurton-Jones, M. Soluble Amyloid Precursor Protein Induces Rapid Neural Differentiation of Human Embryonic Stem Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 24264–24274 (2011).
- 227. Priller, C. *et al.* Synapse Formation and Function Is Modulated by the Amyloid Precursor Protein. *J. Neurosci.* **26,** 7212–7221 (2006).
- 228. Kang, J. *et al.* The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. *Nature* **325**, 733–736 (1987).
- Vassar, R. *et al.* Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science* 286, 735–741 (1999).
- 230. Zhang, Y., Thompson, R., Zhang, H. & Xu, H. APP processing in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Brain* **4**, 3 (2011).
- 231. Allinson, T. M. J., Parkin, E. T., Turner, A. J. & Hooper, N. M. ADAMs family members as amyloid precursor protein ?-secretases. J. Neurosci. Res. 74, 342–352 (2003).
- 232. Vassar, R. *et al.* Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science* 286, 735–741 (1999).

- Sinha, S. *et al.* Purification and cloning of amyloid precursor protein β-secretase from human brain. *Nature* 402, 537–540 (1999).
- 234. Hussain, I. *et al.* Identification of a Novel Aspartic Protease (Asp 2) as β-Secretase. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 14, 419–427 (1999).
- Wolfe, M. S. *et al.* Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and γ-secretase activity. *Nature* 398, 513–517 (1999).
- Steiner, H. *et al.* PEN-2 Is an Integral Component of the γ-Secretase Complex Required for Coordinated Expression of Presenilin and Nicastrin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 39062–39065 (2002).
- 237. Francis, R. *et al.* aph-1 and pen-2 are required for Notch pathway signaling, gamma-secretase cleavage of betaAPP, and presenilin protein accumulation. *Dev. Cell* **3**, 85–97 (2002).
- Levitan, D. *et al.* PS1 N- and C-terminal fragments form a complex that functions in APP processing and Notch signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 98, 12186–12190 (2001).
- LaFerla, F. M., Green, K. N. & Oddo, S. Intracellular amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 499–509 (2007).
- Kojro, E. & Fahrenholz, F. The non-amyloidogenic pathway: structure and function of alpha-secretases. *Subcell. Biochem.* 38, 105–27 (2005).
- 241. Haass, C., Hung, A. Y., Schlossmacher, M. G., Teplow, D. B. & Selkoe, D. J. beta-Amyloid peptide and a 3-kDa fragment are derived by distinct cellular mechanisms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 3021–4 (1993).
- 242. Citron, M., Teplow, D. B. & Selkoe, D. J. Generation of amyloid β protein from its precursor is sequence specific. *Neuron* 14, 661–670 (1995).

- 243. Huse, J. T., Pijak, D. S., Leslie, G. J., Lee, V. M.-Y. & Doms, R. W. Maturation and Endosomal Targeting of β-Site Amyloid Precursor Protein-cleaving Enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 33729–33737 (2000).
- 244. Jarrett, J. T., Berger, E. P. & Lansbury, P. T. The carboxy terminus of the .beta. amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: Implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry* 32, 4693–4697 (1993).
- 245. Edbauer, D. *et al.* Reconstitution of γ-secretase activity. *Nat. Cell Biol.*5, 486–488 (2003).
- Younkin, S. G. The role of Aβ42 in Alzheimer's disease. in *Journal of Physiology Paris* 92, 289–292 (Elsevier, 1998).
- 247. Wilson, C. A., Doms, R. W. & Lee, V. M. Intracellular APP processing and A beta production in Alzheimer disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 58, 787–94 (1999).
- Takahashi, R. H. *et al.* Intraneuronal Alzheimer Aβ42 accumulates in multivesicular bodies and is associated with synaptic pathology. *Am. J. Pathol.* 161, 1869–1879 (2002).
- Koo, E. H. & Squazzo, S. L. Evidence that production and release of amyloid beta-protein involves the endocytic pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 17386–17389 (1994).
- Bi, X., Gall, C. M., Zhou, J. & Lynch, G. Uptake and pathogenic effects of amyloid beta peptide 1-42 are enhanced by integrin antagonists and blocked by NMDA receptor antagonists. *Neuroscience* 112, 827–40 (2002).
- 251. Selkoe, D. J. Aging, amyloid, and Alzheimer's disease: a perspective in honor of Carl Cotman. *Neurochem. Res.* 28, 1705–13 (2003).

- Zlokovic, B. V., Yamada, S., Holtzman, D., Ghiso, J. & Frangione, B. Clearance of amyloid beta-peptide from brain: transport or metabolism? *Nat. Med.* 6, 718–718 (2000).
- 253. Mawuenyega, K. G. *et al.* Decreased clearance of CNS β-amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Science (80-.).* **330,** 1774 (2010).
- 254. Reiman, E. M. *et al.* Brain imaging and fluid biomarker analysis in young adults at genetic risk for autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease in the presenilin 1 E280A kindred: a case-control study. *Lancet Neurol.* **11**, 1048–1056 (2012).
- Potter, R. *et al.* Increased in Vivo Amyloid- 42 Production, Exchange, and Loss in Presenilin Mutation Carriers. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5, 189ra77-189ra77 (2013).
- 256. Perez, F. P. *et al.* Late-onset Alzheimer's disease, heating up and foxed by several proteins: pathomolecular effects of the aging process. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 40, 1–17 (2014).
- 257. Zhang, L., Sheng, R. & Qin, Z. The lysosome and neurodegenerative diseases. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai).* **41,** 437–45 (2009).
- Querfurth, H. W. & LaFerla, F. M. Alzheimer's Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 329–344 (2010).
- Iwata, N. et al. Metabolic Regulation of Brain Abeta by Neprilysin. Science (80-.). 292, 1550–1552 (2001).
- Nalivaeva, N. N., Beckett, C., Belyaev, N. D. & Turner, A. J. Are amyloid-degrading enzymes viable therapeutic targets in Alzheimer's disease? *J. Neurochem.* 120, 167–185 (2012).
- Miners, J. S. *et al.* Aβ-degrading enzymes in Alzheimer's disease. in Brain Pathology 18, 240–252 (2008).

- Eckman, E. A. Degradation of the Alzheimer's Amyloid beta Peptide by Endothelin-converting Enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 24540–24548 (2001).
- Zlokovic, B. V. Neurovascular pathways to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 723– 738 (2011).
- Qiu, W. Q. *et al.* Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates extracellular levels of amyloid beta-protein by degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 32730–8 (1998).
- 265. T., N. & Y., S. Patients showsignificant disturbance in water influx into CSF space, strongly supporting beta-amyloid clearance hypothesis. *Alzheimer's and Dementia* **10**, P7 (2014).
- 266. Yoon, S. S. & Jo, S. A. Mechanisms of amyloid-β peptide clearance: Potential therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's disease. *Biomolecules and Therapeutics* 20, 245–255 (2012).
- Tarasoff-Conway, J. M. *et al.* Clearance systems in the brain implications for Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 11, 457–470 (2015).
- 268. Shibata, M. *et al.* Clearance of Alzheimer's amyloid-ss(1-40) peptide from brain by LDL receptor-related protein-1 at the blood-brain barrier. *J. Clin. Invest.* **106**, 1489–99 (2000).
- 269. Pascale, C. L. *et al.* Amyloid-beta transporter expression at the blood-CSF barrier is age-dependent. *Fluids Barriers CNS* **8**, 21 (2011).
- 270. Akanuma, S. *et al.* ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) deficiency does not attenuate the brain-to-blood efflux transport of human amyloid-β peptide (1–40) at the blood-brain barrier. *Neurochem. Int.* 52, 956–961 (2008).

- 271. ElAli, A. & Rivest, S. The role of ABCB1 and ABCA1 in betaamyloid clearance at the neurovascular unit in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Physiol.* 4, 45 (2013).
- 272. Fitz, N. F. et al. Abca1 Deficiency Affects Alzheimer's Disease-Like Phenotype in Human ApoE4 But Not in ApoE3-Targeted Replacement Mice. J. Neurosci. 32, 13125–13136 (2012).
- 273. Ito, S. *et al.* Involvement of insulin-degrading enzyme in insulin- and atrial natriuretic peptide-sensitive internalization of amyloid-β peptide in mouse brain capillary endothelial cells. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 38, 185– 200 (2014).
- 274. Deane, R. *et al.* A multimodal RAGE-specific inhibitor reduces amyloid β-mediated brain disorder in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **122**, 1377–1392 (2012).
- 275. Zlokovic, B. V., Deane, R., Sagare, A. P., Bell, R. D. & Winkler, E. A. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1: a serial clearance homeostatic mechanism controlling Alzheimer's amyloid β-peptide elimination from the brain. *J. Neurochem.* **115**, 1077–1089 (2010).
- 276. Iliff, J. J. *et al.* A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **4**, 147ra111 (2012).
- Iliff, J. J. & Nedergaard, M. Is There a Cerebral Lymphatic System? Stroke 44, S93–S95 (2013).
- 278. Kress, B. T. *et al.* Impairment of paravascular clearance pathways in the aging brain. *Ann. Neurol.* **76**, 845–861 (2014).
- 279. Soto, C. & Castanm, E. M. The conformation of Alzheimer's β peptide determines the rate of amyloid formation and its resistance to proteolysis. *Biochem. J* **314**, 701–707 (1996).

- 280. Barrow, C. J., Yasuda, A., Kenny, P. T. M. & Zagorski, M. G. Solution conformations and aggregational properties of synthetic amyloid β-peptides of Alzheimer's disease. Analysis of circular dichroism spectra. *J. Mol. Biol.* 225, 1075–1093 (1992).
- Cohen, S. I. A. *et al.* Proliferation of amyloid- 42 aggregates occurs through a secondary nucleation mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 110, 9758–9763 (2013).
- Fezoui, Y. *et al.* An improved method of preparing the amyloid betaprotein for fibrillogenesis and neurotoxicity experiments. *Amyloid* 7, 166–78 (2000).
- 283. Meisl, G. *et al.* Differences in nucleation behavior underlie the contrasting aggregation kinetics of the Aβ40 and Aβ42 peptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **111**, 9384–9389 (2014).
- 284. Zhou, L. *et al.* Amyloid precursor protein mutation E682K at the alternative β-secretase cleavage β'-site increases Aβ generation. *EMBO Mol. Med.* **3**, 291–302 (2011).
- 285. Hendriks, L. *et al.* Presenile dementia and cerebral haemorrhage linked to a mutation at codon 692 of the β–amyloid precursor protein gene. *Nat. Genet.* **1**, 218–221 (1992).
- 286. Di Fede, G. et al. A Recessive Mutation in the APP Gene with Dominant-Negative Effect on Amyloidogenesis. Science (80-.). 323, 1473–1477 (2009).
- 287. Chen, W.-T. *et al.* Amyloid-Beta (Aβ) D7H Mutation Increases Oligomeric Aβ42 and Alters Properties of Aβ-Zinc/Copper Assemblies. *PLoS One* 7, e35807 (2012).
- Kaden, D. *et al.* Novel APP/Aβ mutation K16N produces highly toxic heteromeric Aβ oligomers. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 4, 647–659 (2012).

- 289. Janssen, J. C. *et al.* Early onset familial Alzheimer's disease: Mutation frequency in 31 families. *Neurology* **60**, 235–9 (2003).
- 290. Wakutani, Y. *et al.* Novel amyloid precursor protein gene missense mutation (D678N) in probable familial Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 75, 1039–42 (2004).
- Bugiani, O. *et al.* Hereditary Cerebral Hemorrhage With Amyloidosis Associated With the E693K Mutation of APP. *Arch. Neurol.* 67, 987– 95 (2010).
- 292. Kamino, K. et al. Linkage and mutational analysis of familial Alzheimer disease kindreds for the APP gene region. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 51, 998–1014 (1992).
- 293. Tomiyama, T. *et al.* A new amyloid β variant favoring oligomerization in Alzheimer's-type dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* **63**, 377–387 (2008).
- 294. Levy, E. *et al.* Mutation of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid gene in hereditary cerebral hemorrhage, Dutch type. *Science* **248**, 1124–6 (1990).
- 295. Grabowski, T. J., Cho, H. S., Vonsattel, J. P., Rebeck, G. W. & Greenberg, S. M. Novel amyloid precursor protein mutation in an Iowa family with dementia and severe cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Ann. Neurol.* 49, 697–705 (2001).
- Haass, C. & Selkoe, D. J. Cellular processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein and the genesis of amyloid beta-peptide. *Cell* 75, 1039–42 (1993).
- 297. Miller, D. L. et al. Peptide Compositions of the Cerebrovascular and Senile Plaque Core Amyloid Deposits of Alzheimer's Disease. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 301, 41–52 (1993).

- 298. Kumar-Singh, S. *et al.* Mean age-of-onset of familial alzheimer disease caused by presenilin mutations correlates with both increased Aβ42 and decreased Aβ40. *Hum. Mutat.* 27, 686–695 (2006).
- Kuperstein, I. *et al.* Neurotoxicity of Alzheimer's disease Aβ peptides is induced by small changes in the Aβ42 to Aβ40 ratio. *EMBO J.* 29, 3408–20 (2010).
- 300. Kummer, M. P. & Heneka, M. T. Truncated and modified amyloidbeta species. *Alzheimer's* Res. Ther. **6**, 1–9 (2014).
- Guivernau, B. *et al.* Amyloid-β Peptide Nitrotyrosination Stabilizes Oligomers and Enhances NMDAR-Mediated Toxicity. J. Neurosci. 36, 11693–11703 (2016).
- Lührs, T. *et al.* 3D structure of Alzheimer's amyloid-β(1 42) fibrils.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (2005). doi:10.1073/pnas.0506723102
- 303. Rezaei-Ghaleh, N. *et al.* Turn plasticity distinguishes different modes of amyloid-β aggregation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **136**, 4913–4919 (2014).
- 304. Egnaczyk, G. F., Greis, K. D., Stimson, E. R. & Maggio, J. E. Photoaffinity cross-linking of Alzheimer's disease amyloid fibrils reveals interstrand contact regions between assembled beta-amyloid peptide subunits. *Biochemistry* 40, 11706–14 (2001).
- 305. Zhang, R. *et al.* Interprotofilament interactions between Alzheimer's Aβ 1-42 peptides in amyloid fibrils revealed by cryoEM. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 106, 4653–4658 (2009).
- 306. Cleary, J. P. *et al.* Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. *Nat. Neurosci.* **8**, 79–84 (2005).
- 307. Selkoe, D. J. Soluble oligomers of the amyloid β-protein impair synaptic plasticity and behavior. *Behavioural Brain Research* 192, 106– 113 (2008).

- 308. Wang, H. Y. *et al.* beta-Amyloid(1-42) binds to alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor with high affinity. Implications for Alzheimer's disease pathology. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 5626–32 (2000).
- Snyder, E. M. *et al.* Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by amyloid-β. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1051–1058 (2005).
- Zhang, Y. *et al.* Reduced levels of the tyrosine phosphatase STEP block beta amyloid-mediated GluA1/GluA2 receptor internalization. *J. Neurochem.* 119, 664–672 (2011).
- Shankar, G. M. *et al.* Natural Oligomers of the Alzheimer Amyloid-Protein Induce Reversible Synapse Loss by Modulating an NMDA-Type Glutamate Receptor-Dependent Signaling Pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 2866–2875 (2007).
- 312. Ye, C., Walsh, D. M., Selkoe, D. J. & Hartley, D. M. Amyloid βprotein induced electrophysiological changes are dependent on aggregation state: N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) versus non-NMDA receptor/channel activation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 366, 320–325 (2004).
- 313. De Felice, F. G. et al. Aβ Oligomers Induce Neuronal Oxidative Stress through an N -Methyl-D-aspartate Receptor-dependent Mechanism That Is Blocked by the Alzheimer Drug Memantine. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 11590–11601 (2007).
- Yamamoto, N. *et al.* A Ganglioside-induced Toxic Soluble Aβ Assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 2646–2655 (2007).
- 315. Magdesian, M. H. *et al.* Amyloid-β Binds to the Extracellular Cysteine-rich Domain of Frizzled and Inhibits Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 9359–9368 (2008).

- Laurén, J., Gimbel, D. A., Nygaard, H. B., Gilbert, J. W. & Strittmatter, S. M. Cellular prion protein mediates impairment of synaptic plasticity by amyloid-B oligomers. *Nature* 457, 1128–1132 (2009).
- Alberdi, E. *et al.* Amyloid β oligomers induce Ca2+ dysregulation and neuronal death through activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Cell Calcium* 47, 264–272 (2010).
- 318. Paula-Lima, A. C. *et al.* Amyloid β-Peptide Oligomers Stimulate RyR-Mediated Ca ²⁺ Release Inducing Mitochondrial Fragmentation in Hippocampal Neurons and Prevent RyR-Mediated Dendritic Spine Remodeling Produced by BDNF. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 14, 1209– 1223 (2011).
- 319. Demuro, A. & Parker, I. Cytotoxicity of Intracellular A 42 Amyloid Oligomers Involves Ca2+ Release from the Endoplasmic Reticulum by Stimulated Production of Inositol Trisphosphate. J. Neurosci. 33, 3824–3833 (2013).
- 320. Lazzari, C., Kipanyula, M. J., Agostini, M., Pozzan, T. & Fasolato, C. Aβ42 oligomers selectively disrupt neuronal calcium release. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 877–885 (2015).
- 321. Schapansky, J., Olson, K., Van Der Ploeg, R. & Glazner, G. NF-xB activated by ER calcium release inhibits Aβ-mediated expression of CHOP protein: Enhancement by AD-linked mutant presenilin 1. *Exp. Neurol.* 208, 169–176 (2007).
- 322. Stutzmann, G. E. *et al.* Enhanced Ryanodine Receptor Recruitment Contributes to Ca2+ Disruptions in Young, Adult, and Aged Alzheimer's Disease Mice. J. Neurosci. 26, 5180–5189 (2006).
- 323. Kayed, R. et al. Permeabilization of Lipid Bilayers Is a Common Conformation-dependent Activity of Soluble Amyloid Oligomers in Protein Misfolding Diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 46363–46366 (2004).

- 324. Yang, A. J., Chandswangbhuvana, D., Margol, L. & Glabe, C. G. Loss of endosomal/lysosomal membrane impermeability is an early event in amyloid A?1-42 pathogenesis. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 52, 691–698 (1998).
- 325. Caspersen, C. *et al.* Mitochondrial Aβ: a potential focal point for neuronal metabolic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J.* 19, 2040–2041 (2005).
- 326. Wang, X. et al. Amyloid- overproduction causes abnormal mitochondrial dynamics via differential modulation of mitochondrial fission/fusion proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 19318–19323 (2008).
- 327. Cha, M.-Y. *et al.* Mitochondria-Specific Accumulation of Amyloid β Induces Mitochondrial Dysfunction Leading to Apoptotic Cell Death. *PLoS One* 7, e34929 (2012).
- 328. Butterfield, D. A. Amyloid beta-peptide (1-42)-induced oxidative stress and neurotoxicity: implications for neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease brain. A review. *Free Radic. Res.* **36**, 1307–13 (2002).
- 329. Harris, M. E., Hensley, K., Butterfield, D. A., Leedle, R. A. & Carney, J. M. Direct evidence of oxidative injury produced by the Alzheimer's β-Amyloid peptide (1–40) in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Exp. Neurol.* 131, 193–202 (1995).
- Behl, C., Davis, J. B., Lesley, R. & Schubert, D. Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. *Cell* 77, 817–27 (1994).
- 331. Kaminsky, Y. G. & Kosenko, E. A. Effects of amyloid-beta peptides on hydrogen peroxide-metabolizing enzymes in rat brain *in vivo*. *Free Radic. Res.* 42, 564–573 (2008).
- 332. Bianca, V. D., Dusi, S., Bianchini, E., Dal Prà, I. & Rossi, F. betaamyloid activates the O-2 forming NADPH oxidase in microglia, monocytes, and neutrophils. A possible inflammatory mechanism of neuronal damage in Alzheimer's disease. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 15493–9 (1999).
- 333. Guix, F. X. *et al.* Amyloid-dependent triosephosphate isomerase nitrotyrosination induces glycation and tau fibrillation. *Brain* 132, 1335–1345 (2009).
- 334. Tajes, M. *et al.* Methylglyoxal produced by amyloid-β peptide-induced nitrotyrosination of triosephosphate isomerase triggers neuronal death in Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 41, 273–88 (2014).
- 335. Tseng, B. P., Green, K. N., Chan, J. L., Blurton-Jones, M. & LaFerla,
 F. M. Abeta inhibits the proteasome and enhances amyloid and tau accumulation. *Neurobiol. Aging* 29, 1607–18 (2008).
- Gregori, L., Fuchs, C., Figueiredo-Pereira, M. E., Van Nostrand, W. E. & Goldgaber, D. Amyloid beta-protein inhibits ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation in vitro. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 19702–8 (1995).
- 337. Almeida, C. G., Takahashi, R. H. & Gouras, G. K. beta-Amyloid Accumulation Impairs Multivesicular Body Sorting by Inhibiting the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System. J. Neurosci. 26, 4277–4288 (2006).
- 338. Guglielmotto, M. *et al.* Aβ1-42 monomers or oligomers have different effects on autophagy and apoptosis. *Autophagy* **10**, 1827–1843 (2014).
- Agholme, L., Hallbeck, M., Benedikz, E., Marcusson, J. & Kågedal,
 K. Amyloid-β secretion, generation, and lysosomal sequestration in response to proteasome inhibition: involvement of autophagy. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 31, 343–58 (2012).
- Alzheimer's Association. FDA-approved treatments for Alzheimer's. (2017).

- Citron, M. Alzheimer's disease: strategies for disease modification. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9, 387–398 (2010).
- 342. Selkoe, D. J. The therapeutics of Alzheimer's disease: where we stand and where we are heading. *Annals of neurology* **74**, 328–336 (2013).
- 343. Ising, C., Stanley, M. & Holtzman, D. M. Current thinking on the mechanistic basis of Alzheimer's and implications for drug development. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 98, 469–471 (2015).
- Cummings, J. L., Morstorf, T. & Zhong, K. Alzheimer's disease drugdevelopment pipeline: few candidates, frequent failures. *Alzheimers. Res. Ther.* 6, 37 (2014).
- Godyn, J., Jonczyk, J., Panek, D. & Malawska, B. Therapeutic strategies for Alzheimer's disease in clinical trials. *Pharmacological Reports* 68, 127–138 (2016).
- 346. Willem, M. *et al.* Control of Peripheral Nerve Myelination by the -Secretase BACE1. *Science (80-.).* **314,** 664–666 (2006).
- 347. Yan, R. & Vassar, R. Targeting the β secretase BACE1 for Alzheimer's disease therapy. *The Lancet Neurology* **13**, 319–329 (2014).
- Home ClinicalTrials.gov. Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/. (Accessed: 26th March 2018)
- Kuhn, P.-H. *et al.* Secretome protein enrichment identifies physiological BACE1 protease substrates in neurons. *EMBO J.* 31, 3157–3168 (2012).
- 350. Vassar, R. BACE1 inhibitor drugs in clinical trials for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's* Research and Therapy **6**, 89 (2014).
- Haapasalo, A. & Kovacs, D. M. The many substrates of presenilin/γsecretase. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 25, 3–28 (2011).
- 352. Imbimbo, B. P. Therapeutic potential of gamma-secretase inhibitors and modulators. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* **8**, 54–61 (2008).

- 353. Godyn, J. *et al.* Therapeutic strategies for Alzheimer's disease in clinical trials. *Pharmacol. Reports* **68**, 127–138 (2016).
- 354. Panza, F., Logroscino, G., Imbimbo, B. P. & Solfrizzi, V. Is there still any hope for amyloid-based immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease? *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* **27**, 128–137 (2014).
- 355. Bard, F. *et al.* Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* **6**, 916–919 (2000).
- 356. Paquet, C. *et al.* Effect of active A β immunotherapy on neurons in human Alzheimer's disease. *J. Pathol.* **235**, 721–730 (2015).
- Lannfelt, L., Relkin, N. R. & Siemers, E. R. Amyloid-B-directed immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. J. Intern. Med. 275, 284–295 (2014).
- 358. Salloway, S. et al. A phase 2 multiple ascending dose trial of bapineuzumab in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Neurology 73, 2061–2070 (2009).
- 359. Solomon, B., Koppel, R., Frankel, D. & Hanan-Aharon, E. Disaggregation of Alzheimer beta-amyloid by site-directed mAb. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 4109–4112 (1997).
- 360. Frenkel, D., Katz, O. & Solomon, B. Immunization against Alzheimer's beta -amyloid plaques via EFRH phage administration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97, 11455–11459 (2000).
- 361. Zhang, Y. *et al.* Single chain variable fragment against Aβ expressed in baculovirus inhibits Abeta fibril elongation and promotes its disaggregation. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–16 (2015).
- 362. Ivanoiu, A. *et al.* Long-term safety and tolerability of bapineuzumab in patients with Alzheimer's disease in two phase 3 extension studies. *Alzheimers.* Res. Ther. 8, 24 (2016).

- Wisniewski, T. & Goñi, F. Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. Biochem. Pharmacol. 88, 499–507 (2014).
- 364. Doody, R. S. *et al.* Phase 3 trials of solanezumab for mild-tomoderate Alzheimer's disease. N. *Engl. J. Med.* **370**, 311–321 (2014).
- 365. Sevigny, J. *et al.* The antibody aducanumab reduces $A\beta$ plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **537**, 50–56 (2016).
- 366. Panza, F. et al. Amyloid-based immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease in the time of prevention trials: the way forward. Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 10, 405–419 (2014).
- 367. Winblad, B. *et al.* Safety, tolerability, and antibody response of active Aβ immunotherapy with CAD106 in patients with Alzheimer's disease: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, first-in-human study. *Lancet Neurol.* **11**, 597–604 (2012).
- 368. Vandenberghe, R. et al. Active Aβ immunotherapy CAD106 in Alzheimer's disease: A phase 2b study. Alzheimer's Dement. Transl. Res. Clin. Interv. 3, 10–22 (2017).
- Dodel, R. *et al.* Intravenous immunoglobulin for treatment of mildto-moderate Alzheimer's disease: a phase 2, randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, dose-finding trial. *Lancet. Neurol.* 12, 233– 243 (2013).
- Relkin, N. Intravenous immunoglobulin for Alzheimer's disease. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 27–29 (2014). doi:10.1111/cei.12500
- 371. Jia, Q., Deng, Y. & Qing, H. Potential Therapeutic Strategies for Alzheimer's Disease Targeting or Beyond β -Amyloid: Insights from Clinical Trials. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2014**, 1–22 (2014).
- 372. Tajes, M. et al. The blood-brain barrier: Structure, function and therapeutic approaches to cross it. Mol. Membr. Biol. 31, 152–167 (2014).

- 373. Selkoe, D. J. The therapeutics of Alzheimer's disease: where we stand and where we are heading. *Ann. Neurol.* **74**, 328–336 (2013).
- 374. Quiroz, Y. T. *et al.* Brain Imaging and Blood Biomarker Abnormalities in Children With Autosomal Dominant Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurol. 72, 912 (2015).
- 375. Hooper, M. *et al.* The impact of the availability of prevention studies on the desire to undergo predictive testing in persons at risk for autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease. *Contemp. Clin. Trials* **36**, 256–262 (2013).
- Morris, J. C. *et al.* Pittsburgh compound B imaging and prediction of progression from cognitive normality to symptomatic Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 1469–1475 (2009).
- Alcolea, D. *et al.* Amyloid precursor protein metabolism and inflammation markers in preclinical Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 85, 626–633 (2015).
- 378. Sutphen, C. L. *et al.* Longitudinal cerebrospinal fluid biomarker changes in preclinical Alzheimer disease during middle age. *JAMA Neurol.* **72**, 1029–1042 (2015).
- 379. Schindler, S. E. & Fagan, A. M. Autosomal Dominant Alzheimer Disease: A Unique Resource to Study CSF Biomarker Changes in Preclinical AD. Front. Neurol. 6, 142 (2015).
- 380. Singer, S. J. & Nicolson, G. L. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. *Science* **175**, 720–31 (1972).
- Lingwood, D. & Simons, K. Lipid Rafts As a Membrane-Organizing Principle. *Science (80-.).* 327, 46–50 (2010).
- 382. Santos, A. L. & Preta, G. Lipids in the cell: organisation regulates function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* (2018). doi:10.1007/s00018-018-2765-4

- Wymann, M. P. & Schneiter, R. Lipid signalling in disease. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 162–76 (2008).
- Simons, K. & Vaz, W. L. C. Model Systems, Lipid Rafts, and Cell Membranes. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 33, 269–295 (2004).
- 385. Pike, L. J. Rafts defined: a report on the Keystone Symposium on Lipid Rafts and Cell Function. J. Lipid Res. 47, 1597–8 (2006).
- Hicks, D. a, Nalivaeva, N. N. & Turner, A. J. Lipid rafts and Alzheimer's disease: protein-lipid interactions and perturbation of signaling. *Front. Physiol.* 3, 189 (2012).
- 387. Raghupathy, R. *et al.* Transbilayer lipid interactions mediate nanoclustering of lipid-anchored proteins. *Cell* **161**, 581–594 (2015).
- Brown, D. A. & Rose, J. K. Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. *Cell* 68, 533–44 (1992).
- 389. Ahmed, S. N., Brown, D. A. & London, E. On the origin of sphingolipid/cholesterol-rich detergent-insoluble cell membranes: physiological concentrations of cholesterol and sphingolipid induce formation of a detergent-insoluble, liquid-ordered lipid phase in model membranes. *Biochemistry* 36, 10944–53 (1997).
- Simons, K. & Ikonen, E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 387, 569–572 (1997).
- 391. Sezgin, E., Levental, I., Mayor, S. & Eggeling, C. The mystery of membrane organization: Composition, regulation and roles of lipid rafts. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 18, 361–374 (2017).
- Wang, T.-Y. & Silvius, J. R. Sphingolipid partitioning into ordered domains in cholesterol-free and cholesterol-containing lipid bilayers. *Biophys. J.* 84, 367–78 (2003).

- 393. Sodt, A. J., Pastor, R. W. & Lyman, E. Hexagonal Substructure and Hydrogen Bonding in Liquid-Ordered Phases Containing Palmitoyl Sphingomyelin. *Biophys. J.* 109, 948–55 (2015).
- 394. Ramstedt, B. & Slotte, J. P. Interaction of cholesterol with sphingomyelins and acyl-chain-matched phosphatidylcholines: a comparative study of the effect of the chain length. *Biophys. J.* **76**, 908–15 (1999).
- 395. Feigenson, G. W. & Buboltz, J. T. Ternary phase diagram of dipalmitoyl-PC/dilauroyl-PC/cholesterol: nanoscopic domain formation driven by cholesterol. *Biophys. J.* 80, 2775–88 (2001).
- 396. Lozano, M. M. et al. Colocalization of the ganglioside G(M1) and cholesterol detected by secondary ion mass spectrometry. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135, 5620–30 (2013).
- 397. Harder, T., Scheiffele, P., Verkade, P. & Simons, K. Lipid domain structure of the plasma membrane revealed by patching of membrane components. J. Cell Biol. 141, 929–42 (1998).
- Levental, I., Grzybek, M. & Simons, K. Greasing Their Way: Lipid Modifications Determine Protein Association with Membrane Rafts. *Biochemistry* 49, 6305–6316 (2010).
- 399. Kamiguchi, H. The region-specific activities of lipid rafts during axon growth and guidance. *J. Neurochem* **98,** 330–335 (2006).
- 400. Grider, M. H., Park, D., Spencer, D. M. & Shine, H. D. Lipid rafttargeted Akt promotes axonal branching and growth cone expansion via mTOR and Rac1, respectively. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 3033–3042 (2009).
- 401. Munderloh, C. *et al.* Reggies/Flotillins Regulate Retinal Axon Regeneration in the Zebrafish Optic Nerve and Differentiation of Hippocampal and N2a Neurons. J. Neurosci. 29, 6607–6615 (2009).

- 402. Willmann, R. *et al.* Cholesterol and lipid microdomains stabilize the postsynapse at the neuromuscular junction. *EMBO J.* **25**, 4050–60 (2006).
- 403. Fantini, J., Garmy, N., Mahfoud, R. & Yahi, N. Lipid rafts: structure, function and role in HIV, Alzheimer's and prion diseases. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 4, 1–22 (2002).
- 404. Vieira, F. S., Corrêa, G., Einicker-Lamas, M. & Coutinho-Silva, R. Host-cell lipid rafts: a safe door for micro-organisms? *Biol. Cell* 102, 391–407 (2010).
- 405. Ryan, J. M., Rice, G. E. & Mitchell, M. D. The role of gangliosides in brain development and the potential benefits of perinatal supplementation. *Nutr. Res.* 33, 877–887 (2013).
- 406. Schnaar, R. L. Gangliosides of the Vertebrate Nervous System. Journal of Molecular Biology **428**, 3325–3336 (2016).
- 407. van Echten-Deckert, G. & Herget, T. Sphingolipid metabolism in neural cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1758**, 1978–94 (2006).
- 408. Kolter, T. & Sandhoff, K. Lysosomal degradation of membrane lipids. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 1700–12 (2010).
- 409. Prinetti, A. et al. Changes in the Lipid Turnover, Composition, and Organization, as Sphingolipid-enriched Membrane Domains, in Rat Cerebellar Granule Cells Developing in Vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 21136–21145 (2001).
- 410. Ando, S. Gangliosides in the nervous system. Neurochem. Int. 5, 507–537 (1983).
- Skaper, S. D., Leon, A. & Toffano, G. Ganglioside function in the development and repair of the nervous system - From basic science to clinical application. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 3, 173–199 (1989).

- Prokazova, N. V., Samovilova, N. N., Gracheva, E. V. & Golovanova, N. K. Ganglioside GM3 and its biological functions. *Biochem.* 74, 235–249 (2009).
- 413. Kolter, T., Proia, R. L. & Sandhoff, K. Combinatorial ganglioside biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 25859–62 (2002).
- Yu, R. K., Nakatani, Y. & Yanagisawa, M. The role of glycosphingolipid metabolism in the developing brain. J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl, S440-5 (2009).
- 415. Schuette, C. G., Pierstorff, B., Huettler, S. & Sandhoff, K. Sphingolipid activator proteins: proteins with complex functions in lipid degradation and skin biogenesis. *Glycobiology* **11**, 81R–90R (2001).
- 416. Takamiya, K. *et al.* Mice with disrupted GM2/GD2 synthase gene lack complex gangliosides but exhibit only subtle defects in their nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93,** 10662–7 (1996).
- 417. Chiavegatto, S., Sun, J., Nelson, R. J. & Schnaar, R. L. A functional role for complex gangliosides: motor deficits in GM2/GD2 synthase knockout mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 166, 227–34 (2000).
- Sheikh, K. A. *et al.* Mice lacking complex gangliosides develop Wallerian degeneration and myelination defects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 96, 7532–7 (1999).
- 419. Okada, M. *et al.* b-series Ganglioside deficiency exhibits no definite changes in the neurogenesis and the sensitivity to Fas-mediated apoptosis but impairs regeneration of the lesioned hypoglossal nerve. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 1633–6 (2002).
- 420. Yamashita, T. *et al.* Enhanced insulin sensitivity in mice lacking ganglioside GM3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **100,** 3445–9 (2003).

- 421. Yamashita, T. *et al.* Interruption of ganglioside synthesis produces central nervous system degeneration and altered axon-glial interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 2725–30 (2005).
- 422. Okada, S. & O'Brien, J. S. Generalized gangliosidosis: betagalactosidase deficiency. *Science* **160**, 1002–4 (1968).
- Hoffman, L. M., Amsterdam, D. & Schneck, L. GM2 ganglioside in fetal Tay-Sachs disease brain cultures: a model system for the disease. *Brain Res.* 111, 109–17 (1976).
- 424. Ledeen, R. W. & Wu, G. The multi-tasked life of GM1 ganglioside, a true factotum of nature. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **40**, 407–418 (2015).
- 425. Aureli, M. et al. GM1 Ganglioside: Past Studies and Future Potential. Molecular Neurobiology 53, 1824–1842 (2016).
- 426. Hurd, C. D. The acidities of ascorbic and sialic acids. J. Chem. Educ.47, 481 (1970).
- 427. Monti, E. & Miyagi, T. in *Topics in current chemistry* **366**, 183–208 (2012).
- 428. Ledeen, R. W. Ganglioside structures and distribution: are they localized at the nerve ending? *J. Supramol. Struct.* **8**, 1–17 (1978).
- 429. Wu, G., Lu, Z. H. & Ledeen, R. W. GM1 ganglioside in the nuclear membrane modulates nuclear calcium homeostasis during neurite outgrowth. J. Neurochem. 65, 1419–22 (1995).
- 430. Sano, R. *et al.* GM1-Ganglioside Accumulation at the Mitochondria-Associated ER Membranes Links ER Stress to Ca2+-Dependent Mitochondrial Apoptosis. *Mol. Cell* 36, 500–511 (2009).
- Yuyama, K. & Yanagisawa, K. Late endocytic dysfunction as a putative cause of amyloid fibril formation in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 109, 1250–1260 (2009).

- 432. Kotani, N. et al. Analysis of lipid raft molecules in the living brain slices. Neurochem. Int. (2017). doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2017.08.012
- Ledeen, R. W., Wu, G., Lu, Z. H., Kozireski-Chuback, D. & Fang, Y. The role of GM1 and other gangliosides in neuronal differentiation. Overview and new finding. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 845, 161–75 (1998).
- 434. Schnaar, R. L., Gerardy-Schahn, R. & Hildebrandt, H. Sialic acids in the brain: gangliosides and polysialic acid in nervous system development, stability, disease, and regeneration. *Physiol. Rev.* 94, 461–518 (2014).
- 435. Purpura, D. P. & Baker, H. J. Meganeurites and other aberrant processes of neurons in feline GM1-gangliosidosis: a Golgi study. *Brain Res.* 143, 13–26 (1978).
- 436. Facci, L. *et al.* Promotion of neuritogenesis in mouse neuroblastoma cells by exogenous gangliosides. Relationship between the effect and the cell association of ganglioside GM1. *J. Neurochem.* 42, 299–305 (1984).
- 437. Skaper, S. D., Katoh-Semba, R. & Varon, S. GM1 ganglioside accelerates neurite outgrowth from primary peripheral and central neurons under selected culture conditions. *Brain Res.* 355, 19–26 (1985).
- Susuki, K. *et al.* Gangliosides contribute to stability of paranodal junctions and ion channel clusters in myelinated nerve fibers. *Glia* 55, 746–757 (2007).
- 439. Wu, G., Xie, X., Lu, Z.-H. & Ledeen, R. W. Sodium-calcium exchanger complexed with GM1 ganglioside in nuclear membrane transfers calcium from nucleoplasm to endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 106, 10829–10834 (2009).

- Wu, G., Lu, Z.-H., Obukhov, A. G., Nowycky, M. C. & Ledeen, R.
 W. Induction of Calcium Influx through TRPC5 Channels by Cross-Linking of GM1 Ganglioside Associated with 51 Integrin Initiates Neurite Outgrowth. J. Neurosci. 27, 7447–7458 (2007).
- 441. Ginzburg, L., Li, S.-C., Li, Y.-T. & Futerman, A. H. An exposed carboxyl group on sialic acid is essential for gangliosides to inhibit calcium uptake via the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ -ATPase: relevance to gangliosidoses. J. Neurochem. 0, 071115085713013–??? (2007).
- 442. Tessitore, A. *et al.* GM1-ganglioside-mediated activation of the unfolded protein response causes neuronal death in a neurodegenerative gangliosidosis. *Mol. Cell* **15**, 753–766 (2004).
- 443. Duchemin, A.-M., Ren, Q., Neff, N. H. & Hadjiconstantinou, M. GM1-induced activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase: involvement of Trk receptors. J. Neurochem. 104, 1466–1477 (2008).
- 444. Mo, L., Ren, Q., Duchemin, A.-M., Neff, N. H. & Hadjiconstantinou, M. GM1 and ERK signaling in the aged brain. *Brain Res.* 1054, 125–34 (2005).
- 445. Duchemin, A.-M., Ren, Q., Mo, L., Neff, N. H. & Hadjiconstantinou, M. GM1 ganglioside induces phosphorylation and activation of Trk and Erk in brain. J. Neurochem. 81, 696–707 (2002).
- 446. Mutoh, T., Tokuda, A., Miyadai, T., Hamaguchi, M. & Fujiki, N. Ganglioside GM1 binds to the Trk protein and regulates receptor function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92, 5087–91 (1995).
- 447. Suzuki, S. *et al.* BDNF-induced recruitment of TrkB receptor into neuronal lipid rafts: roles in synaptic modulation. *J. Cell Biol.* 167, 1205–15 (2004).

- Rabin, S. J., Bachis, A. & Mocchetti, I. Gangliosides Activate Trk Receptors by Inducing the Release of Neurotrophins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 49466–49472 (2002).
- 449. Mutoh, T. et al. Stable transfection of GM1 synthase gene into GM1deficient NG108-15 cells, CR-72 cells, rescues the responsiveness of Trk-neurotrophin receptor to its ligand, NGF. Neurochem. Res. 27, 801-6 (2002).
- 450. Hadaczek, P. *et al.* GDNF signaling implemented by GM1 ganglioside; failure in Parkinson's disease and GM1-deficient murine model. *Exp. Neurol.* **263**, 177–89 (2015).
- 451. Wu, G., Lu, Z.-H., Kulkarni, N. & Ledeen, R. W. Deficiency of ganglioside GM1 correlates with Parkinson's disease in mice and humans. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **90**, 1997–2008 (2012).
- 452. Wu, G., Lu, Z.-H., Kulkarni, N., Amin, R. & Ledeen, R. W. Mice lacking major brain gangliosides develop parkinsonism. *Neurochem. Res.* 36, 1706–14 (2011).
- 453. Schneider, J. S., Kean, A. & DiStefano, L. GM1 ganglioside rescues substantia nigra pars compacta neurons and increases dopamine synthesis in residual nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons in MPTPtreated mice. J. Neurosci. Res. 42, 117–23 (1995).
- 454. Hadjiconstantinou, M., Mariani, A. P. & Neff, N. H. GM1 ganglioside-induced recovery of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons after MPTP: an immunohistochemical study. *Brain Res.* 484, 297–303 (1989).
- 455. Schneider, J. S. *et al.* Recovery from experimental parkinsonism in primates with GM1 ganglioside treatment. *Science* **256**, 843–6 (1992).
- 456. Yanagisawa, K., Odaka, A., Suzuki, N. & Ihara, Y. GM1 gangliosidebound amyloid beta-protein (A beta): a possible form of preamyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Med.* 1, 1062–6 (1995).

- 457. Choo-Smith, L. P. I. & Surewicz, W. K. The interaction between Alzheimer amyloid β(1-40) peptide and ganglioside G(M1)-containing membranes. *FEBS Lett.* **402**, 95–98 (1997).
- 458. Ariga, T., McDonald, M. P. & Yu, R. K. Role of ganglioside metabolism in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease--a review. J. Lipid Res. 49, 1157-75 (2008).
- Ariga, T. *et al.* Characterization of high-affinity binding between gangliosides and amyloid beta-protein. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 388, 225–30 (2001).
- 460. Zha, Q., Ruan, Y., Hartmann, T., Beyreuther, K. & Zhang, D. GM1 ganglioside regulates the proteolysis of amyloid precursor protein. *Mol. Psychiatry* 9, 946–52 (2004).
- Zhang, H. *et al.* Ganglioside GM1 binding the N-terminus of amyloid precursor protein. *Neurobiol. Aging* **30**, 1245–53 (2009).
- 462. Blennow, K. *et al.* Differences in cerebrospinal fluid gangliosides between "probable Alzheimer's disease" and normal aging. *Aging (Milano).* 4, 301–6 (1992).
- 463. Suzuki, T. *et al.* Association of membrane rafts and postsynaptic density: proteomics, biochemical, and ultrastructural analyses. *J. Neurochem.* **119**, 64–77 (2011).
- 464. Hering, H., Lin, C.-C. & Sheng, M. Lipid rafts in the maintenance of synapses, dendritic spines, and surface AMPA receptor stability. J. Neurosci. 23, 3262–71 (2003).
- 465. Wheeler, D. *et al.* TNFα-induced neutral sphingomyelinase-2 modulates synaptic plasticity by controlling the membrane insertion of NMDA receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **109**, 1237–1249 (2009).
- 466. Prendergast, J. et al. Ganglioside Regulation of AMPA Receptor Trafficking. J. Neurosci. 34, 13246–13258 (2014).

- 467. Frank, C., Giammarioli, A. M., Pepponi, R., Fiorentini, C. & Rufini, S. Cholesterol perturbing agents inhibit NMDA-dependent calcium influx in rat hippocampal primary culture. *FEBS Lett.* 566, 25–29 (2004).
- 468. Patel, D. S. *et al.* Influence of Ganglioside GM1 Concentration on Lipid Clustering and Membrane Properties and Curvature. *Biophys. J.* 111, 1987–1999 (2016).
- 469. 2015 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures Includes a Special Report on Disclosing a Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease.
- 470. Lü Scher, C. & Malenka, R. C. NMDA Receptor-Dependent Long-Term Potentiation and Long-Term Depression (LTP/LTD). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a005710
- 471. Kracun, I. *et al.* Human brain gangliosides in development, aging and diseases. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* **35**, 289–295 (1991).
- 472. Sasaki, N., Itakura, Y. & Toyoda, M. Ganglioside GM1 contributes to the state of insulin resistance in senescent human arterial endothelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 25475–25486 (2015).
- 473. Ohsawa, T. Changes of mouse brain gangliosides during aging from young adult until senescence. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **50**, 169–177 (1989).
- 474. Frippiat, C. *et al.* Subcytotoxic H2O2 Stress Triggers a Release of Transforming Growth Factor-β1, Which Induces Biomarkers of Cellular Senescence of Human Diploid Fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 2531–2537 (2001).
- 475. Magini, A. *et al.* Abnormal cortical lysosomal β-hexosaminidase and β-galactosidase activity at post-synaptic sites during Alzheimer's disease progression. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 58, 62–70 (2015).

- 476. Dong, W. et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in long-term neuronal cultures mimics changes with aging. Med. Sci. Monit. 17, BR91-6 (2011).
- 477. Mendis, L. H. S., Grey, A. C., Faull, R. L. M. & Curtis, M. A. Hippocampal lipid differences in Alzheimer's disease: a human brain study using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-imaging mass spectrometry. *Brain Behav.* **6**, e00517 (2016).
- 478. Hirano-Sakamaki, W. *et al.* Alzheimer's disease is associated with disordered localization of ganglioside GM1 molecular species in the human dentate gyrus. *FEBS Lett.* **589**, 3611–3616 (2015).
- 479. Valdes-Gonzalez, T. *et al.* New approach for glyco- and lipidomics -Molecular scanning of human brain gangliosides by TLC-Blot and MALDI-QIT-TOF MS. J. Neurochem. **116**, 678–683 (2011).
- Niemantsverdriet, E., Valckx, S., Bjerke, M. & Engelborghs, S. Alzheimer's disease CSF biomarkers: clinical indications and rational use. *Acta Neurol. Belg.* 117, 591–602 (2017).
- 481. Blennow, K. *et al.* Gangliosides in cerebrospinal fluid in 'probable Alzheimer's disease'. *Arch Neurol* **48**, 1032–1035 (1991).
- 482. Saqr, H. E., Pearl, D. K. & Yates, A. J. A review and predictive models of ganglioside uptake by biological membranes. *J. Neurochem.* 61, 395–411 (1993).
- Simons, M. *et al.* Exogenous administration of gangliosides displaces GPI-anchored proteins from lipid microdomains in living cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10, 3187–96 (1999).
- 484. Leskawa, K. C., Erwin, R. E., Leon, A., Toffano, G. & Hogan, E. L. Incorporation of exogenous ganglioside GM1 into neuroblastoma membranes: Inhibition by calcium ion and dependence upon membrane protein. *Neurochem. Res.* 14, 547–554 (1989).

- 485. Sodero, A. O. *et al.* Regulation of tyrosine kinase B activity by the Cyp46/cholesterol loss pathway in mature hippocampal neurons: relevance for neuronal survival under stress and in aging. *J. Neurochem.* **116**, 747–55 (2011).
- 486. Barnes, C. A., Rao, G. & Shen, J. Age-related decrease in the Nmethyl-D-aspartate(R)-mediated excitatory postsynaptic potential in hippocampal region CA1. *Neurobiol. Aging* 18, 445–452 (1997).
- 487. Billard, J.-M. & Rouaud, E. Deficit of NMDA receptor activation in CA1 hippocampal area of aged rats is rescued by d-cycloserine. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 2260–2268 (2007).
- 488. Kumar, A. NMDA receptor function during senescence: Implication on cognitive performance. *Front. Neurosci.* **9**, 1–15 (2015).
- 489. Zhao, X. *et al.* The effects of aging on N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor subunits in the synaptic membrane and relationships to long-term spatial memory. *Neuroscience* **162**, 933–945 (2009).
- 490. Massey, P. V. *et al.* Differential Roles of NR2A and NR2B-Containing NMDA Receptors in Cortical Long-Term Potentiation and Long-Term Depression. J. Neurosci. 24, 7821–7828 (2004).
- 491. Brewer, L. D. *et al.* Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons with age in culture: Temporal association with increases in NMDA receptor current, NR2A subunit expression and recruitment of Ltype calcium channels. *Brain Res.* 1151, 20–31 (2007).
- 492. Relkin, N. Results of the GAP 160701 study: A phase 3 clinical trial of intravenous immunoglobulin for mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **9**, 530 (2013).
- 493. Gaskin, F., Finley, J., Fang, Q., Xu, S. & Fu, S. M. Human antibodies reactive with beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Exp. Med.* 177, 1181–6 (1993).

- 494. Szabo, P. et al. Measurement of anti-beta amyloid antibodies in human blood. J. Neuroimmunol. 227, 167–174 (2010).
- 495. O'Nuallain, B. *et al.* Anti-amyloidogenic Activity of IgGs Contained in Normal Plasma. J. Clin. Immunol. 30, 37–42 (2010).
- 496. Kaveri, S. V. Intravenous immunoglobulin: Exploiting the potential of natural antibodies. *Autoimmun. Rev.* **11**, 792–794 (2012).
- 497. Salloway, S. *et al.* Two phase 3 trials of bapineuzumab in mild-tomoderate Alzheimer's disease. N. *Engl. J. Med.* **370**, 322–333 (2014).
- Pfeifer, M. *et al.* Cerebral Hemorrhage After Passive Anti-Aβ Immunotherapy. *Science (80-.).* 298, 10962 (2002).
- 499. Check, E. Nerve inflammation halts trial for Alzheimer's drug. *Nature*415, 462 (2002).
- 500. Schenk, D. B. & Yednock, T. The role of microglia in Alzheimer's disease: friend or foe ? *Neurobiol. Aging* 23, 677–679 (2002).
- Das, P. *et al.* Amyloid-beta immunization effectively reduces amyloid deposition in FcRgamma-/- knock-out mice. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 8532– 9538 (2003).
- 502. Tamura, Y. et al. The F(ab)'2 fragment of an Abeta-specific monoclonal antibody reduces Abeta deposits in the brain. Neurobiol. Dis. 20, 541–549 (2005).
- 503. Wilcock, D. M. Deglycosylated Anti-Amyloid-beta Antibodies Eliminate Cognitive Deficits and Reduce Parenchymal Amyloid with Minimal Vascular Consequences in Aged Amyloid Precursor Protein Transgenic Mice. J. Neurosci. 26, 5340–5346 (2006).